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a leadership [S"o§ition

Catalina Marketing Corporétion {(CMC) is the global leader
in behavior-based marketing across multiple industries. CMC
undérstands consumer habits and behaviors so we can ultimately
provide them choices that are relevant to their lives. Our
strategy is to communicate with consumers whenever and

wherever they shop.

Through our pioneering and exclusive technology, we reach
the right consumer at the right time with the right message where

consumer packaged goods and healthcare products are sold.

CMC captures consumer purchase behavior from more than

35,900 domestic and international stores. This insight allows
us to create smart marketing solutions that drive volume, increase trips and build equity. Our dynamic media

properties result in over 300 million transactions worldwide each week.

a blueprint for success

Simply Smart Marketing”™ is CMC’s formula for success. We deliver precisely what consumers want by
combining our three strategic assets: retail channel partners, manufacturer sponsors and proprietary solutions.
This powerful combination yields superior marketing results with coupon redemption rates six to ten times

higher on average than traditional media.
Simply Smart Marketing™ means:

» saving consumers time, money and frustration by delivering communications for products and services that are

relevant to their lives;

» giving recailers greater returns on their marketing investments by motivating repeat visits, increasing order size,

building loyalty, and generating trial of new products and services; and

b leveraging relevant and targeted marketing information directly to the individual consumer on behalf

of manufacturers.

a focused approach

As a result of this unique combination of insight and access, CMC offers our clients a wide range of
Y - marketing services with innovative applications and programs. To better focus on our clients’ specific
= J marketing objectives, CMC has three divisions:

Catalina Marketing Services—enhances the art of marketing for consumer goods industries

with a combination of scientific and behavior-based measurements that vield exceptional results.

Catalina Health Resource—is the leading provider of customized, meaningful health information

& ha helps patients make better decisions about their healthcare needs while preserving their privacy.

a

Catalina Marketing International—leverages international market knowledge with proven techno-

logical capabilities designed to increase customer loyalty, sales volume and brand equity across the world.




financial nighlights

& 20, A

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003, “e“" ’,26&2“’ 2001
Revenues—GAAP $410,062  §408,632 $383,84§\;$56/7,861 $339,977

CHR adjustment® — (11,558) 1,668 © 6,606 3,200
Revenues—pro forma $410,062  $397,074  $385,517 $374,467 $343,177
Operating income—GAAP $108,802 $ 98,132 § 86,133 § 99,005 $ 85,966

CHR adjustment®” — (11,558) 1,668 6,606 3,200
Operating income—pro forma $108,802 § 86,574 § 87,801 $105,611 § 89,166
Income from continuing operations—GAAP $ 68,596 § 60,397 § 51,564 § 66,645 § 55,642

CHR adjustment!” — (6,877) 1,055 4,273 1,910
Income from continuing operations—pro forma $ 68,596 $ 53,520 § 52,619 § 70,918 § 57,352
Net income (loss)—GAAP $ 65,452  $(19,273) § 55,098 § 58,550 $ 47,160

CHR adjustment® —_ (6,877) 1,053 4,273 1,910
Net income—pro forma $ 65,452  $(26,150) §$ 56,153 § 62,823 § 49,070
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations—GAAP®?  § 131§ 115 § 094 § 1.17 8§ 0096

CHR adjustment®™ — (0.13) 0.02 0.07 0.03
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations—

pro forma $ 131 % 1.02 § 096 § 124 § 059
Weighted average outstanding shares—diluted 52,356 52,324 54,885 57,104 57,919
Balance sheet and other data:

Cash and cash equivalents $116,191 § 72,704 $ 1,715 §$ 13,656 §& 3,373

Total assets $392,738  $386,809  $422,421  $415,902  $396,424

Total debt $ 64,623 § 66,924 § 68,223 § 60,880 $ 83,545

Total stockholders’ equity $196,374 $184.662  $215,995 $223,263 §183,045

Cash flows from operations $117,991 $138,133  $118,503 $118,249 § 91,247

Capital expenditures $ 22,527  § 26,427 % 42,555 $ 30,813 § 54,540

Cash dividend declared per common share § 030 % — S — — -

revenues” income from continuing operations® cash flows before financing
(in millions) (in millions) (in nillions)
$68.6 .
sag55  $397.1 $410.1 $88.4 $100.4
$52.6 $53.5
—
$46.9
FY '03 FY '04 FY '05 FY '03 FY '04 FY ‘05 FY '03 FY '04 FY 05

(1) The non-GAAP pro forma revenue and net income results arc a supplement to the financial data that is based on generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The non-GAAP
pro forma results reflect adjustments to exclude non-recurring revenue resulting from the one-time deferral of CHR revenues in prior periods (and the related tax effect) resulting
from revenue recognition adjustments in such prior years. The company believes this presentation provides uscful information to investors because it assists investors in berter
understanding the company’s operations for comparabilicy with recurring results for the future. it should be emphasized. however, that these measurements are not a substitution

for GAAP-based financial statements.

(2) As of April 1. 2001, goodwill is no Jonger amortized: instead it is subject to impairment testing on at least an annual basis. In fiscal year 2001, goodwill amortization expense

reduced diluted earnings per common share by $0.07.
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dear shareholders,

clients and employees,

Fiscal year 2005 marked a year of dramatic change for
Catalina Marketing Corporation. Only one year after the
company was strategically repositioned to perform as a
stronger and more focused organization, I am pleased to
report that we closed the 2005 fiscal year with significant
financial successes, a renewed focus on strategic initiatives
to grow the business near and long term, and a strength-

ened organization and management team.

On the financial front, Catalina declared an annual
dividend to shareholders for the first time in the history
of the company. Additionally, improvements in earnings
per share, on a pro forma basis, grew from $1.02 per
share to $1.31 this year, representing a 28% increase
and a remarkable achievement. Lastly, the company was
aggressive in share repurchase, reflecting the confidence

we have in the strength of Catalina Marketing.

Strategic initiatives focused on growing the business
over the past vear included developing new products and
advertising applications, capitalizing on opportunities
within existing channels, creating new data mining
solutions, and expanding into new domestic markets and

international geographies.

Within our organization, we have strengthened our lead-
ership capabilities by adding key members to our man-
agement team. Bringing complementary strengths and
skills, Rick Frier joined in March 2005 and assumed the
role of Chief Financial Officer in June 2005, and Ed
Kuehnle joined in January 2005 as President of Catalina

Marketing Services.
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A Simply Smart Marketing™ Formula

Catalina Marketing uniquely understands consumers and
their purchasing behaviors. As we execute our Simply
Smart Marketing™ strategy, our goal will continue to be
to reach the right customers at the right time with the right
nessage—whenever and wherever consumer packaged
goods and healthcare products are sold. This competitive
advantage will ensure that we advance our position as a
global leader in behavior-based marketing solutions. We
will continue our focus on delivering precisely what con-
sumers want by combining our strategic assets: key retail
channel partners, a syndicated network of retail outlets

and manufacturer sponsors, and proprietary solutions.

Following is information that further outlines Catalina
Marketing’s successes during the past fiscal vear, addresses
past, as well as anticipated challenges, and provides
insight into our vision and roadmap for taking Catalina
Marketing to new heights during the coming fiscal year

and well bevond.

Building Blocks for Future Returns

Effective fiduciary and corporate controls were integral
themes over the course of fiscal year 2005, and we took
that stewardship seriously. Focusing on the future, we
identified three key priorities to drive near- and long-
term profitable growth: developing new and innovative
solutions that create value for clients; controlling costs;

and continuing to invest in people.




Developing Innovative Solutions

A crucial component to building a stronger organization
that offers unmatched value for its clients is new and
innovative solutions. During 2005, Catalina Marketing
Services (CMS) introduced a proven product: Catalina
Category Marketing™ (CCM). CCM touches all customer
segments by driving volume for manufacturers, increasing
loyalty to retailers, and providing high value to the con-
sumer. A leading independent research firm has validated
CCM’s effectiveness in significantly increasing return
trips, dollars spent per visit, order size, and revenues

for retailers.

In 2005, Catalina Marketing made financial and human
resource commitments for new business development. We
will continue to invest money and apply the best available
technology for the creation of new services, channel
expansion, and development of new and improved com-
munication vehicles. An evolving innovation destined to

revolutionize the effectiveness and impact of our targeted

‘. we closed the 2005 fiscal year with
significant financial successes, a renewed
focus on strategic initiatives 1o grow

the business near and long term,

and a strengthened organization and
management team.”

consumer communications is state-of-the-art, full graphics
capable, color printers. As a communications medium,
this new capability will dramatically improve the consumer
experience through enhanced logos, impactful brand

identities and product appeal.

Controlling Costs

Controlling costs remains a fundamental focus embedded
in our culture. Given our initial outlook and perceived
challenges, significant successes have been accomplished
and the company’s overall efficient and effective manage-
ment of the business cost structure is strong and continues
to improve. Direct operating expenses decreased and
headcount and related costs were closely managed during
2005. The actual and planned investments we are now
making are essential for achieving our strategic objectives
and are expected to favorably impact the development

of new solutions, program research development, system

upgrades, as well as necessary infrastructure enhancements.
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“Focusing on the future, we identified three key priorities to drive near- and long-term
orofitable growth: developing new and innovative solutions that create value for
clients; controlling costs; and continuing to invest in people.”

Investing in Peaple based upon their purchase behavior, as well as our control
Catalina Marketing remains focused on one of its most* of the content and sequence of brand messages, allows
important key assets—our employees. In support of our manufacturers to build brand relevance by highlighting
focus to recruit the highest caliber of talent while also the most important attributes based on a consumer’s
promoting and retaining internal high performers, a individualized needs. CMS faced a significant revenue
competitive market compensation and benefits analysis challenge in 2005 with the loss of a large manufacturer
was conducted during the past year. As a result, a more client and the sale of the loyalty card business at the end
efficient and competitive total rewards compensation of fiscal 2004. Despite these challenges, and as a testament
program will be introduced during the upcoming vear, to the strength of the Catalina Marketing Network®,
further solidifying our position as an employer of choice. last year we renewed more than one-third of our base
Additionally, in support of strengthening our employees’ retail network contracts with three- and five-year contracts.
skills and enhancing their professional development, a In addition, through our aggressive merchandising efforts,
Web-based learning program was developed and is now CMS’ new product, Catalina Category Marketing®™ (CCM)
being implemented. was a key success in 2005. We will continue to focus on

retail contract renewals, new services and innovations
A Strategic Decision to Focus on e Busine . .
g ¢ o us Core Business in CMS in fiscal year 2006 and beyond.

Early in the fiscal year, Catalina Marketing management
Catalina Health Resource (CHR)

The performance of CHR in fiscal year 2005 reflected

made a decision to refocus its strategy on three core
businesses: Catalina Marketing Services (CMS), Catalina
Health Resource (CHR)), and Catalina Marketing Inter-

national (CMI). As a result, we divested the card and

the impact of restructuring and exceptional sales and
profit growth, the best in CHR’s eleven-year history, with
$76 million, or 15% growth in revenues on a pro forma

data-entry businesses, the Japan billboard business, Direct

. . . .. basis. Three areas of focus led to this division’s turnaround
Marketing Services, and Research Solutions. Positioned

. . L and outstanding success: increased pharmaceutical
to play a key role in Catalina Marketing’s future, the three & p

. . . account penetration, renewal of key retailer contracts,
business units outlined below now represent our core

and rebranding of the division’s core product from the
Health Resource® Newsletter to PATIENTLink™ CHR also

introduced new communications solutions, including

business structure.

Catalina Marketing Services (CMS)

Catalina Marketing Services (CMS) is the foundation of our expanded data applications that enable clients to more

3 . '1' .
g i n . . . .
company. CMS” unique ability to understand the consumer precisely target and communicate with patients based
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upon specific prescription histories, while maintaining

patient privacy through CHR’s proprietary technology.

Catalina Marketing International (CMI)

A growing contributor to the corporation, CMI delivered
outstanding growth in both revenues and operating income
for the fiscal year. Revenues of $64 million were up 29%
over the prior period with favorable currency exchange rates
playing a contributing role. The UK successfully completed
its roll-out with one of the country’s leading retailers. In
France, we continue to develop our retailer-centric model
from which our other global businesses are deriving
benefit. Catalina Marketing Japan’s turnaround during
the fiscal vear, as a result of restructuring its operations
and securing its largest manufacturer contract ever, was

an important development contributing to CMI’s results.
In Germany, another key retail pilot was signed and as a
result, plans are underway to support the roll-out of several
retailers. CMI experienced progress this past year in Italy
with retail pilots and strong manufacturer contract support
and continues to build revenue momentum in this market.

Looking forward, CMI plans include developing new

business in existing countries and expanding to new markets.

A Vision for Profitable Growth

The future and continued success of Catalina Marketing

Corporation rests on three pillars that are the foundation

for our planned strategic growth:

» Defending and extending our core business through
innovative new solutions and enhancements to further

solidify our dominant industry position;

» Developing new channels, customers, and geographies
including adjacent channels and roll-outs in select

international markets; and

» Extending our portfolio of networks to new consumer
markets by leveraging our unique value proposition and

industry leadership position.

The leadership of Catalina Marketing has a clear vision of
where this organization is headed and we see the evolu-
tion of Catalina Marketing into a broadened business
model offering comprehensive customer communication
opportunities for manufacturers, retailers, and consumers.
We envision that the foundation for our future growth
will come from new solutions, related channels and new

retail networks.

Catalina Marketing Corporation stands stronger finan-
cially, strategically, and organizationally. After a year
marked with successful progress in our core competencies
and on our strategic priorities, | am enthusiastic about our
future and appreciative of the support of our shareholders,

clients and employees around the world.

L. Dick Buell
Chief Executive Officer

catatina marketing (5)



catalina marketing services

Catalina Marketing Services (CMS) enhances the art of
marketing for consumer goods industries with a combi-
nation of scientific and behavior-based measurements

that yield exceptional results.

CMS captures transactional and historical consumer
purchase data, creates programs that generate growth
and profitability, and communicates multiple marketing

messages via a single medium.

CMS drives volume and increases trips and order sizes for
retailers. We provide U.S. retailers with more than $3.4
billion in manufacturer incentives. Powered by one of
the world’s largest databases, CMS provides retailers with
robust data management, analytics, and customer loyalty

program design found nowhere else.

Retail products and services include:

» Catalina Category Marketing™ (CCM)
CCM is a behavior-based marketing program that
drives more efficient volume for the manufacturer,
promotes loyalty to the retailer and provides high
value to the consumer. The four-week window for
a CCM program provides a focal point for trade

merchandising collaboration between

manufacturer and retailer.

» Checkout Prizes
Checkout Prizes creates in-store
excitement by offering sweepstakes

opportunities to customers.

» In-Store Prints
The Catalina Marketing Network®

printer is used by retailers to reach and
incite their current customers to support
chain-wide or store-specific initiatives,
category or department builders, reward

programs, and targeted shopping lists.

(6) catalina marketing

» Loyalty Quotient®

This one-ot-a-kind strategic service from CMS
combines total household grocery expenditures with
a retailer’s proprietary purchase data to calculate a
true measure of an individual household’s loyalty to

that retailer.

» Rebate Max
This program simplifies customer participation in
multiple rebate offers while lowering costs and

improving efficiency for retailers.

For manufacturers, CMS gives targeted access to millions
of U.S. consumers each week. Through our network of
over 17,500 retail locations, we retrieve, analyze, and
respond to the latest consumer shopping patterns. Because
of this insight, our coupon redemption rate is, on average,

SIX to ten times more effective than traditional media.




catalina marketing services

revenues (i millions) net income (in millions)
$291.5
$2821 5606 $758  g27  $739
— - —
FY '03 FY ‘04l FY'05L_ FY 03 Fy'o4l_) FY'05L

division facts

» Accesses over 218 million consumer communications each week in the U.S.
» Delivers over 3.2 billion promotional messages each year

» Manages one of the largest real-time transactional databases in the world

» Captures up 1o 104 weeks of historical purchase data for over 100 million household 1Ds

Catalina Category Marketing, Rebate Max and Checkout » Checkout Direct®
Prizes are available to both manufacturers and retailers. Checkout Direct allows consumer packaged goods
Additional manufacturer products and services include: manufacturers to target specific households based on
» Checkout Coupon® 104 weeks of past purchase behavior.
Checkout Coupon was the first service to combine » New Product Response System (NPRS)
the effectiveness of behavior-based targeting with the NPRS delivers behavioral and attitudinal data to
efficiency of mass marketing. Today it remains the optimize new product launches.

industry standard, allowing ‘COHSUI].lC[‘ Packa‘ged g(‘)ods > Pay for Performance® (PEP)
manufa?t'urers © njieet multiple objéctlves, including PFP allows brand manufacturers to influence consum-
competitive targetn‘lg, pantry-loading and cross ers before they reach the point-of-sale by delivering
category programming. a promotional message integrated into the price label

at the shelf.
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catalina health resource

Catalina Health Resource (CHR) is the leading provider
of customized, meaningful health communications in
pharmacies that help patients make better decisions about
their healthcare needs while preserving their privacy.
Using CHR’s national pharmacy network, CHR reaches
the right patient at the right time with the right message over
one billion times each year. CHR promotes prescription
compliance, educates patients about their medical condi-
tions, and encourages patients to discuss therapy options

with their healthcare professionals.

CHR helps retailers-communicate with patients in
pharmacies—informing them about their treatment
options, promoting compliance and increasing overall
loyalty. Communicating via CHR’s national pharmacy
network, manufacturers can speak directly to patients—

building brand equity and promoting compliance.

CHR products and services include:

» PATIENTLink™
PATIENTLink™, a newsletter-style communication,
is delivered to patients when they fill their prescrip-
tions. It provides customized information about the

drug being dispensed, as well as health and wellness

division facts

information and relevant, beneficial pharmaceutical

communications.

Compliance Direct®

A prescription refill direct mail communication,
Compliance Direct® reminds patients of the current
status of their prescription schedules and advises them
of other health and wellness resources available to

them from the retailer.

PharmAware®

PharmAware® delivers educational messages about
pharmaceutical products directly to pharmacists and
their staff. Delivered via the in-store pharmacy printer,
the messages include announcements of new drugs,
new indications, emergency information, and con-

tinuing education credit opportunities.

Brand Awareness CounterMat®
The Brand Awareness CounterMat® places brand-
specific messages directly on the pharmacy counter,

delivering several million impressions each month.

Checkout Rx®

Through Catalina Marketing’s household and trans-
actional database, Checkout Rx® provides customers
with promotional messages from drug companies

based on specific grocery purchases.

» First company fo target communications based on patient prescription behavior in the pharmacy
» PATIENTLINK™ is delivered over one billion times per year
» Over one-third of all prescriptions filled in the U.S. are delivered with PATIENTL/nk™

catalina health resource

$64.7

Y03

revenues (pro forma)”
fin millions)

net income (pro forma)” $9.4

$76.2 (i millions)
$66.2 T
|
= $0.4
f FY'03 o FY'04 = FY'05
FYos— Ao $(4.0)

*FY '03 and FY '04 exclude the CHR revenue adjustment,
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catalina marketing international

Catalina Marketing International (CMI)

leverages international market knowledge
with proven technological capabilities
designed to increase customer loyalty,
sales volume and brand equity across

the world.

Taking the very best of Catalina
Marketing’s proprietary technology

perfected in the U.S., CMI has set

services and penetrate some of the world’s
most lucrative markets in France, Germany,
Italy, Japan, and the United Kingdom. This
strategic focus in key markets continues to
move Catalina Marketing into a global

leadership position.

catalina marketing international

revenues (in millions)

$64.1
$49.6

$30.0

FY’03 FY 04 FY 05 L

out to export its behavior-based marketing

FY ‘03

As in the U.S., CMI captures consumer purchase data and
creates programs that generate growth and profitability
for our international retailers and manufacturers. CMI
also uses an extensive network of retail partners in each
country to retrieve, analyze, and respond to the latest
consumer shopping patterns particular to each culture.
Similar 1o the U.S. operations, CMI’s goal is to drive

volume and increase trips and order sizes for retailers.

With access to one of the world’s largest databases, CMI
provides European and Japanese retailers with highly
specialized data management, analytics and customer

loyaley program design.

net income (in millions)

$7.4

$0.5
FY'04c= FY'05

$(3-2)

division facts

» Communicates multiple marketing
messages via a single medium to over
66 milion consumers in five major
countries weekly

» Delivers over 850 million promaotions
in more than 5,800 stores annually

catalina marketing
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five-year history

Fy 2001 Fy 2002 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 20058
= — ——

o operating cash flow per share™
o free cash flow per share”
* diluted eps from continuing operations” $2°4©

$2.22

oy
CAER 10.7%

avear
$1.70
$1.40
1.31 4-
>
$1.02

*Pro Forma excludes discontinued operations and the CHR revenue adjustment.

$1.48

$0.99 $0.96

$0.95

$0.89

reconciliation from U.S. GAAP to pro forma

(In millions, except per share data) 2001 2002 2003 . 2004 2005
Consolidated Cash Flow:
Cash Flow from Operations—GAAP $91.2 §1182 $1185 $138.1 §118.0
Less Cash Flow from Operations—Discontinued Operations $ (7.3 $(Q213) $ 32 $ 58 § (1.6
Catalina Health Resource Revenue Adjustment* $ 19 $§ 43 §$ 11 % 69 § —
Pro Forma Cash Flow from Operations $85.8 $101.2 $116.4 $1254 $116.4
Per Share* 3148 §$ 177 § 212 § 240 § 222
Pro Forma Income from Continuing Operations* $3576 $ 709 § 526 $ 335 § 686
Add: Depreciation and Amortization, Continuing Operations $446 $ 384 $ 41.0 $ 452 § 427
Less: Capital Expenditures—Continuing Operations $350.8 $30.1) $M41.35) $0257) $(22.3)
Pro Forma Free Cash Flow* $514 $ 792 ¢ 521 % 73.0 $§ 89.0
Per Diluted Share* $08 $ 139 $ 09 $ 140 § 1.70
CHR Revenues: (In § millions) 2003 2004 2005
Non-GAAP Pro Forma* $ 647 § 662 § 762
CHR Revenue Adjustment* $ 1.7) $ 116 & —
GAAP Revenue $ 63.0 $ 778 % 762
CHR Income from Continuing Operations: 2003 2004 2005
Non-GAAP Pro Forma* $ 40 § 04 3 94
CHR Revenue Adjustment* $ 11) § 69 & —
GAAP Income from Continuing Operations $ 5.1 & 73 § 94

*The non-GAAP pro forma results are a supplement to cthe financial data chat is based on generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The non-GAAP pro forma results reflect
adjustments to exclude non-recurring revenue resulting from the one-time deterral of CHR revenues in prior periods (and the related tax effect) resulting from revenue recognition
adjustments in such prior years. The company believes this presentation provides useful information to investors because it assists investors in better understanding the company’s
operations for comparability with recurring results for the future. I should be emphasized. however, that these measurenients are not a substitution for GAAP-based financial statements.
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
(Mark One)

¥ Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005
or

U Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 1-11008

Catalina Marketing Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 33-0499007
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (LR.S. Employer Identification Number)
200 Carillon Parkway, St. Petersburg, FL 33716-2325
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(727) 579-5000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock, $0.01 par value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes 1 No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will
not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference
in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes @ No O

As of September 30, 2004, the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value
of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (based on the last sales price on that date of $23.08 as reported by the
New York Stock Exchange, Inc.) was $1,131,459,172. The number of shares of registrant’s common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, outstanding as of May 31, 2005, was 50,567,596.

Documents Incorporated by Reference: Certain portions of registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement for 2005 are
incorporated by reference in Parts II and III of this report.
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part |

Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements

9 3 G

References herein to “Catalina Marketing,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to Catalina Marketing Corporation and
its subsidiaries unless the context specifically states or implies otherwise.

Certain information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including Item 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements made in reliance upon the safe harbor

provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). These statements may be identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,”
“expect,”

estimates,” “should,”

” o« LT

guidance,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe” and other words and terms of similar meaning, in connection with
any discussion of the Company’s future business, results of operations, liquidity and operating or financial performance. Such
forward-looking statements involve significant material known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause
actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. We cannot assure you that any future results, performance or achieve-

ments will be achieved.

Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the changing market for promotional activities, especially
as it relates to policies and programs of consumer packaged goods and pharmaceutical products manufacturers, marketers and
retailers; general business and economic conditions; acquisitions and divestitures; risks associated with our growth and finances;
government and regulatory policies affecting us and our clients; potential adverse federal, state or local legislation or regulation
or adverse determinations subjecting us to additional taxes; the pricing and availability of alternative forms of advertising; our
ability to execute on our various business plans and to test, expand and install our networks in new markets; risks associated
with reliance on the performance and financial condition of manufacturers, marketers and retailers; technological developments;
changes in the competitive and regulatory environments in which we and our clients operate including, without limitation, shifts
in consumer purchase patterns and habits such as the channels through which consumers purchase certain types of products; seasonal
variations; actual promotional activities and programs with our clients; the success of new services and businesses and the pace of
their implementation; our ability to maintain favorable client relationships; our ability to avoid or mitigate material adverse judg-
ments against, or other adverse results affecting, us in the existing United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
investigation and shareholder and derivative litigation described in Item 3—"“Legal Proceedings,” or any additional regulatory
action, litigation or other proceeding that may be commenced; our ability to maintain effective disclosure controls and proce-
dures and internal control structure; our ability to attract, motivate and/or retain key employees. For a further discussion of cer-
tain of these risks, uncertainties and other factors, see Item 7—"“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Resules of Operations—Risk Factors.”

We undertake no obligation to make public indication of changes in, update or revise any of our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Introductory Note

3«

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, words such as “today,” “current” or “currently,” or phrases such as “as of the date hereof”

or “as of the date of this report,” refer to the date we are filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC.

Item 1. Business

General

Catalina Marketing Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, provide behavior-based communications, developed
and distributed for consumer packaged goods manufacturers, pharmaceutical manufacturers and marketers and retailers. Qur primary
business was developed to provide consumers with in-store coupons delivered based upon purchase behavior and distributed
primarily in supermarkets. Today, we offer behavior-based, targeted-marketing services and programs globally through a variety
of distribution channels, These marketing solutions, including discount coupons, loyalty marketing programs, pharmacist and
patient education newsletters, compliance mailings, in-store instant-win games and other consumer communications, are delivered
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directly to shoppers by various means. By specifying how a particular consumer transaction will “trigger” a promotion to print,
manufacturers and retailers can deliver customized incentives and messages to only the consumers they wish to reach. We track
actual purchase behavior and primarily use Universal Product Code-based scanner technology to target consumers at the retail
checkout counter and National Drug Code information to trigger delivery of customized communications to consumers during
pharmacy prescription checkout transactions.

We are organized and managed by segments, which include the following operations: Catalina Marketing Services (“CMS”),
Catalina Health Resource (“CHR”) and our international operations (“International”), which provides services similar to those
provided by CMS in the United States. Our domestic operations include CMS and CHR.

In the United States, as of March 31, 2005, the Catalina Marketing Network®, which supports CMS, was installed in approximately
17,600 retail stores, primarily supermarkets, and reached approximately 216 million shoppers weekly. As of the same date, the Health
Resource Network, which supports CHR,, was installed in approximately 12,400 pharmacy outlets and reached more than 21
million prescription medication users weekly. Internationally, our network was installed in approximately 5,900 retail locations,
primarily supermarkets in Europe and Japan, and reached more than 66 million shoppers weekly.

As of March 31, 2005, we employed approximately 1,100 people in offices throughout the United States, Europe and Japan.

Recent Developments
Significant Business Developments and Events for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2005

* We sold our Direct Marketing Services (“DMS”), Catalina Marketing Research Solutions (“CMRS”) and Japan Billboard
business units. See “Business Segment Information—Discontinued Operations.”

* During fiscal year 2005, there were changes to our senior management team and to our Board of Directors. Information
about our senior management team and our Board of Directors is included in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for
the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

 Effective April 1, 2004, we combined our Manufacturer Services and Retail Services operating segments to create a new
segment, Catalina Marketing Services, or CMS. See Item 8—"“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data—Note 1.7

* On August 25, 2004, we purchased our corporate headquarters facility. See Item 8—"Consolidated Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data—Note 8.”

* On August 27, 2004, we entered into a new, five-year $125.0 million revolving credit facility. See [tem 8—“Consolidated
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 8.”

* On September 1, 2004, our Board of Directors authorized $100.0 million of funds to be available for the repurchase of our
common stock. We repurchased 1.7 million shares of our common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 for a
total of $44.2 million. See Item 8—*“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 15.”

* On October 1, 2004, we paid an annual cash dividend of $0.30 per common share. See Item 8—*“Consolidated Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 16.”

Business Segment Information

General

Financial information regarding segment revenues, net income and total assets and geographic information for fiscal years 2005,
2004 and 2003 is presented in Item 8—“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 18.”

Catalina Marketing Services

CMS serves the needs of domestic retailers and consumer product manufacturers, primarily within the consumer packaged goods
industry. Using the Catalina Marketing Network®, this operating segment specializes in behavior-based marketing communica-
tions that are delivered at the point-of-sale. The primary service line of the Catalina Marketing Network® is the in-store delivery
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of incentives at the checkout counter of a retailer of consumer packaged goods, typically a supermarket. We link our proprietary
software, computers, central databases and printers with a retailer’s point-of-sale controller and scanning equipment. The network
prints customized promotions and communications at the point of sale based on product Universal Product Codes, historical
purchase behavior or other scanned information. The printed promotions and communications are handed to consumers by the
cashier at the end of the shopping transaction.

Effective April 1, 2004, we restructured the Retail Services and Manufacturer Services units by combining Retail Services and
Manufacturer Services and renaming the segment Catalina Marketing Services. We previously reported the activities of Retail
Services and CMRS in a segment called “Other.” The restructuring was part of our strategy to optimize our selling and administra-
tive efforts. As a result of the restructuring and the sale of CMRS, the “Other” segment is no longer a reported segment. Segment
information for fiscal years 2004 and 2003 for Retail Services has been reclassified to CMS to reflect the new segment reporting.

Our clients contract with us to deliver promotions for them and typically pay us a fee for each print delivered. The primary focus
of CMS’ sales efforts is assisting consumer packaged goods manufacturers and retailers with the design of programs that deliver
results that achieve their brand and marketing objectives. Our sales and client service teams consult with current and prospective
clients to develop and implement customized, targeted marketing programs that meet specific brand strategies and objectives.

CMS generates revenues primarily by providing in-store, electronic marketing delivery services via the Catalina Marketing
Network® In general, CMS recognizes revenue at the time a promotion is delivered at the checkout counter of the retail store.
The amount of revenue recognized is based on the total incentives delivered multiplied by a per-print fee. We generally bill our
clients a minimum category fee in advance of the actual delivery. Contracts for delivery include a2 minimum number of targeted
promotions or messages for a specified category, or categories, within a four-week period referred to as a “cycle.” CMS divides
the calendar into thirteen cycles. The delivery of messages or promotions is based upon particular triggering transactions that are
registered at the point of sale (i.e., the checkout counter of a retail store). The majority of our contracts cover multiple cycles.

The methods for consumers to redeem promotions distributed by the Catalina Marketing Network® are similar to the redemption
methods of traditional manufacturer coupons. In this regard, retailers provide discounts to consumers who present the coupons.
The retailers send redeemed coupons to clearinghouses and receive reimbursements from the manufacturers for the discounts
provided, including handling fees.

The two primary programs of CMS are Checkout Coupon® and Checkout Direct® Through our Checkout Coupon® service, we
deliver marketing communications to consumers at checkout, based on the products included in their current shopping basket.
Through our Checkout Direct® service, we deliver marketing communications to consumers at the checkout counter using past
purchase behavior, which is collected using “frequent shopper” or similar consumer identification methods. Catalina Category
Marketing, (“CCM”), a new service offered to clients during fiscal year 2005, is a behavior-based marketing program that drives
more efficient volume for the manufacturer, increases loyalty to the retailer and provides value to the consumer. The typical
four-week window for a CCM program provides a focal point for trade merchandising collaboration between the manufacturer
and retailer. CCM enables consumers who purchase promoted products to receive incentives redeemable during their next shopping
trip that can only be used at the participating retailer.

The services provided to retailers by CMS include in-store promotional prints and analytical services that enable retailers to focus
on changing consumer shopping patterns with targeted communications, motivate consurers to visit a retailer more frequently,
increase the size of purchase transactions, purchase specific products and develop retailer loyalty.

We typically enter into agreements with retail chains to install our network in the retail stores of the chain for an initial specified
term. Generally, the retailer pays a one-time fee as a partial reimbursement for the cost of the installation. In general, we pay retailer
fees to, and exchange services with, the retailer based on the number of promotions and communications printed. Because of the
concentration of ownership in the retail grocery industry, we are dependent on a limited number of retailers that supply the points
of distribution for the printed promotions and communications of our manufacturer clients. Approximately 57.1% of the printed
in-store promotional incentives provided by CMS for our clients during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, were generated from
within the stores belonging to five retail chains. If any of these retail chains were to decide to not renew their contract with the
Company to provide our services, or if they materially reduce the number of point-of-sale locations included on our network, a
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material reduction in our revenues could result if we were unable to replace these point-of-sale locations or the number of transactions
processed by these locations.

In April 2005, the Company signed an agreement with Walgreens to install the Catalina Marketing Network® at the checkout
counters in the drug chain’s approximately 4,700 stores in the United States. The Company anticipates that the installation of the
Walgreens stores will be completed during fiscal year 2006. This agreement with Walgreens is in addition to the current relaticn-
ship between the Company’s CHR business segment and Walgreens, under which CHR distributes a customized patient education
communication with each prescription dispensed in the pharmacies.

We own the equipment installed in each retail store, including a printer at each checkout lane linked by a computer on the retailer’s
premises to the retailer’s point-of-sale controller and scanning equipment. We operate two data processing facilities in the United
States that employ various technologies to transmit instructions to computers installed in retail stores and retrieve program data.
All of the equipment and supplies, including computers, printers and paper, used in a retail installation are purchased by us from
outside sources. The store equipment and supplies used by our network generally are managed, installed and maintained by our
corporate support staff. We outsource certain aspects of the installation and maintenance of our network in retail locations to
third-party contractors. While we currently use a limited number of primary suppliers, we believe that alternate sources of supply
are available without material interruption to our business.

CMS had a single client, Nestlé, which accounted for approximately 18.9%, 16.1% and 15.1% of revenues generated by CMS for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We believe that if the Company lost Nestlé as a client it could
have a material adverse effect on CMS as well as the Company taken as a whole.

CHR

CHR provides services that assist pharmaceutical and consumer packaged goods manufacturers, as well as retail pharmacies, in provid-
ing consumers with condition-specific health information and direct-to-patient communications. CHR’s programs and services enable
our clients to inform, acquire and retain patients by providing educational information about their treatment along with the benefits
of compliance, and by encouraging dialogue between patients and their healthcare professionals while preserving patient privacy.

CHR’s primary service offerings employ an in-store, prescription information-based technology to provide targeted, direct-to-patient
communications on behalf of our pharmaceutical manufacturer and consumer packaged goods clients. These communication
services include messages and educational information delivered to healthcare patients at pharmacies participating in the Health
Resource Network. The Health Resource Network utilizes a proprietary software system that gives our clients the opportunity
to effectively communicate with patients and assists patients in making more informed healthcare decisions.

CHR primarily generates revenues by printing messages for pharmaceutical and consumer packaged goods manufacturers in
PATIENTLink™, formerly known as the Health Resource® Newsletter. Distribution of PATIENTLink™ is generated by proprietary
technology that can target the consumer based on a variety or combination of factors, including demographic data such as age
and gender information, transactional data, primarily the National Drug Codes found on all prescription drugs, and de-identified
patient prescription history and information. Importantly, CHR does not receive or retain personally identifiable data or trigger
distribution of PATIENTLink™ based on a consumer’s name, address or other personally identifiable information. When a prescription
is processed via the Health Resource Network, a customized PATIENTLink™ print with prescription information, therapeutically
relevant editorial content and product information is printed in the pharmacy and given to the consumer by their pharmacist
along with that consumer’s medication.

CHR enters into agreements with retail pharmacy chains to install the Health Resource Network in pharmacies within the chain.
Upon installation, the retailer generally agrees to use the Health Resource Network in its pharmacy for a minimum period of time.
CHR pays retailer fees to, and exchanges services with, the retail pharmacy based primarily on the number of PATIENTLink™
prints. Approximately 87.2% of the newsletters printed during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, were generated from within
the stores belonging to three retail pharmacy chains. If any of these retail pharmacy chains were to decide to not renew their con-
tract with us, or if they materially reduce the number of pharmacy locations participating in our network, a material reduction
in CHR’s revenues could result if we were unable to either replace these pharmacy locations or the number of transactions
processed by the retail pharmacy chain.
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CHR operates the Health Resource Network through a data processing facility that communicates via various technologies with
the computer systems of retail pharmacies or computers installed in the pharmacies to send promotional instructions and retrieve
program data. The Health Resource Network primarily uses software installed on a retail pharmacy’s point-of sale system which
eliminates the need for a separate CHR-operated, on-premises computer in each location. In certain installations, however,
CHR’s network and/or printer is connected to the retail pharmacy’s point-of-sale controller by an on-premises computer. In the
majority of circumstances, the equipment is owned by the retail pharmacy, however, in some cases, CHR owns the equipment.
All of the equipment owned by us is generic and purchased from third-party vendors. Typically, pharmacies are contractually
obligated to provide supplies, including toner and paper. The Company believes that alternate sources of equipment and supplies
can be secured without significant interruption to CHR’s business.

CHR’s client base varies from year to year and as such a client may be significant in one year and not in another. CHR's top five
clients accounted for 51.8%, 52.9% and 52.1% of its revenues in fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

International

The Catalina Marketing Network® operates internationally in a manner similar to that in which CMS operates the network
domestically. Our international operations offer a full range of targeted marketing solutions to many of the top consumer packaged
goods manufacturers and maintains relationships with major supermarket, hypermarket and other retailers based primarily on a
syndicated platform. All financial and statistical results of our wholly owned foreign subsidiaries are included for the twelve-month
period ending December 31 which is the fiscal year end of our foreign subsidiaries. As of the end of fiscal year 2005, we provided
in-store electronic targeted marketing services for retailers in France, Italy, the United Kingdom, Germany and Japan. At the end
of fiscal year 2005, the network was installed in approximately 5,900 retail locations in Europe and Japan and reached more than
approximately 66 million consumers each week.

International had a single client that accounted for approximately 19.8%, 26.1% and 12.4% of revenues generated by this segment
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We believe that if this client were lost it could have a
material adverse effect on this business segment, but not on the Company taken as a whole.

In fiscal year 2005, International revenues accounted for approximately 15.6% of our total revenues from continuing operations.
Qur international operations are subject to the normal risks of foreign operations, including: changes in local business and economic
conditions, political uncertainties, adapting to different regulatory requirements, interest rate movements, increasing consolidation
of retailers and consumer packaged goods manufacturers, competition, pricing pressure, seasonality and changing customer and
client preferences. Certain of these risks have affected our business in the past and may also have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition in the future. In addition, sales in our international operations are billed
in foreign currencies and are subject to currency exchange fluctuations as are intercompany royalties and financing activities. In
prior years, including fiscal year 2005, changes in the value of the U.S. dollar compared with foreign currencies have had an impact
on our revenues and margins. We cannot predict the direction or magnitude of currency fluctuations. Where practical, we pur-
chase goods and services in local currencies. We borrow locally to meet our financing requirements in Japan to obtain certain
natural and economic hedges, but otherwise do not engage in currency hedge transactions.

In all jurisdictions in which we operate, we are also subject to the laws and regulations that govern foreign investment, foreign
trade and currency exchange transactions. These laws and regulations may limit our ability to repatriate cash as dividends or
otherwise to the United States and may limit our ability to convert foreign currency cash flows into U.S. dollars.

Discontinued Operations

In November 2003, we announced our intention to divest DMS, CMRS and Japan Billboard, all of which were determined not
to be strategically aligned with our current core businesses. Aggregate revenues generated by DMS, CMRS and Japan Billboard
accounted for 5.1%, 13.6% and 18.5% of our total revenues, including discontinued operations, for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

DMS was sold on September 17, 2004. DMS provided targeted direct mail programs designed to market to consumers in their
homes. CMRS was sold on November 29, 2004. CMRS provided a range of traditional marketing research services. The sale of
Japan Billboard closed on August 31, 2004, with an effective sale date of July 31, 2004, Japan Billboard operated a billboard and
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outdoor media business in Japan. The results of operations for these segments are reflected as discontinued operations in our
Consolidated Financial Statements. For a complete discussion of the operating results of our discontinued operations, see }
Item 7 —“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Discontinued Operations.”

Competition

We compete for consumer packaged goods and pharmaceutical manufacturer advertising and consumer promotion budgets with a
wide range of alternative media, including television, radio, print and direct mail advertising, as well as several alternative in-store
and point-of-sale programs. Our business segments compete with various traditional coupon delivery methods including free-
standing inserts, newspapers, direct mail, magazines and in- or on-product packaging, as well as other in-store marketing compa-
nies that use a variety of coupon, promotion or other advertising delivery methods. We could experience increased competition
from changes and advances in technology. Furthermore, as sales of certain grocery products, particularly in certain specialized
consumer product categories, shift from traditional grocery retailers to mass merchandisers and value-chains and other retail
channels, our ability to reach shoppers through our existing retail network of traditional grocery stores and pharmacies may be
impacted in certain consumer product categories.

‘We compete for advertising and promotional dollars based on the efficiencies afforded by a unique kind of targeting based on
consumer shopping behavior, called behavior-based marketing. Our method of behavior-based marketing requires an efficient
network of retail point-of-sale systems and proprietary software and database systems which target individual consumers based on
shopping behavior exhibited at the point-of-sale. Our competitive advantages in the practice of behavior-based marketing are
achieved through the number of shoppers reached through our networks, the number of household IDs and associated purchase
histories available in the database and our ability to deliver consumer insights and influence consumer buying behavior.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are generally for pilot~project execution to create, test and support new applications for
the Catalina Marketing Network® and Health Resource Network, market research, software development and system upgrades.
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, expenditures for research and development were $2.0 million, $1.2

million and $1.0 million, respectively.

Intellectual Property

We currently hold, and have applications pending for, numerous United States and foreign patents relating to our products and
services. These patents include certain remaining targeted incentive patents as well as improvements and additional inventions
related to our current and contemplated business, programs and services. In addition, we regard certain computer software utilized
by the Company as proprietary and subject to copyright protection. We also hold, and have pending, numerous service marks
and trademarks related to our entities, businesses, products and services that have associated goodwill in the relevant marketplace.
We believe that certain intellectual property owned or licensed by us gives us a competitive advantage in certain geographic
regions in which we operate. While we continue to pursue protection for intellectual property rights that we have developed,
certain of our patents, over time, have and will expire and there is no guarantee that we will be able to secure additional patent
rights. The expiration of a patent or loss of patent protection resulting from a legal challenge may result in significant competition
from third parties with respect to the covered product or service in a short period of time. The actual protection afforded by a
patent, which can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability
of legal remedies in the relevant country. Although we believe that our intellectual property provides us with a competitive
advantage, we believe that we are not dependent upon a single patent, or a specific series of patents, the loss of which would have
a material adverse effect on our business. In appropriate situations, we seek to protect our proprietary intellectual property rights

vigorously.

Government Regulation

Our operations are subject to regulation in the United States and in other countries in which we do business. We are subject to
federal and state laws governing privacy and the use of consumer information collected by us. In the United States, various federal
agencies including the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Treasury’s Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau
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and various state agencies have promulgated regulations that restrict the advertising of tobacco, dairy and alcohol beverage prod-
ucts. These regulations vary from state to state and can restrict a manufacturer and/or a retailer’s ability to issue coupons for
tobacco, dairy and alecohol beverage products. Other state and federal laws also restrict the content and sponsorship of regulated
product coupons and messages.

CHR operates in a highly regulated business environment. The United States Food and Drug Adminijstration of the Department
of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) regulates the form and content of prescription drug promotions, such as the messaging
distributed in PATIENTLink™ In addition, federal privacy regulations, administered by the Office of Civil Rights of HHS,
affect the ability of CHR and its retail pharmacy partners to use patient-specific pharmacy information to provide customized
PATIENTLink™ prints. Some states have adopted, or are considering adopting, state medical privacy requirements that could

be interpreted more stringently than federal medical privacy requirements. Federal antikickback requirements, administered by
the HHS Office of the Inspector General, could be interpreted as restricting drug manufacturer-sponsored programs such as
PATIENTLink™. State antikickback and consumer protection statutes could also be interpreted to impose similar restrictions.

For a discussion of government regulations related to our international operations, see “Business Segment Information—International.”

Available Information

We are subject to the information requirements of the Exchange Act. Therefore, we file periodic reports, proxy statements and
other information with the SEC. Such reports, proxy statements and other information may be obtained by visiting the Public
Reference Room of the SEC at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information on the operation
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site
(http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically.

Our website address is www.catalinamarketing.com. We make available, free of charge, on or through our website, our annual,
quarterly and current reports and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing
such reports with the SEC. Information posted on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other
report filed with the SEC in satisfaction of the requirements of the Exchange Act.

Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters is located in St. Petersburg, FL. This 143,000 square foot facility houses our principal administrative, marketing,
information technology and product development offices. We previously leased this facility from a variable interest entity, but
purchased it from this entity during fiscal year 2005.

During fiscal year 2005, we closed 6 sales and support offices in the United States, primarily in conjunction with the sale of our discon-
tinued business segments. As of March 31, 2005, we leased 12 sales and support offices in the United States, consisting of approximately
160,000 square feet in the aggregate, and 5 offices for our foreign operations. We believe that the headquarters facility and the
existing sales and support offices are adequate to meet our current requirements and that suitable additional space will be available
as needed to accommodate growth of our operations and sales and support office requirements for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Government Investigations

As previously disclosed, on March 4, 2004, the SEC issued a formal order of private investigation that made formal an informal
investigation previously initiated by the SEC. The informal investigation was initiated by the SEC after representatives of the
Company contacted the SEC on June 30, 2003, to inform the Staff of certain revenue recognition timing issues that management
identified at CHR. We believe that the SEC inquiry is focused primarily on the revenue recognition timing issues at CHR during
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, which fiscal years were the subject of the various adjustments and restatements described in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003. Since the initiation of the informal investigation and
through the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have been cooperating with the SEC in connection with
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its investigation, including in-person meetings between our representatives and the SEC Staff, and the provision to the SEC of
information and numerous documents. In addition, we have made available as witnesses those individuals under our control in
response to the SEC inquiries and requests. Other than the SEC investigation, as of the date hereof, we are not aware of any addi-
tional inquiry or investigation having been commenced against us related to these matters, but we cannot predict whether or not
any such regulatory inquiry or investigation will be commenced or, if it is, the outcome of any such inquiry or investigation. If
the investigation was to result in a regulatory proceeding or action against us, our business and financial condition could be harmed.

Securities Actions and Derivative Actions

The Company, and certain present and former officers and directors of the Company and CHR, were named as defendants in
numerous complaints purporting to be class actions which were filed in the United States District Court for the Middle District
of Florida, Tampa Division, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5
thereunder. The actions were originally brought on behalf of those who purchased our common stock between January 17, 2002
and August 25, 2003, inclusive. The complaints contain various allegations, including that, during the alleged class period, the
defendants issued false and misleading statements concerning our business and operations with the result of artificially inflating our
share price and maintained inadequate internal controls. The complaints seek unspecified compensatory damages and other relief.
In October 2003, the complaints were consolidated in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida and
given the caption In re Catalina Marketing Corporation Securities Litigation, Case No. 8:03-CV-1582-T-27TBM. In December
2003, Virginia P. Anderson and the Alaska Electric Pension Fund were named as co-lead plaintiffs (the “Lead Plaintiffs”). On
June 21, 2004, the Lead Plaintiffs served their Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint on behalf of those who purchased
our stock between August 14, 1999 and August 25, 2003, inclusive. The Company and other defendants subsequently moved to
dismiss the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint which motion was denied by the court on March 31, 2005. Plaintiffs
filed a motion for class certification in May 2005. Full briefing on class certification should be completed and submitted to the
court by September 2005. In compliance with the applicable rules of civil procedure, the parties have exchanged preliminary infor-
mation about the witnesses and documents each intends to use in support of their respective positions. The Company anticipates that
the parties will engage in more extensive class certification and merits discovery in the near future. We intend to vigorously defend
against these lawsuits. We cannot currently predict the impact or resolution of this litigation or reasonably estimate a range of
possible loss, which could be material. The resolution of these lawsuits may harm our business and have a material adverse impact
on our financial condition.

Certain present and former officers and directors of the Company and CHR, and Catalina Marketing, as 2 nominal defendant, have
been named in two shareholder derivative actions entitled The Booth Family Trust v. Frank H. Barker, et al., Case No. 20510-NC,
commenced in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County, and Craig Deeds v. Frank H.
Barker, et al., Case No. 04-000862 commenced in the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit in and for Pinellas County, Florida.
These shareholder derivative lawsuits allege that the defendants breached various fiduciary duties based upon the same general set
of alleged facts and circumstances as the federal shareholder suits. The plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory damages, restitution
of improper salaries, insider trading profits and payments from the Company, and disgorgement under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. In December 2003, these actions were stayed pending a ruling by the district court on the anticipated motion to dismiss
the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint in the federal securities action. In response to the parties’ request for an
additional stay, the respective courts stayed each of the actions through August 22, 2005. We cannot currently predict the impact
or resolution of this litigation or reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, which could be material. The resolution of these
lawsuits may harm our business and have a material adverse impact on our financial condition.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 or through the date of the
filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ltem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information. The Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“common stock™), is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange (“INYSE”) under the symbol “POS.” The following table sets forth, for each quarter of the last two fiscal years,
the high and low closing prices as reported by the NYSE for the common stock, and dividends declared per common share, for
the quarters ended as follows:

Dividends
Declared per
High Low Common Share

Fiscal Year 2004:

June 30, 2003 . . . e $19.49 $15.51 $ —
September 30, 2003 . .. L e e 17.53 12.58 —
December 31, 2003, | .. 20.99 15.20 —
March 31, 2004 . ..o 21.11 17.12 —
Fiscal Year 2005:
June 30, 2004 . .. e $19.87 $16.43 $ —
September 30, 2004 . . . .. 23.88 17.36 0.30
December 31, 2004 . ... e 30.52 23.48 —_
March 31, 2005 . . 28.70 25.13 —

Holders. As of March 31, 2005, there were approximately 760 registered holders of the Company’s common stock.

Dividends. During fiscal year 2005, the Company paid its first annual dividend of $0.30 per share. The Company expects to pay
similar dividends in the future. However, the payment and rate of dividends on the Company’s common stock is subject to several
factors including operating results, availability of cash and financial requirements of the Company.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans. The information called for by Item 5 will be contained in
the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption Equity Compensation Plan
Information and is incorporated herein by reference. The definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission on or
about the time of the filing of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended March 31, 2005.

The following table sets forth information relating to the Company’s purchases of its equity securities during the three months
ended March 31, 2005:
(a) (b) (c) CY)
Total Number of Shares
(or Units) Purchased as Dollar Value of Shares

Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly that May Yet Be
Shares (or Units) Paid per Share Announced Plans or Purchased Under the
Period (Month of) Purchased (or Unit) Programs Plans or Programs'"
Fiscal Year 2005: (in thousands)
January 2005. ... .. ... ... ..... — NA NA $100,000
February 2005. .. ............. 1,018,400 $26.80 1,018,400 $ 72,703
March 2005, ................. 633,700 $26.63 633,700 $ 55,825

(1) On September 1, 2004, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized $100.0 million of funds to be available for the repurchase of the Company’s
common stock. This authorization replaced the $44.0 million unused portion of the previous $100.0 million common stock repurchase program authorized by the Board
of Directors in July 2002. The Company intends to use cash flows from operations and funds available under the August 2004 Credit Facility to finance the remaining
authorized repurchases of its common stock. Factors governing the future repurchase of the Company’s common stock will include consideration of the market price of
the common stock at the time of the contemplated repurchase.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with Item 7—*Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Item 8—"“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” The
following selected consolidated financial data for each fiscal year presented is derived from our audited Consolidated Financial
Statements. Previously reported amounts for fiscal years 2001 through 2004 have been adjusted to reflect the reclassification of
the results of certain discontinued operations that were sold during fiscal year 2005.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Statement of operations data: (In thousands, except per share amounts)
REVENUES . o ottt et et e $410,062  $408,632  $383,849  $367,861 $339,977
Income from continuing OPerations . . . ..........vetvt L. 68,596 60,397 51,564 66,645 55,642
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net-of-tax™. .. .. ............ — (770) —_— —_ —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . .. ..................... (3.144) (78,900) 3,534 (8,095) (8,482)
Netincome (loss) . .. oo vttt e e 65,452 (19,273) 55,098 58,550 47,160
Diluted income (loss) per common share:®
From continuing operations . ... ............uvunininnnannnen . $ 131 & 115 $ 0% § 117 § 096
From discontinued operations® . ... ... ... .. . e 0.06) (1.50) 0.06 0.14) (0.15)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net-of-tax. . .. ............. — (0.02) — — —
Net income (1058) . .« o vttt ittt s $ 125 $ (037 $ 100 $ 103 $ 081
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding. . .............. 52,356 52,324 54,885 57,104 57,919
Balance sheet data:
Cashand cashequivalents. . . ... ... ... .. .. i $116,191 $ 72,704 $ 1,715  $ 13,656 $ 5,373
Total assets . . ... . e 392,738 386,809 422,421 415,902 396,424
Long-termdebt . ... ... i e 34,324 29,908 49,926 46,035 68,330
Total stockholders’ equity. . .. ... ... 196,374 184,662 215,995 223,263 183,045
Cash dividend declared per commonshare. . ........... ... ... ...... $ 030 § — % — — % —
Other data:
Installed retail store base at end of period—CMS. ... .. ... ... ...... 17,609 17,604 17,498 16,488 15,475
Installed pharmacy base at end of period—CHR .. ............ .. ... 12,423 11,929 17,827 17,716 12,578
Installed retail store base at end of period—International .. ............ 5,907 5,545 4,069 3,338 2,547
Capital expenditures. . . ... .ottt e $ 22527 $ 26,427 $ 42,555 $ 30,813 $ 54,540
Payments for repurchases of common stock . ............... ... ... § 44,174 $ 13,307 $ 71,973 $ 46,529 $ 15,842

(1) See Item 8—"Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—NNote 2” regarding the cumulative effect of an accounting change related to the Company’s
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.”

(2) As of April 1, 2001, goodwill is no longer amortized but instead is subject to impairment testing at least annually. In fiscal year 2001, goodwill amortization expense
reduced diluted earnings per common share by $0.07.

(3) See Item 8—*“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 19” regarding discontinued operations.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain information included in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,”
contains forward-looking statements made in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements may be identified by the use of

M e 2 EE T LIRS

project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe” and other words
and terms of similar meaning, in connection with any discussion of our future business, results of operations, liquidity and oper-
g y , q y

words, such as “anticipate,” “estimates,” “should,” “expect,” “guidance,
ating or financial performance. Such forward-looking statements involve significant material known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These risk factors should be considered
in connection with any written or oral forward-looking statement that we or any person acting on our behalf may issue in this
document or otherwise, now or in the future. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. We cannot assure you that any future results,
performance or achievements will be achieved. For a discussion of certain of these risks, uncertainties and other factors, see
“Risk Factors” and Part I-——"“Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Further, certain information contained in
this document is a reflection of our intention as of the date of this filing and is based upon, among other things, the existing reg-
ulatory environment, industry conditions, market conditions and prices, the economy in general and our assumptions as of such
date. We may change our intentions based upon any changes in such factors, in our assumptions or otherwise.

Overview

For a description of our operations and business segments, please refer to Item 1—“Business—General.” The following discussion
and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included in Item 8-—
“Consolidated Financial Statement and Supplementary Data.”

CMS is the result of a combination of our Manufacturer Services and Retail Services segments that was effective on April 1, 2004.
See Item 1—“Business—Business Segment Information” for a further discussion of this combination. Segment information for
fiscal year 2004 and fiscal year 2003 for Retail Services has been reclassified to CMS to reflect the new segment reporting.

Fiscal year 2005 was a successful year for Catalina Marketing Corporation. During fiscal year 2005, Catalina returned to its core
skills and strengths. We divested four non-strategic business units; three of which, DMS, CMRS and Japan Billboard, are included
in discontinued operations. The fourth, our loyalty card business, was sold on March 31, 2004. Catalina achieved consolidated
sales and profit growth despite the approximately $30.0 million revenue challenge faced by CMS due primarily to the reduction
of spending by a large manufacturer client and the sale of the loyalty card business. Earnings per share from continuing operations
grew from $1.15 per diluted share in fiscal year 2004 to $1.31 for fiscal year 2005. In evaluating our business, management
focuses on the Company’s core continuing operations: CMS, CHR and International.

CMS

CMS finished fiscal year 2005 with total revenues of $269.6 million, a $12.5 million decline from the prior year. This result was
accomplished despite an approximately $30.0 million net decrease in revenues attributed to the reduced promotional spending
activity on our network by a large manufacturer client of approximately $20.4 million and an additional $9.6 million decrease as
a result of the March 2004 disposition of the Company’s loyalty card business. During fiscal year 2005, CMS improved income
from operations by almost 2% and had a solid year with renewals of both key manufacturer clients and retailer relationships.

In fiscal year 2005, CMS introduced CCM, a new behavior-based marketing program that drives more efficient volume for manu-
facturers, increases loyalty to retailers and provides value to the consumer. CCM enables consumers who purchase promoted products
to receive incentives redeemable during their next shopping trip that can only be used at the participating retailer. CMS recognized
approximately $9.0 million in revenues from this new service in fiscal year 2005, and management expects revenues generated by
this service to increase in future periods.
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CMS significantly solidified its distribution network with the renewal of multiple significant retail contracts in fiscal year 2005.
Eleven retail chains renewed multi-year contracts, representing nearly a third of our installed retail store base. We believe that
these renewals demonstrate retailers’ continued confidence in a partnership with Catalina and the value the Catalina Marketing
Network® brings to them and their valued customers. CMS recently signed a new multi-year agreement with Walgreens to install
and operate the Catalina Marketing Network® at the checkout counters in the chain’s 4,700-plus U.S. stores. The Company
anticipates that this agreement will extend the consumer reach opportunities across our syndicated network. Capital expenditures
required to fund this project are estimated to be approximately $20.0 million, with installation scheduled to be complete by the
end of fiscal year 2006. Although this relationship is expected to provide long-term growth opportunities, the Company does
not expect revenues and expenses to be significantly affected in fiscal year 2006.

CHR

CHR achieved record-setting income from operations in fiscal year 2005. Excluding an $11.6 million adjustment for revenues
deferred from a prior year and recognized in fiscal year 2004, CHR revenues increased $10.0 million to $76.2 million in fiscal
year 2005. Income from operations grew from $12.2 million in fiscal year 2004 to $15.7 million in fiscal year 2005, a $3.5 million,
or a 29% increase. The Company attributes CHR’s improved results in fiscal year 2005 to increased pharmaceutical account
penetration, ongoing cost control and innovative new service offerings. As of March 31, 2005, our penetration represented
approximately 34% of all prescriptions processed nationwide. We believe that there is opportunity for expansion of the Health
Resource Network in the retail pharmacy and chain drug store space.

International

International’s revenues were $64.1 million, up 29% over prior year. While favorable currency exchange rates played a significant
role, meaningful growth was achieved. Catalina Marketing International revenue growth in local, or constant, currency was
approximately 19% for the vear. In the UK, growth was achieved due to an increase in the number of retail stores. Results in
France were strong; in Italy, business growth continues, with fiscal year 2005 revenues up 44% in local currency over the prior
year. Germany successfully completed three retail pilot tests and is now preparing for the fiscal year 2006 rollout of two major
supermarket chains in that country. Finally, Japan continues to capitalize on manufacturer sales opportunities, with revenues up
57% on a local currency basis. The increase in revenues, combined with its business restructuring, helped Catalina Marketing
Japan approach a break-even operating profit in fiscal year 2005.

Due to the diversity of our business operations, management does not rely on any single or series of overriding metrics to measure
or manage the performance of the Company’s businesses in the aggregate. While management does not use overriding metrics,
we do monitor certain metrics specific or unique to the nature of each business segment’s operations. For example, we analyze
and manage the performance of CMS based on a series of metrics including, but not limited to, store installation base and shopper
reach. Management also analyzes the performance of CHR using similar metrics such as pharmacy installation base and the average
weekly prescription medication users reached; however, due to numerous factors, including the complexity and limited predict-
ability of product mix at CHR, store/pharmacy installation base and the average weekly prescription medication users reached
cannot be viewed as reliable indicators of the Company’s performance in the aggregate. Please refer to Segment Results—
Continuing Operations for a discussion of the metrics used by management to evaluate each of its segments.

Results of Operations

The following table includes the revenues, income (loss) from operations and net income (loss) for each of our reportable segments
included in continuing operations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The accounts of our wholly-owned
foreign subsidiaries are included for the twelve months ended December 31, which is their fiscal year end. In general, we expect
our revenues to be greater during periods of higher promotional activity by manufacturers. The pattern of promotion distribu-
tion is irregular and may change from period to period depending on various factors, including the economy, competition, the
timing of new product introductions and the timing of manufacturers’ promotion planning and implementation. In addition, this
pattern may be affected by seasonal factors such as holiday-related promotions and annual budgeting processes affecting when our
clients use promotional and consumer-related expenditure budgets. The seasonality of our international operations may be differ-
ent than that of our domestic operations for many reasons, but the impact of seasonality on our reporting may also be affected by
the difference in fiscal years. These factors, as well as the overall changes in the number of retailer and manufacturer contracts
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with the Company, the timing of changes of the installed store base and access to revenue producing transactions, may impact
our revenues and profits in any particular period. See Item 8—“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—
Note 18" for additional segment financial information.

Year Ended March 31,

% %
2005 Change!V 2004 Change 2003
Revenues (in thousands)
CMS e e $269,612 (4.4)% $282,128 (3.2)% $291,466
CHR .. e e 76,167 2.1 77,765 23.4 63,016
International. . . .. ... ... ... 64,116 29.3 49,580 65.3 29,991
COIPOTALE. . .ot ottt et it 3,613 19.4 3,027 9.5 2,764
EHminations. ... .. ..o e (3,446) (10.9) (3,868) 14.2 (3,388)
Total Revenues. . . . ...t e e $410,062 0.3% $408,632 6.5% $383,849
Income (Loss) from Operations
CMS $124,283 1.7% $122,224 4.1)% $127,471
CHR . e 15,729 28.7 12,224 NM (8,496)
International. . .. ... ... 15,503 181.2 5,513 NM (1,177)
COTPOTate. . . oLttt (46,713) 11.7 (41,829) 321 (31,665)
Total Income from Operations . . ... ......... .. ... ... ... $108,802 10.9% $ 98,132 13.9% $ 86,133
Net Income (Loss)
CMS $ 73,879 1.6% $ 72,724 (4.1)% $ 75,847
CHER .. e e 9,356 28.6 7,273 NM (5,080)
International. .. ... ... 7,395 NM 462 NM (3,242)
COTPOTALE. . Lttt et e (22,034) 9.8 (20,062) 25.7 (15,961)
Net income from continuing operations. .. .. ................ 68,596 13.6 60,397 17.1 51,564
Discontinued operations. ... .. ... . i (3,144) NM (79,670) NM 3,534
Net Income (LOSS) « .o vt v e $ 65,452 NM $(19,273) NM $ 55,098
Consolidated Effective Tax Rate . ... ....................... 37.8% 38.1% 38.1%

NM—Not Meaningful

The consolidated effective tax rate was 37.8%, 38.1% and 38.1% for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease
in the effective tax rate for fiscal year 2005 as compared with 2004 and 2003 was primarily due to the benefit of utilizing tax loss
carryforwards on income recognized in certain foreign jurisdictions.

Segment Results—Continuing Operations

CMS

CMS generates revenues primarily by providing in-store, electronic marketing delivery services via the Catalina Marketing
Network®. The amount of revenue recognized is based on the total incentives or communications delivered multiplied by a per-
print fee. The delivery of incentives or communications is based upon particular triggering transactions that are registered at the
point of sale (i.e., the checkout counter of a retail store). The success of CMS depends upon, among other factors, the installation
base of and number of transactions accessed by the Catalina Marketing Network® and the ability to attract and retain consumer
packaged goods manufacturers to use the targeted communication capabilities offered by the network. The following table pres-

ents the number of stores in which the network was installed and the average number of shoppers reached each week as of March
31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

March 31,
2005 2004 2003
Retailer stores installed. . . . .. . oo e e e e e 17,609 17,604 17,498
Average weekly shoppers reached (inmillions). ... ... o 216 209 207
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Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with the Year Ended March 31, 2004

Revenues decreased by $12.5 million, or 4.4%, to $269.6 million in fiscal year 2005 from $282.1 million, primarily due to a
decline in revenues of $9.6 million attributable to the sale of the Company’s loyalty card business on March 31, 2004.

As previously reported, CMS had a significant consumer packaged goods (“CPG”) manufacturer client that accounted for 8.3%
and 8.5% of its revenues for the fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively. This client notified the Company in fiscal year 2004
that, beginning in fiscal year 2005, it did not intend to purchase the Company’s services at the same levels it had in prior years.
Although this client represented a significant portion of CMS’ revenues in prior years, revenues from manufacturers were relatively
unchanged at a $0.4 million increase in fiscal year 2005 as compared with fiscal year 2004. During fiscal year 2005, CMS was
able to replace the $20.4 million net decline in revenues from this client with revenues from new and existing CPG manufacturer
clients. For fiscal year 2005, the volume of paid promotions printed increased by 5.8% (including the effects of the reduction in
revenue from the previously mentioned client), but was partially offset by a 5.3% decline in the average price per print primarily
due to a shift in the mix of services sold to lower-priced services.

Income from operations increased $2.1 million, or 1.7%, to $124.3 million in fiscal year 2005, from $122.2 million in fiscal year
2004, primarily due to a $14.6 million decline in operating expenses, partially offset by a $12.5 million decrease in revenues.
Decreased operating expenses resulted primarily from declines in direct operating and selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”)
expenses of $6.1 million and $7.1 million, respectively. The reduction in direct operating expenses was primarily due to an $11.4
million reduction in expenses resulting from the March 31, 2004 sale of the loyalty card business, partially offset by a $5.0 million
increase in retailer fees. The current year increase in retailer fee expense was primarily attributable to changes in certain retailer
fee contracts. During fiscal year 2005, the Company renegotiated several significant retailer contracts resulting in increased
retailer fees in fiscal year 2005. Since the increased fees have been established during the entire term of these specific retailer con-
tracts, the Company expects retailer fees in fiscal year 2006 to exceed retailer fees in fiscal year 2005. However, due to a variety
of factors including the volume of prints to be distributed at these retailers during fiscal year 2006, the Company is not able to

predict the impact of these contracts on retailer fees with any certainty.

The $7.1 million decline in SG&A expenses was primarily due to a $3.8 million decline in sales force expenses attributable to
reduced headcount and relocation expenses as compared with the prior year. In addition, SG&A expenses in fiscal year 2004
include a $1.0 million loss on the sale of the loyalty card business.

Net income increased by $1.2 million, or 1.6%, for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with the year ended March 31, 2004
primarily due to the factors affecting operating results.

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues were $282.1 million in fiscal year 2004, down 3.2% from revenues of $291.5 million in fiscal year 2003, primarily due
to a $5.5 million decrease in revenues from retailers, resulting from a decrease in loyalty card programs, and due to a $4.2 million
reduction in revenues from manufacturers, resulting from a decrease in the volume of promotions printed.

Income from operations was $122.2 million in fiscal year 2004, down 4.1% from income from operations of $127.5 million in
fiscal year 2003. The decrease in income from operations was primarily due to the $9.4 million decrease in revenues, described
above, partially offset by a $4.1 million decrease in operating expenses. Direct operating expenses decreased $8.6 million in fiscal
year 2004, or 9.8%, compared with fiscal year 2003, primarily due to a $3.1 million decrease directly related to the decrease in
loyalty card revenues, and a $2.5 million decrease in sales commissions expense. The decrease in direct operating expense was
partially offset by increases in SG&A and depreciation and amortization expenses. SG&A increased $2.3 million to $52.7 million in
fiscal year 2004 from $50.4 million in fiscal year 2003. Depreciation and amortization increased $2.2 million to $28.1 million
in fiscal year 2004 from $25.9 million in fiscal year 2003. Both of these increases were due to increased corporate costs which
were allocated to CMS.

Net income was $72.7 million in fiscal year 2004, down 4.1% from net income of $75.8 million in fiscal year 2003. The decrease
in net income was due primarily to the decrease in income from operations discussed above.
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CHR

CHR’s primary service offerings use in-store, prescription-based technology to provide targeted, direct-to-patient communica-
tions on behalf of its clients. These communication services include messages and educational information to healthcare patients
at retail pharmacies participating in the Health Resource Network. CHR primarily generates revenues by printing messages for
pharmaceutical and CPG manufacturers.

Management analyzes the performance of CHR through a review of the pharmacy installation base and the average weekly pre-
scription medication users reached. These metrics provide a framework for evaluating current performance, as well as acting as
measure of the reach of the network, which is important in attracting additional pharmaceutical and CPG manufacturers to uti-
lize the services of the Health Resource Network. The following table presents the pharmacy installation base and the average
weekly prescription medication users reached as of and for the periods ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Pharmacies installed . . . ... .. L e 12,423 11,929 17,827
Average weekly prescription medication users reached (inmillions) . ..... ... .. ... . oL oL L 21 20 18

In fiscal year 2004, the Health Resource Network was deinstalled in two retail pharmacy chains, Eckerd and CVS, which repre-
sented approximately 6,500 stores in the Health Resource Network. Revenues generated from newsletters delivered at Eckerd
and CVS were approximately $9.9 million, or 12.7%, of total CHR revenue in fiscal year 2004 and $10.4 million, or 16.5%, of
total CHR revenue in fiscal year 2003. Although these pharmaceutical chains represented a significant portion of the installation
base, revenues and expenses at CHR for fiscal year 2005 were not significantly affected. Furthermore, management does not
expect the deinstallation of Eckerd and CVS to have a significant effect on future results of operations.

Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2004

CHR revenues declined by $1.6 million, or 2.1%, to $76.2 million for fiscal year 2005 as compared with $77.8 million for fiscal
year 2004. Revenues for fiscal year 2004 include an $11.6 million adjustment for revenues deferred from a prior year. Excluding
the impact of the prior year deferred revenue adjustment, revenues increased by $10.0 million, or 15.1%. The increase was attrib-
utable to 2 24.1% increase in the average price per revenue-producing newsletter, which was attributable to a change in program
mix. The increase in revenues from the shift in mix was partially offset by a 5.5% decrease in the number of revenue-producing
newsletters, which was primarily due to the loss of Eckerd and CVS in fiscal year 2004.

Income from operations increased by $3.5 million, or 28.7%, to $15.7 million for fiscal year 2005 as compared with $12.2 million
for fiscal year 2004 due to lower operating expenses, partially offset by a $1.6 million decline in revenues. Direct operating
expenses declined by $2.2 million in fiscal year 2005 as compared with fiscal year 2004 due primarily to a $2.7 million decrease
in retailer fees, which resulted from (i) a change in product mix, (ii) renegotiated contracts with certain retailers and (ii1) changes
in the method of reimbursement to retailers for certain printing expenses. SG&A expenses declined by $1.2 million due primarily
to decreases in sales force expenses and costs savings from the reorganization of information technology development functions
to provide for more efficiency. Finally, depreciation and amortization expense declined by $1.7 million due to current equipment,
primarily printers installed in pharmacies, reaching the end of its depreciable life and not requiring replacement.

Net income increased by $2.1 million, or 28.6%, for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with the year ended March 31,
2004 primarily due to the factors affecting income from operations.

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues were $77.8 million in fiscal year 2004, up 23.4% from revenues of $63.0 million in fiscal year 2003. The increase in
revenues was due in part to the recognition of approximately $11.6 million in revenue deferred from prior years. Such revenue
was not recognized by CHR prior to fiscal year 2004 because it did not meet the necessary revenue recognition criteria. In addi-
tion, revenues increased approximately $3.2 million due to the delivery of additional revenue generating newsletters driven by an
increase in pharmaceutical manufacturer spending in our Health Resource Network.
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Income from operations was $12.2 million in fiscal year 2004, a $20.7 million improvement over a loss from operations of $8.5
million in fiscal year 2003. The increase in operating results was due primarily to the increase in revenues described above and a
reduction in direct operating and SG&A expenses. Direct operating expenses decreased $3.8 million in fiscal year 2004, or 7.7%
over fiscal year 2003, primarily due to a net $3.2 million reduction in retailer fees and store-related expenses as a result of our
renegotiation of contracts with key retail pharmacy chains. CHRs field operations personnel costs were also reduced. SG&A
expenses decreased $2.1 million, or 12.4%, compared with fiscal year 2003 due to a reduction in marketing, selling and other
administrative expenses. The field operations and SG&A expense reductions were achieved through restructuring during fiscal
year 2004.

Primarily as a result of the revenues and expense improvements described above, net income was approximately $7.3 million in
fiscal year 2004, up $12.4 million from a net loss of $5.1 million in fiscal year 2003.

International

The Company operates internationally in a similar manner to the domestic CMS business for clients in France, Italy, the United
Kingdom, Germany and Japan.

The following table presents the International retail installation base, the number of retail chains across which the Catalina

Marketing Network® is installed internationally and the average weekly shoppers reached as of March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

March 31,

2005 2004 2003

Retail stores installed . . ... oo e 5,907 5,545 4,069
Retail chains ... ... e 40 30 21
Average weekly shoppers reached (inmillions). . . ... ... .. . 66 65 44

Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with the Year Ended March 31, 2004

Revenues for International increased by $14.5 million, or 29.3%, to $64.1 million for fiscal year 2005 as compared with $49.6
million for fiscal year 2004. Of this increase, $5.2 million was attributable to the favorable effect of foreign currency exchange
movements. Also contributing to the increase in revenues was a $0.9 million fee that was paid to the Company’s operations in Japan
due to a retailer’s early contract termination. The remaining increase of $8.4 million was primarily due to increased manufacturer
and retail revenues of $5.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively. The increase in manufacturer revenue was due to growth in
France, Italy and Japan of 6%, 44% and 55%, respectively. The increases in France and Italy were due, to some extent, to the
growth of the installation base and average shopper reach in those countries, as well as continued penetration of CPG manufacturers.
As noted above, Japan lost a retail client in the current year, which resulted in a reduction of its installation base and shopper
reach during fiscal year 2005. However, the loss did not occur until the third quarter and Japan was able to benefit from revenue
growth from manufacturer clients. The Company does not expect the loss of this retailer to have a significant affect on revenues
and expenses in fiscal year 2006. The increase in retailer revenues was attributable to operations in the United Kingdom, where
the Company expanded its network into additional retail stores during fiscal year 2005.

Income from operations increased by $10.0 million, or 181%, to $15.5 million for fiscal year 2005 as compared with $5.5 million
for fiscal year 2004. The improvement in income from operations was due to current year revenue growth partially offset by
volume-related increases in direct costs of $1.5 million, increased SG&A expenses of $2.5 million, primarily due to the addition
of sales personnel, and increased depreciation expense of $0.6 million due to the acquisition of additional store equipment in

the current year.

Net income for International increased by $6.9 million for fiscal year 2005 as compared with fiscal year 2004. The increase was
due to the factors affecting operating results, partially reduced by an increase in the provision for income taxes of $3.0 million.

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues were $49.6 million in fiscal year 2004, up 65.3% from revenues of $30.0 million in fiscal year 2003. The increase in
revenues was due primarily to an increase in manufacturer and retail promotions printed by retail and manufacturer clients in
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France. Revenue growth was also generated from a full year of participation in the Catalina Marketing Network® of a French
retailer that was added to the network during the latter part of fiscal year 2003.

Income from operations was $5.5 million in fiscal year 2004, up $6.7 million from an operating loss of $1.2 million in fiscal year
2003. The increase in operating results was due primarily to the increase in revenues from France described above and was par-
tially offset by an increase in direct operating and SG&A expenses in fiscal year 2004. International direct operating expenses
increased $5.0 million, or 49.9%, in 2004, primarily due to an increase in the number of stores installed on the network and a
corresponding increase in printer and store-related expenses and staffing related costs. SG&A expenses also increased by $5.3
million, or 30.7%, primarily due to the addition of sales personnel. Depreciation and amortization expense for fiscal year 2004
increased by $2.6 million, or 67.5%, primarily due to growth in the store base.

Net income was $0.5 million in fiscal year 2004, compared with a net loss of $3.2 million in fiscal year 2003. The $3.7 million
increase in net income was due primarily to the increase in operating results discussed above.

Corporate

Direct operating expenses for our corporate group included costs for procurement, retail store support, information technology,
corporate accounting, client services, analytical services, marketing, human resources and executive management. These costs
were included in direct operating expenses, SG&A expense and depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations included in Item 8—“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. For purposes of segment reporting, these corporate costs were allocated to
the CMS and CHR business segments in fiscal year 2005, 2004 and 2003 using methods considered reasonable by management
and which provide management with a measure of utilization of corporate services by the respective business segments. Costs
that could be directly attributed to the business segments were allocated to that business segment. Costs that were indirectly
attributed to the business segments were allocated proportionately based on the business segment’s revenues, number of printed
incentives, square feet of space used, headcount or other relevant statistics, depending on the type of cost. For example, the cost
to maintain the Company’s corporate headquarters 1s allocated to the domestic business segments based on the estimated square
footage each business unit occupies; paper and store maintenance costs are allocated to the domestic business segments based upon
the number of printed incentives; data communications costs are allocated based upon revenues. Of the total corporate group
operating expenses, 63.8%, 66.6% and 76.2% were allocated to the operating segments during the fiscal years ended March 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amounts previously allocated to DMS and CMRS were reversed when those two business
units were reclassified to discontinued operations. There were no allocations of corporate costs and expenses to Japan Billboard.

Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with the Year Ended March 31, 2004

The Corpeorate loss from operations increased by $4.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with the year ended
March 31, 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to (i) $7.3 million of increased incentive compensation expense due to
current year performance, (i) $2.8 million of increased consulting fees for special business development-related consulting proj-
ects and (iii) $3.3 million for costs related to the implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in the current year.
These costs increases were partially offset by the reversal of a liability for a sales tax assessment of approximately $4.4 million. See
further discussion regarding such reversal in [tem 8—"Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 9.”
Net loss for Corporate increased by $2.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with the year ended March 31, 2004
primarily due to the factors affecting loss from operations, partially offset by lower interest expense and a lower consolidated
effective tax rate, which was reflected as a favorable adjustment to Corporate for the year ended March 31, 2005.

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with the Year Ended March 31, 2003

The Corporate loss from operations increased by $10.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2004 compared with the year ended
March 31, 2003, primarily due to increased SG&A expenses. In fiscal year 2004, SG&A expenses included $7.3 million related
to costs incurred in connection with the completion of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2003, including the
restatement of our financial statements for fiscal years 2002 and 2001, for legal fees, external audit fees, director meeting fees and
other related costs. Net loss for Corporate increased by $4.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2004 compared with the year
ended March 31, 2003 primarily due to the factors affecting loss from operations, partially offset by increased interest income.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Its Effect on Revenues

Our consolidated revenues from continuing operations for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 were $410.1 million, which
included $64.1 million from our foreign operations. The local currencies of the countries in which we maintain foreign operations
are the euro, British pound sterling and Japanese Yen. These currencies strengthened against the United States Dollar during our
fiscal year ended 2005. Accordingly, revenues in United States Dollars for our foreign operations would have been 8.2% lower
for fiscal year 2005, if translated using the weighted average currency translation rates for fiscal year 2004.

Segment Results—Discontinued Operations

As noted above and in previous filings, in November 2003, we announced our intent to divest DMS, Japan Billboard and CMRS
because they were deemed not to be strategically aligned with our current core businesses. Aggregate revenues generated by
DMS, Japan Billboard and CMRS accounted for 5.1%, 13.6% and 18.5% of the Company’s total revenues, including discontinued
operations, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Aggregate net loss generated by DMS, Japan
Billboard and CMRS for fiscal year 2005 totaled $3.1 million. In fiscal years 2004 and 2003, these businesses generated aggregate
net income (loss) of ($78.9) million and $3.5 million, respectively.

DMS

We sold DMS on September 17, 2004. As such, the results of operations for the periods in fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 are
reported net of taxes on one line, Income (loss) from discontinued operations. See further discussion in Item 8—"“Consolidated
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 19.”

Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2004

Revenues for DMS decreased by $26.8 million to $10.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with revenues of
$37.1 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004. The decrease was primarily attributable to fewer operating days in fiscal
year 2005 as a result of the sale on September 17, 2004 and due to lower sample mailings as a result of a significant decrease in
DMS’ sales personnel after the announcement in November 2003 of our intent to divest DMS.

Loss from operations for DMS was $1.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with a loss from operations of $29.8
million for the year ended March 31, 2004. The improvement in operating results was primarily due to a goodwill impairment
charge of $29.8 million recognized in fiscal year 2004. In addition, the results for fiscal year 2005 include an additional goodwill
impairment charge of $1.6 million. See Item 8—*Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 3” for a
discussion of the goodwill impairment charges.

Net income for DMS was $1.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2005, which included a gain of $3.3 million recognized
upon the sale of the business. Net loss for DMS for the year ended March 31, 2004 was $29.8 million.

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues were $37.1 million in fiscal year 2004, down 26.2% from revenues of $50.3 million in fiscal year 2003. The decrease
in revenues was due primarily to an $8.6 million decline in Sample Logic® sales and a $5.4 million reduction in revenues
year-over-year due to the suspension of One-to-One Direct® services in December of 2003.

Loss from operations was $29.8 million in fiscal year 2004, down from an operating profit of $3.3 million in fiscal year 2003.
In addition to the decline in revenues described above, the decrease in operating results was primarily due to a $29.8 million
goodwill impairment charge.

Net loss was $29.8 million in fiscal year 2004, down from net income of $2.0 million in fiscal year 2003. The decrease in net
income was due mainly to the decrease in loss from operations described above.

Japan Billboard

We sold Japan Billboard on August 31, 2004. As such, the results of operations for Japan Billboard for the periods in fiscal years
2005, 2004 and 2003 have been reported net of taxes on one line, Income (loss) from discontinued operations. See further
discussion in Item 8—"“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 19.”
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Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2004

Revenues for Japan Billboard were $6.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2005 compared with $14.7 million for the year
ended March 31, 2004. Revenues at this business unit continued to decline through the date it was sold as a result of the effect of
the Voluntary Global Tobacco Marketing Initiative (the “Initiative”). See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2004 for a more detailed description of the Initiative.

Loss from operations for Japan Billboard was $0.2 million for fiscal year 2005 compared with an operating loss of $35.3 million
for fiscal year 2004. The operating loss for fiscal year 2004 included charges of $30.5 million and $4.1 million related to the
impairment of goodwill and the impairment of long-lived assets, respectively. See Item 8—“Consolidated Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data—Note 3” for a discussion of the impairment charges.

Net loss for Japan Billboard was $0.7 million for fiscal year 2005, which included a loss of $0.5 million recognized upon the sale
of the business. Net loss for Japan Billboard for fiscal year 2004 was $37.0 million, which included the impairment charges for
goodwill and long-lived assets.

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues were $14.7 million in fiscal year 2004, down 30.2% compared with revenues of $21.1 million in fiscal year 2003. The
decrease in revenues was due mainly to a continued reduction in spending from one tobacco producing client related to the Initiative.

Loss from operations was $35.3 million in fiscal year 2004, a $35.8 million decline from an operating profit of $0.5 million in
fiscal year 2003. In addition to the decline in revenues described above, the decrease in operating results was primarily the result
of a $30.5 million goodwill impairment charge, a $4.1 million billboard asset impairment charge and a $0.3 million increase in
depreciation expense due to the effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 143 to record disposal and retirement obligations on its long-
lived billboard assets. The reduction in revenue was offset in part by a $3.8 million, or 24.6%, reduction in operating expenses
associated with fewer billboards.

Net loss was $37.0 million in fiscal year 2004, as compared with net income of $0.1 million in fiscal year 2003. The decrease in
net income was due mainly to the decrease in operating profit discussed above and, to a lesser extent, a $1.3 million increase in
the tax provision associated primarily with the recording of a valuation allowance on the segment’s net deferred tax assets.

CMRS

We sold CMRS on November 29, 2004. As such, the results of operations for CMRS for the periods in fiscal years 2005, 2004
and 2003 have been reported net of taxes on one line, Income (loss) from discontinued operations. See further discussion in
Item 8—*“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 19.”

Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2004

Revenues for CMRS were $5.1 million for fiscal year 2005, compared with revenues of $12.5 million for fiscal year 2004.
Revenues declined during fiscal 2005 as compared with fiscal 2004 primarily due to the announcement in November 2003 of
the decision to sell the business, which resulted in the loss of key sales personnel, and due to less operating days during fiscal year
2005 as a result of the sale on November 29, 2004.

CMRS had a loss from operations of $4.1 million for fiscal year 2005 as compared with a loss from operations of $20.3 million
for fiscal year 2004. The improvement was primarily attributable to a $21.2 million goodwill impairment charge recorded during
the prior year, partially offset by a $2.6 million goodwill impairment charge recorded during the current year and due to the
further decline in revenues. See Item 8—"“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 3” for a discussion
of the goodwill impairment charges.

Net loss for CMRS for fiscal year 2005 was $4.2 million and was attributable to the loss from operations of $4.1 million and the
loss on the sale of CMRS of $1.7 million, partially offset by a current year tax benefit of $1.5 million.
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Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with Year Ended March 31, 2003

Revenues for CMRS were $12.5 million for fiscal year 2004, compared with revenues of $15.5 million for fiscal year 2004.
Revenues declined during fiscal 2004 as compared with fiscal 2003 primarily due to the announcement in November 2003 of
the decision to sell the business, which resulted in the loss of key sales personnel.

CMRS had a loss from operations of $20.3 million for fiscal year 2004 as compared with income from operations of $2.4 million
for fiscal year 2003. The decrease in operating results was primarily attributable to a $21.2 million goodwill impairment charge
recorded during fiscal year 2004. See Item 8—"Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 3” for a
discussion of the goodwill impairment charges.

Net loss for CMRS for fiscal year 2004 was $12.1 million as compared with net income for fiscal year 2003 of $1.4 million. The
decline was primarily attributable to the loss from operations noted above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity have been cash flows generated from operations, a credit agreement with a syndicate of commer-
cial banks, various credit agreements entered into by our Japan subsidiary and the indebtedness under a lease arrangement. There
were several changes to our non-operational sources of cash during fiscal year 2005. These changes are discussed below in Other
Sources of Liquidity. Our primary liquidity requirements continue to be for working capital, capital expenditures in the ordinary
course of business and the repayment of debt. Our sources of liquidity may also be used for cash dividends and repurchases of
our common stock. We will continue to invest in new business development, sales and marketing, in our Catalina Marketing
Network® and other support technology, employee development and retention and enhanced systems of reporting and controls.

Cash flows from operations in fiscal year 2005 and through the current date have been sufficient to meet our liquidity needs and
should be sufficient to meet our projected cash requirements for at least the next twelve months. Cash on hand as of March 31, 2005
was $116.2 million. Of the total amount on hand, approximately $19.3 million was held by our subsidiary in France and cannot
be transferred to the United States without incurring applicable income taxes.

The current portion of our long-term debt of $30.3 million as of March 31, 2005 consisted of a $30.0 million Eurodollar-based
tranche that we repaid in April 2005 and $0.3 million of current portion of installment debt in Japan. Our long-term debt
outstanding as of March 31, 2005 was $34.3 million. See Capital Requirements— Contractual Obligations for a discussion of our
contractual commitments, which include our bank indebtedness as well as contractual obligations related to our operations.

We believe that our policy regarding the availability of sufficient amounts of cash gives us the opportunity to invest in our busi-
ness as we believe is necessary for items such as research and development, creation and expansion of markets, share repurchases,
acquisitions, investments, legal risks and challenges to our business model. Our existing cash and cash equivalents, combined with
cash generated from operations and available borrowings under our credit facilities, should be sufficient to fund our operating
activities as well as other opportunities for the short term and over our forecasted long-range plan of three years. If during that
period or thereafter we are not successful in generating sufficient cash flows from operations, raising additional capital when
required or being able to borrow in sufficient amounts, our business could suffer.

Cash Flow Analysis
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004

Net cash provided by operating activities was $118.0 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 compared with $138.1 million
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended March 31,
2005, as compared with the same period in the prior year, was primarily due to a decrease in cash flows provided from changes
in net operating assets and liabilities. Cash provided from changes in operating assets and liabilities during fiscal year 2004 was
$16.5 million as compared with cash used by changes in operating assets and liabilities for fiscal year 2005 of $1.5 million. The
$18.0 million reduction in cash provided from net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $23.6 million unfavor-
able change in accounts receivable and a $14.6 million unfavorable change in accrued expenses, partially offset by a $19.8 million
favorable change in accounts and taxes payable. The unfavorable change in accounts receivable year-over-year was primarily due
to the timing of customer billings and collections. The unfavorable change in accrued expenses year-over-year was primarily
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due to the timing of payroll-related payments, including sales commissions, a decrease in accrued professional fees and, with
respect to fiscal year 2005, the reversal of a $4.4 million sales tax contingency. The favorable change in accounts and taxes
payable year-over-year was primarily due to the timing and amounts of purchases from our trade creditors and increased earnings
resulting in increased income taxes payable for fiscal year 2005.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased to $17.6 million for fiscal year 2005 compared with $49.8 million for fiscal year
2004. Cash used in investing activities for fiscal year 2004 included $22.9 million related to the purchase of the remaining
49% ownership interest in Japan Billboard from the minority shareholder. No similar payment was made in fiscal year 2005.
Additionally, capital expenditures declined from $26.4 million for fiscal year 2004 to $22.5 million for fiscal year 2005. Capital
expenditure levels vary during the year depending upon the timing and size of contracts entered into with retailers, the scheduling
of store installations and investments in technology. Investing activities for fiscal year 2005 also includes cash inflows of $5.5 million
and $0.4 million for the sale of DMS and CMRS, respectively.

Net cash used in financing activities was $58.4 million for fiscal year 2005 compared with $17.8 million used in financing activities
for fiscal year 2004. Cash used in financing activities for fiscal year 2005 included a cash dividend of $0.30 per share on common
stock for a total payment of $15.7 million and payments for the repurchase of the Company’s common stock of $44.2 million. Net
payments on indebtedness during fiscal year 2005 were $2.8 million, and included amounts borrowed on the corporate facility to
repay the indebtedness related to the purchase of the Company’s headquarters facility, as well as borrowings under the August 2004
Credit Facility that were used to repay amounts due in Japan under the Prior Facility. Scheduled payments were also made on
the installment debt at the Company’s Japan subsidiary. During fiscal year 2004, the Company repurchased common stock for
$13.3 million and made net repayments on debt of $5.1 million.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $43.5 million to $116.2 million for fiscal year 2005.
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared with the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003

During fiscal year 2004, we generated cash flows from operating activities of $138.1 million compared with cash flows generated
from operating activities of $118.5 million in fiscal year 2003. Cash flows generated from operations increased $19.6 million pri-
marily due to a decrease in our accounts receivable, which was a source of cash of $19.5 million in fiscal year 2004. Cash flows
generated from operating activities in fiscal year 2004 include non-cash charges for depreciation of $45.9 million and impairment
charges of $85.6 million. The cash flows provided by operating activities were used to make capital expenditures, purchase the
minority interest of Japan Billboard, to repurchase our common stock and to make payments on our external borrowings. Overall,
our cash increased $71.0 million as a result of these net sources of cash.

Fiscal Year 2004 Minority Interest Purchase of Japan Billboard. On October 10, 1996, we purchased 51% of Japan Billboard. Terms
of the purchase agreement provided a call option whereby we had the right, beginning in May 2002, to purchase the remaining
49% of Japan Billboard, at a price calculated based upon an earnings multiple pursuant to the call formula, as defined in the pur-~
chase agreement. The terms of the purchase agreement also provided for a put option whereby the minority shareholders, effective
May 2003, had the right to require us to purchase the remaining 49% of Japan Billboard at a price calculated based upon an
earnings multiple pursuant to the put formula as defined in the purchase agreement. In May 2003, we exercised, through one of
our wholly-owned subsidiaries, our call option provided in the Japan Billboard purchase agreement to acquire the remaining
49% from the minority interest shareholders for $23.2 million in cash consideration, based on foreign exchange rates as of the
payment date in July 2003. We exercised the call option to reduce the adverse financial impact that would have resulted from the
exercise of the put option by the minority shareholders.

Other Sources of Liquidity

In addition to our cash flows generated from operations, the Company’s access to its tevolving credit facility provides an
additional source of liquidity. For a discussion of our credit facilities, see Item 8—"“Consolidated Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data—Note 8.”
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Capital Requirements

Contractual Obligations. We have contractual obligations associated with ongoing business and financing activities, which will
result in cash payments in future periods. Some of these obligations, such as short-term borrowings and long-term debt and related
interest payments, are reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, we have entered into long-term contracts
to acquire goods or services in the future which are not currently reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements and will be
reflected in future periods as the goods are received or services are rendered. A summary of our contractual cash obligations and
commitments at March 31, 2005 follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Between Between
April 1, 2006 April 1, 2008

Before and and After
Contractual Cash Obligations Total March 31, 2006 March 31, 2008  March 31, 2010  March 31, 2010
Long-termdebt™ . ... ... ... ... . e $65,831 $30,633 $ 538 $34,660 $ —
Postretirement medical benefitcosts. .. ............ 1,304 86 209 265 744
Operatingleases. .. ........ ... .., 14,123 4,151 6,006 3,680 286
CHR tenderoffer. . . ........... ... ... o, 3,497 3,497 — — —
Purchase obligations for in-store equipment and paper. . . 12,079 6,500 5,579 — —
Total. . oo e $96,834 $44,867 $12,332 $38,605 $1,030

(1) Long-term debt includes principal and interest due under the August 2004 Credit Facility, and principal and interest due for the long-term portion of installment loans
due in Japan.
CHR Tender Offer. On September 15, 2004, the Company notified holders of common stock and options to purchase common
stock of Catalina Health Resource, Inc., which operates the CHR business, that it was tendering an offer to purchase shares of
CHR not held by the Company. The tender offer period began on January 3, 2005 and closed on March 31, 2005. All remaining
outstanding shares of CHR not held by the Company were tendered by March 31, 2005. Generally, CHR stockholders that owned
their shares for a period of at least six months and one day prior to the day that the shares were purchased by the Company were
eligible to tender their shares under this offer. The Company paid $12.50 per share for 279,786 shares tendered by CHR share-
holders, or $3.5 million, on April 8, 2005.

Purchase Obligations. The Company has a purchase commitment to a vendor for the purchase of certain customized store equipment,
which is used in the normal course of business, pursuant to a contract which extends through November 2007. The outstanding
balance under this purchase commitment as of March 31, 2005 was $9.1 million. The Company also has contractual commitments
to purchase the safety stock of paper stored at the suppliers’ warehouses for future use by the Company. As of March 31, 2005,
there were approximately $3.0 million of paper stock for which the Company was committed to purchase in the event the
suppliers’ services are terminated by the Company,

Capital Expenditures. Our primary capital expenditures are for store equipment and third-party store installation and upgrade costs,
as well as data processing equipment for our central data processing facilities. Total store equipment and third-party store installation
costs for the Catalina Marketing Network® range from $3,000 to $13,000 per store. Capital expenditures were $22.5 million for fis-
cal year 2005 compared with $26.4 million for fiscal year 2004. Capital expenditures were lower in fiscal year 2005 as compared
with fiscal year 2004 primarily because of fewer installations of retail point-of-sale equipment. The pace of retail point-of-sale
installations varies depending on the timing of contracts entered into with retailers and the scheduling of store installations by
mutual agreement. We typically finance our capital expenditures for in-store equipment with cash generated from operations.

The Company currently expects to spend approximately $40 million to $50 million for capital expenditures in fiscal year 2006.
However, the amount of such capital expenditures could vary significantly depending upon the timing of execution of certain
Company initiatives. The increase in capital expenditures expected for fiscal year 2006 is primarily due to increased purchases for
store equipment, including approximately $20 million attributable to the expected installation of the Catalina Marketing Network®
in Walgreens, as noted above. In addition, the Company expects to increase spending for store equipment and software develop-
ment related to our initiative to enhance our network’s interface with consumers, which is expected to include enhanced print
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quality with full graphic and color capabilities (“color printers”). We are currently working on a project to deploy color printers
to replace certain existing printers and expect the implementation of this project to begin in fiscal year 2006 and extend into
future periods. The total expected capital requirzement for this initiative cannot yet be determined, but we anticipate it will
exceed the average annual capital investments expended for store equipment during the last three years. The Company expects
that our cash flow from operations combined with borrowings under our existing revolving credit facility will be sufficient to
finance these capital investments. The color printer project is in the initial stages of development and there can be no certainty
that the amount or timing of the capital requiremerits will proceed as expected.

Contingent Earnout Payment. As part of the Restructuring and Amendment Agreement executed in 1999 between the Company
and the joint venture partners in the Company’s Japanese coupon operations, the Company is obligated to pay the joint venture
partners a final deferred earnout payment based on the future operating results of the Catalina Marketing Japan coupon business.
The contingency stipulates a potential earn-out payment based on a predetermined formula. The Company is not able to esti-
mate the amount, or a range of the possible amount, of the contingent payment because the Company is not able to reasonably
estimate the future earnings of its Japan coupon business over four consecutive quarters during a time period ending between
2006 and 2007, which is the basis of the calculation of the contingent payment. The ultimate amount of this payment, if any,
could be material.

Stock Repurchases. On September 1, 2004, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized $100.0 million of
funds to be available for the repurchase of the Company’s common stock. This authorization replaced the $44.0 million unused
portion of the previous $100.0 million common stock repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors in July 2002.

The Company repurchased 1.7 million shares of its common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 for a total of
$44.2 million. During fiscal year 2004, the Company repurchased 749,200 shares of our common stock for a total of $13.3 mil-
lion. During fiscal year 2003, the Company repurchased 3.1 million shares of our common stock for a total of $72.0 million.

Prior to the purchase of shares during the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company had not purchased shares since June 2003.
Subsequent to June 2003, the Company was precluded from stock repurchases under the terms of the Prior Facility until that
facility was replaced on August 27, 2004 with the August 2004 Credit Facility which does not contain this restriction. The
Company intends to use cash flows from operations and funds available under the August 2004 Credit Facility to finance the
remaining authorized repurchases of its common stock.

As of March 31, 2005, there was $55.8 million remaining under the September 1, 2004 authorization to repurchase shares. Factors
governing the future repurchase of the Company’s common stock will include consideration of the market price of the common
stock at the time of the contemplated repurchase. This authorization will expire when the total dollar amount authorized by the
Company’s Board of Directors has been expended.

Sales Tax Assessment

A sales and use tax audit for the period January 1, 1991 to June 30, 1993 was conducted by a state taxing authority resulting in an
assessment of sales tax on the revenue generated from our electronic marketing delivery service conducted within that state. We
subsequently appealed this assessment to the relevant state tax tribunal. The tax tribunal held that our electronic marketing deliv-
ery activities were taxable in their entirety. In March 2002, the state’s intermediate court of appeals affirmed the decision of the
tax tribunal. We appealed the case to the state’s Supreme Court and, in May 2004, the state’s Supreme Court vacated the prior
decision, remanded the case back to the tax tribunal and directed the tax tribunal to apply a different legal test. In July 2004, the
state’s tax tribunal ruled in our favor. In October 2004, the state’s Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the tax tribunal. As a
result, we reversed a liability related to the sales tax assessment of approximately $4.4 million, recognized as a reduction to direct
operating expenses during the third quarter of fiscal year 2005.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We have identified certain financial areas that require estimates and judgments such that, if these estimates and judgments were
to change, results of operations could materially differ. Management makes these estimates and judgments in the normal course
of business as required pursuant to U.S. GAAP. The impact and any associated risks related to these estimates on our results of
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operations are discussed throughout Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations where such changes in
estimates affected our reported financial results. A detailed discussion of the related accounting policies, and other significant
accounting policies, can be found in Item 8—"“Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Note 2.”

Impairment Testing of Goodwill. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we are required to test goodwill for impairment at least
annually. Changes in management’s judgments and estimates could significantly affect our analysis of the impairment of good-
will. To test goodwill for impairment, we are required to estimate the fair value of each of its reporting units. Since quoted mar-
ket prices in an active market are not available for our reporting units, we use other valuation techniques. We have developed a
model to estimate the fair value of the reporting units, primarily incorporating a discounted cash flow valuation technique. This
model incorporates our estimates of future cash flows, allocations of certain assets and cash flows among reporting units, future
growth rates and management’s judgment regarding the applicable discount rates to use to discount those estimated cash flows.
We estimate a corporate-wide weighted average cost of capital to use as the discount rate. This rate is applied to our reporting
units until such time that we decide to divest those units. At such time, we apply an entity-specific discount rate to the cash
flows of the reporting units. Changes to these judgments and estimates could result in a significantly different estimate of the fair
value of the reporting units which could result in an impairment of goodwill. For example, 2 one percentage point increase in
the discount rate used would have increased the goodwill impairment charge recognized in fiscal year 2004 by $4.2 million, such
that goodwill for DMS and CMRS would have been reduced to $0 during fiscal year 2004. Goodwill assigned to the operating
segments of CMS, CHR and International are not highly sensitive to changes in assumptions due to the fact that the estimated
fair value of the reporting units in these operating segments significantly exceeds the amount of goodwill attributed to the

reporting units.

Impairment Testing of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we review our long-lived assets for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. When testing for
impairment, we are required to estimate the specific cash inflows and outflows expected to be generated from the long-lived
asset during its remaining useful life. Changes to management’s judgments and estimates used in determining the timing of testing,
the specific net cash flows related to the asset, the asset’s remaining useful life or the projected amount of future net cash flows
could materially affect the outcome of the impairment analysis. In addition, if the undiscounted cash flows are less than the
asset’s net book value, then management must determine the fair market value of the asset. Generally, quoted market prices in
active markets are not available for our significant long-lived assets. As such, management generally uses a discounted cash flow
technique to determine the fair value. Management’s assumptions regarding the discount rate used to apply to the forecasted
future net cash flows can also materially affect the outcome of the impairment analysis. During fiscal year 2005, there were no
significant long-lived asset groups for which we identified a triggering event requiring impairment testing.

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial state-
ment carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and,
if necessary, establish a valuation allowance based on historical taxable income, projected future taxable income, the expected
timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences and the implementation of tax-planning strategies. If we are unable to
generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions, or if there is a material change in the actual effective tax
rates or time period within which the underlying temporary differences become taxable or deductible, we may be required to
increase our valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets resulting in an increase in our effective tax rate and an adverse

impact on operating results.

Tax Contingencies. Despite our belief that our tax positions are consistent with applicable tax laws, we believe that certain positions
are likely to be challenged by taxing authorities. Settlement of any challenge can result in no change, a complete disallowance or
some partia] adjustment reached through negotiations or litigation. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax contin-
gencies. Our contingencies are adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress of our tax audits as well
as evolving case law. Our income tax expense includes the impact of contingency provisions and changes to our contingencies
that we consider appropriate. Unfavorable settlement of any particular issue would require use of our cash. Favorable resolution
would be recognized as a reduction to income tax expense at the time of resolution. We have incorporated historical experience
and the previously mentioned factors into the determination of each of these estimates and historically we have not, except for
the sales tax assessment discussed above, experienced significant adjustments.
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Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

SFAS No. 151. In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4”
(“SFAS No. 151”). SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting
for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material (spoilage). Paragraph 5 of ARB 43,
Chapter 4, previously stated that “...under some circumstances, items such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double
freight and rehandling costs may be so abnormal as to require treatment as current period charges...” SFAS No. 151 requires that
those items be recognized as current period charges regardless of whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal.” In addition,
this Statement requires that allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS No. 151 to have a material effect on its results of operations or financial condition.

SFAS No. 153. In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets—an amendment of
APB Opinion No. 29” (“SFAS No. 153”). SFAS No. 153 amends Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the
exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of non-
monetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash
flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. SFAS No. 153 is effective for fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 153 to have a material effect on its
results of operations or financial condition.

SFAS No. 123R. In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No.
123R”). SFAS No. 123R replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“Opinion No. 25”). SFAS No. 123 established, as preferable, a fair-value-
based method of accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees, but permitted the continued application of
the guidance in Opinion No. 25, as long as the notes to the financial statements disclosed what net income would have been had
the fair-value-based method been used. The Company elected to record the effect of share-based payments in accordance with
Opinion No. 25 and disclosed the effect of SFAS No. 123 in its notes to the financial statements. SFAS No. 123R will require
compensatijon cost relating to share~based payment transactions to be recognized in financial statements.

The cost of equity instruments will generally be measured based on the fair value of the instruments at the date of issue using an
option-pricing model. Companies can adopt one of two transition methods for options issued prior to the effective date of SFAS
No. 123R, either the “modified-prospective transition” or the “modified-retrospective transition.” Under the modified-prospective
transition approach, companies recognize expense for stock options that were granted subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.
and recognize expense for any unvested stock options that vest subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.. Under the
modified-retrospective approach, companies will be allowed to show prior period financial statements as if SFAS No. 123R had
been in effect for all of the years presented.

SFAS No. 123R is effective for the Company as of April 1, 2006. The Company has not determined the amount of compensation
expense that will result from the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, but expects the amount to have a material effect on its results
of operations.

Risk Factors
Risk Factors Relating to Our Business

Increased competition could reduce the demand for our services, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and business prospects.

Competition in the promotions and marketing services business is intense and includes many competitors. We compete for consumer
packaged goods and pharmaceutical manufacturer advertising and consumer promotion budgets with a wide range of media
including television, radio, print and direct mail advertising, as well as several alternative in-store and point-of-sale programs.
While we believe we provide unique, cost-effective targeted marketing services, there are many parameters on which a consumer
packaged goods manufacturer, pharmaceutical manufacturer or retailer may base its decision to allocate advertising or promotional
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expenditures, and there can be no assurance that our services will continue to compete effectively against other formats or that con-
sumer packaged goods and pharmaceutical manufacturers and retailers will continue to use our marketing services. We also expect
our competitors to continue to improve the performance of their current products or services, to reduce sales prices of their existing
products and services and to introduce new products or services that may offer greater performance and improved pricing. In addi-
tion, changes in technology may enable merchants and retail companies to implement or install their own proprietary point-of-sale
systems or provide other solutions for the distribution of incentives and messages. See Item 1—"Business—Competition.”

A shift in consumer purchasing trends for certain categories of products from traditional retail supermarkets may cause a decrease
in the utilization of our services.

Significant retailers including mass marketers and value chains do not use us for their marketing services for the distribution of
coupons, incentives and messages. Many retailers utilize our competitors for such services and some conduct such services in-house
or otherwise allocate their marketing dollars to other channels. Mass marketers and value chains have significantly increased their
presence in the grocery business and retail industry over the last several years. Many mass marketers and value chains, including
‘Wal-Mart, are not our clients. As mass marketers and value chains such as Wal-Mart increase their presence in the grocery busi-
ness, the percentage of retail grocery purchases that occur in stores where our networks are installed may decrease. The impact of
the increased presence of mass marketers and value chains is particularly pronounced in certain product categories. In addition, if
consumers continue to shift to alternative shopping channels, like club stores, mass merchandisers and value chains, the ability
and effectiveness of the Catalina Marketing Network® to reach retail shoppers may decline. Any such change in shopping behavior
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Our success depends on our relationships with retailers and pharmacies that provide access to consumers in their retail locations
and pharmacies.

We depend on retail stores and pharmacies to provide access to transactions with consumers and allow us to install the Catalina
Marketing Network® and Health Resource Network on their premises. We believe that our relationships with our current retail
and pharmacy clients are strong, however, in the past, some retailers and pharmacies have required us to remove our network
from their stores or negotiate significantly different or less advantageous terms in order for us to maintain networks in their stores.
Should any of our significant retailers or pharmacy chains reduce in size, cease to exist, not renew our agreements, require us to
remove our network equipment or negotiate terms with us which are less advantageous than our current agreements, the ability
and effectiveness of the Catalina Marketing Network® or Health Resource Network to reach retail shoppers and access transac-
tions and/or the profitability of our operations could be reduced.

Consolidations between our current retail and pharmacy base and companies that do not utilize our networks may decrease the
installation base of our network and reduce the utilization of our services. Internationally, certain value chains and mass marketers
continue to make acquisitions in the grocery industry. Further significant acquisitions and consolidations could have a material
impact on our ability to maintain and expand our international operations.

We may fail to develop new services and achieve future growth.

A key element of our growth strategy is the development and sale of new services. While new services are currently under
development, there can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully develop and market new services. Our inability or
failure to devise new marketing services or to complete the development or implementation of particular services for use on a
large scale, or the failure of such services to achieve market acceptance, could adversely affect our ability to achieve a significant
part of its growth strategy and the absence of such growth could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of opera-
tions and financial condition. To retain and attract manufacturers, retailers and pharmacies, we believe that we must continue
to introduce additional successful services. The development and deployment of new services may require significant capital
expenditures on development and client education.

Our proposed enhanced and expanded service offerings will require significant capital expenditures in areas in which we have not
established a track record.

We have announced that we anticipate deploying color printers in our existing retail network in place of our existing black~and-
white printers, and that we have and continue to pursue agreements to install our networks in new retail channels, including
retail drug stores. These efforts will require a substantial increase in our capital expenditures. In addition, these efforts differ to
some degree from our historical business and, as a result, carry additional risks.
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The deployment of color printers in our existing retail network will require substantial capital expenditures to acquire and install
such printers and, in some instances, will replace existing black-and-white printers that may not have reached the end of their
useful lives, but which we may attempt to redeploy elsewhere. Color printers will require new and additional efforts and potential
costs to be expended by our retailers, including logistics and other steps not required by our current black-and-white printers.
While we are working with printer vendors to try to simplify the use and servicing of such printers, we cannot assure you that
difficulties will not be encountered in installing, using and servicing such printers. In addition, while we expect color printing to
enhance the effectiveness of cur clients’ marketing efforts, a track record verifying such goal has not yet been established. Hence,
the deployment of color printers will involve the use of a substantial amount of capital with a risk that difficulties will be
encountered in installing and using them and that they may not gain the acceptance we desire from retailers and our manufac-
turer clients. Such outcome could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

The deployment and expansion of our existing networks in new retail channels and markets that we have not historically served,
including the retail drug store market will require a significant amount of capital expenditures. Manufacturer clients using our services
for new retail channels may differ, to some extent, from our historical client base due to the nature and quantity of items carried in
these retail channels. While we expect the deployment of our network in new retail channels to enhance the effectiveness of our
clients’ marketing efforts, a track record verifying such goal has not yet been established. As a result, the deployment of our net-
work in new retail channels will involve the use of a substantial amount of capital with a risk that it may not gain the acceptance
we desire from our clients. Such result could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Loss of data center capacity or interruption of telecommunication links could adversely affect our business.

Our ability to protect our data centers against damage from fire, power loss, telecommunications failure or other disasters is criti-
cal to our future. We believe we have taken reasonable precautions to protect our data centers and telecommunication links from
events that could interrupt our operations. Any damage to our data centers or any failure of our telecommunications links that
causes interruptions in our operations could materially adversely affect our ability to meet our clients’ requirements, which could
result in decreased revenues, income and earnings per share.

A breach of our network security could result in liability to us and deter customers from using our services.

Our networks may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer viruses and other disruptive problems. Any of the foregoing
problems could result in liability to us and deter customers from using our services. Unauthorized access could jeopardize the
security of confidential information related to our Company stored in our computer systems. Eliminating computer viruses and
alleviating other security problems may require interruptions, delays or cessation of service, cause us to incur significant costs to
remedy the problem and divert management’s attention. We can provide no assurance that the security measures we have imple-
mented will not be circumvented or that any failure of these measures will not have a material adverse effect on our ability to
obtain and retain customers. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights may harm our competitive position, and litigation to protect our intellectual
property rights may be costly.

‘We hold United States and foreign patents on various aspects of the process of promotion and communication distribution, and
have applied for additional patents. In addition, we regard certain computer software and each service application as proprietary
and attempt to protect them through copyright and trade secret laws and internal non-disclosure agreements and similar safe-
guards. Certain aspects of our services may not be adequately protected from infringement or copying. Further, there can be no
assurance that our patents or trademarks would be upheld if challenged or that competitors might not develop similar or superior
processes or services outside the protection of any patents issued to us.

Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our patents or other intellectual property rights, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or operating results. The actions we take to protect our patents and other proprietary
rights may not be adequate. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets or
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. We cannot assure you that we will be able to prevent infringe-
ment of our intellectual property rights or misappropriation of our proprietary information. In addition, litigation is time-consuming
and expensive to defend and could result in the diversion of our time and resources. Any claims from third parties may also result
in limitations on our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims. See Item 1—“Business—Intellectual Property.”
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Intellectual property litigation against us may be costly and could result in the loss of significant rights.

We expect that, as we continue to expand our service offerings and the number of competitors in targeted marketing grows, we
may be increasingly subject to intellectual property infringement, unfair competition and related claims against us. Third parties
may also seek to invalidate certain of our patents. In addition, competitors and third parties may, in the future, name our clients
as defendants in lawsuits, which may cause these clients to terminate their relationships with us. Our efforts to defend these
actions may not be successful. Our failure to prevail in this type of litigation could result in our paying monetary damages
(which could be tripled if the infringement is found to have been willful); an injunction requiring us to stop offering our services
in their current form; our having to redesign our technology and business methods, which could be costly and time-consuming,
even where a redesign is feasible; or our having to pay fees to license intellectual property rights, which may result in unanticipated
or higher operating costs. Any third-party claims, with or without merit, could be time consuming, result in costly litigation and
damages, cause us to reduce or alter our services, delay or prevent service enhancements or require us to enter into royalty or

licensing agreements.

Legislation relating to consumer privacy and changes in government regulations may affect our ability to deliver messages and
incentives and collect data that we use in providing our marketing services, which could negatively affect our ability to satisfy our
clients’ needs.

The enactment of legislation arising from public concern over consumer privacy issues could have a material adverse impact on
our marketing services. Any such legislation could place restrictions upon the collection and use of information that is currently
legally available, which could materially increase our cost of managing or collecting some data. Legislation or industry regulation
could also prohibit us from collecting or disseminating certain types of data, coupons, promotions, messages or newsletters, which
could adversely affect our ability to meet our clients’ requirements.

With respect to CHR’s Health Resource Network, our ability to provide consumers with condition-specific health information
and direct-to-patient communications may be adversely affected by concerns over heath regulatory guidelines and publicity
regarding a patient’s rights to privacy. Regulatory changes in some jurisdictions have increased manufacturer and retailer sensi-
tivity and selectiveness as to what types of messages they will distribute in these jurisdictions. While we are currently working
with our manufacturer and retailer clients to find an adequate solution to these concerns, there is no guarantee that we will be
able to continue to distribute prints for these clients or that there will not be additional changes in the laws and regulations in
these and other jurisdictions that will further impact our operations. See Item 1—"“Government Regulation.”

Ongoing review of our public filings by the SEC may result in the further amendment or restatement of our periodic reports. If
any of the foregoing occurred, there could be a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock and our ability to
access the capital markets.

The SEC may provide us with comments on these filings or any of our previous filings, which would require us to amend or
restate previously filed periodic reports. If we are required to amend or restate our periodic filings, investor confidence may be
reduced and our stock price may substantially decrease.

Compliance with recently enacted changes in the securities laws and regulations, imcluding the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, is
likely to increase our costs.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that became law in July 2002 (the “Act”) has required changes in some of our corporate gover-
nance, securities disclosure and compliance practices. In response to the requirements of that Act, the SEC and the NYSE have
promulgated new rules. Compliance with these new rules has increased our legal and financial and accounting costs, and we
expect these increased costs to continue indefinitely. We also expect these developments to make it more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced coverage or incur sub-
stantially higher costs to maintain or obtain coverage. In addition, these developments may make it more difficult for us to attract
and retain qualified members of our board of directors or qualified executive officers.

Due to inherent limitations, there can be no assurance that our system of disclosure and internal controls and procedures will be
successful in preventing all errors or fraud, or in informing management of all material information in timely manner.

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and internal controls and procedures
will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable,
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not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-
making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented
by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control.

The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over
time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and may not be detected.

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of financial statements
in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Any changes in estimates, judgments and assumptions could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position and results of operations.

The consolidated and condensed consolidated financial statements included in the periodic reports we file with the SEC are prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of
financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP involves making estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently subject to
change in the future, and any such changes could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues,
expenses and income. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Changes to financial accounting standards may affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards could have a significant effect on our reported results and may affect our reporting of transac-
tions before the change is effective. New pronouncements and varying interpretations of existing pronouncements have occurred
and may occur in the future. Changes to existing accounting rules or the application of existing U. S. GAAP may adversely
affect our reported financial results, which could result in a decrease in the value of your shares.

Risks Related to the Investigations and Shareholder Lawsuits

We are the subject of a formal investigation by the SEC. If the investigation was to result in a regulatory proceeding or action
against us, then our business and financial condition could be harmed.

On March 4, 2004, the SEC issued a formal order of private investigation of the Company. This action follows an SEC informal
investigation initiated by the SEC after our representatives contacted the SEC on June 30, 2003, to inform the SEC of certain
revenue recognition timing issues that our management identified at CHR. We believe that the SEC inquiry is focused primarily
on the revenue recognition timing issues at CHR during fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, which fiscal years were the subject of
the various adjustments and restatements described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003.
We are cooperating with the SEC. As of the date hereof, we are not aware of any additional inquiry or investigation having been
commenced against us related to these matters, but we cannot predict whether or not any such regulatory inquiry or investigation
will be commenced or, if it is, the outcome of any such inquiry or investigation. If the current or any future investigation was to
result in action against the Company, our business and financial condition could be harmed. See Item 3—“Legal Proceedings—
Government Investigations.”

We, and certain of our current and former officers and directors, are defendants in several stockholder class action lawsuits.

The Company, and certain present and former officers and directors of the Company and CHR, were named as defendants in
numerous complaints purporting to be class actions which were consolidated in the United States District Court for the Middle
District of Florida. The complaints seek unspecified compensatory damages and other relief. In addition, certain present and for-
mer officers and directors of the Company and CHR,, and Catalina Marketing, as a nominal defendant, have been named in two
shareholder derivative actions. The plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory damages, restitution of improper salaries, insider
trading profits and payments from us, and disgorgement under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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We intend to vigorously defend against these lawsuits. We cannot currently predict the impact or resolution of this litigation or
reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, which could be material, and the resolution of these lawsuits may harm our business
and have a material adverse impact on our financial condition. Securities lawsuits may result in substantial costs, divert manage-
ment’s attention and other resources, and have a material and adverse effect on our financial condition and the results of our

operations in the future.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our principal market risks are interest rates on various debt instruments and foreign exchange rates in the Company’s

international operations.

Interest Rates

We centrally manage our domestic debt and consider investment opportunities and risks, tax consequences and overall financing
strategies. This domestic debt consists of a line of credit with interest rates based on the Prime Rate, the Eurodollar Rate or the
Federal Funds Rate. International debt relates to our Japan subsidiary and is used to fund the purchases of coupon equipment and
for day-to-day operations. A 100 basis point change in interest rates, based on the average outstanding indebtedness for fiscal year
2005, would have resulted in a corresponding change in interest expense of approximately $0.6 million.

Foreign Operations

Our operations outside of the United States expose us to movements in currency exchange rates, which can be volatile at times.
The economic impact of currency exchange rate movements on us is complex because such changes are often linked to variances
in real growth, inflation, interest rates, governmental actions and other factors. These changes, if material, could cause us to
change our financing and operating strategies.

The aggregate foreign currency exchange transaction effects included in determining consolidated results of operations include
a gain of $1.1 million in our consolidated net income in fiscal year 2005, a $0.6 million gain in our consolidated net income in
fiscal year 2004 and a $1.3 million gain in fiscal year 2003. We have not utilized derivative financial instruments to reduce the
effect of fluctuating foreign currencies. We estimate that, based upon our fiscal year 2005 and fiscal year 2004 net income in local
currency, a 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would not have resulted in a material impact to net income in either
fiscal year 2005 or fiscal year 2004. We believe that this quantitative measure has inherent limitations because it does not take into
account the impact of macroeconomic factors or changes in either results of operations or our financing and operating strategies.

Qur revenues from continuing foreign operations represented approximately 15.6% of our total revenues from continuing opera-

tions in fiscal year 2005, 12.1% in fiscal year 2004 and 7.8% in fiscal year 2003. For a discussion on the effect of changes in foreign
currency exchange rates on the Company’s revenues for fiscal year 2005, see in Item 7—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Foreign Currency Translation and Its Effect on Revenues.”
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, based
on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on its assessment and those criteria, management concluded that the Company

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005,
has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered certified public accounting firm, as stated in their

report which appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Catalina Marketing Corporation:

We have completed an integrated audit of Catalina Marketing Corporation’s 2005 consolidated financial statements and of its
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005 and audits of its 2004 and 2003 censolidated financial statements
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on
our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Catalina Marketing Corporation and its subsidiaries at March 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their opera-
tions and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these state-
ments in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluat-
ing the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 8, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005 based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An
audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evalu-
ating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control and performing such
other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Tampa, Florida

June 10, 2005 i )
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Catalina Marketing Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended March 31,

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)
REVEIUES « o ot e $410,062 $408,632 $383,849,
Costs and expenses:
Direct operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown below). . . 129,449 140,401 147,502
Selling, general and administrative .. ... ... ... .. e 129,365 124,856 109,345
Depreciation and amortization. . . .. ... ...t e 42,446 45,243 40,869
Total costs and XPenses. . ... ...t i it e e 301,260 310,500 297,716
Income from Operations . ... .. ...ttt e e 108,802 98,132 86,133
Interest (EXPEMNSE) . . .. v vttt e e (1,490) (2,935) (1,849)
Other income (EXPenses), ML . . ...ttt t ittt it e e 2,940 2,399 (1,012)
Income before INCOME taAXES . . . o i\ttt e ettt e e e e e e 110,252 97,596 83,272
Provision for INCOMmMIE taXes. . . . . o vttt it e e e 41,656 37,199 31,708
Income from continuing operations .. .............. i 68,596 60,397 51,564
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) of discontinued operations . . .. ....... ... .. ... . i (4,272) (78,900) 3,534
Gain on dispositions of discontinued operations, net . ............... .. ......... 1,128 — —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . . . ........ ... (3,144) (78,900) 3,534
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of $0.6 million tax benefit . ............. — (770) —
Netincome (loss). . ..ottt e e e e e ¥ 65,452 $(19,273)  $ 55,098
Earnings per share—basic:
Income per common share from continuing operations . .. ..........c..c.uue.... $ 131 $ 115 $ 095
Income (loss) from discontinued Operations. . .. ....... ittt (.06) (1.50) 0.06
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ....... .. .. ... ... ... . ... ... ... ... — (0.02) —
Net income (loss) per commonshare. .. ... ... it $ 125 $ (037) § 101
Weighted average common shares outstanding. . . ......... .. ... ... .. ... ... 52,167 52,304 54,474
Earnings per share—diluted: '
Income per common share from continuing operations . . . ..., $ 131 $ 115 $§ 094
Income (loss) from discontinued operations. ... ... ...t e (.06) (1.50) 0.06
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ....... ... . ... ... . ... . i — (0.02) —
Net income (loss) per commonshare. .. ... .ttt $ 125 $ ©37) § 1.00
Weighted average common shares outstanding. . . ... ... .. ot ii i 52,356 52,324 54,885




Catalina Marketing Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of March 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands, except share data)
Assets
Current Assets
Cashand cash equivalents . . . ... ... . . $ 116,191 $ 72,704
Accounts receivable, met . . ... e 58,708 56,963
VNt Oy o e e 4703 5,836
Investments held In trust. . . .. ..o . 4,633 5,356
Deferred tax assel . . ... oottt e e e 6,108 8,536
Prepaid billboard rental . . ... ... — 3,296
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets . ... .......... . ... .. 4,925 6,306
Total current assets. . . .. e e e 195,268 158,997
Property and equipment
Store eqUIPIMENt .. ... .. . e 222,897 231,070
Furniture and office equipment . . . ... .. .. ... 57,191 59,420
Building . . .. e 22,296 22,296
Billboards .. ... e e e — 14,556
Building and other improvements . ... ... ... ... L 8,926 9,573
SO WaLE oo e 38,507 40,974
Land . . e 4,110 4110
353,927 381,999
Less: accumulated depreciation .. .. ... ... e (250,591) (255,156)
Property and equipment, net. ... ... ... 103,336 126,843
GoodWill . .o e e 80,495 84,743
Patents, NEt. . . . e e e e 11,681 13,472
OthEr a850ES. « o oot e e e 1,958 2,754
TOta) ASSBES. & . ottt et e e e e $ 392,738 $ 386,809
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable. . . ... e $ 21,032 $ 15,372
Income taxes payable. . .. ... 6,810 3,127
Accrued eXPEISES . . . .. 62,137 65,778
Deferred reVEnUE. . . o vt it e e 28,457 35,730
Current portion of long-term debt . ... ... ... . . L 30,299 37,016
Total current liabilities. . . .. . . o e e 148,735 157,023
Long-term deferred tax liability . .. ... .. . . 9,738 9,827
Long-term debt. . . ..o e e e 34,324 29,908
Other long-term liabilities ... ... ... ... .. . .. . 3,567 4,475
Total Habilities . . . .ottt e e e 196,364 201,233
Commitments and contingencies
MINOTIEY INTETESE. « o oo vt ettt ettt e e e e e — 914
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 5,000,000 authorized shares; none issued and outstanding. . . . . — —
Common stock, $.01 par value; 150,000,000 authorized shares; 50,760,666 and 52,134,462
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively . ................ 508 521
Paid-in capital . . . ... — 2,485
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) .. .. ... o e 251 (312)
Retained earnings . . .. ... oot 195,615 181,968
Total stockholders’ equity. . . ... .. 196,374 184,662
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. .. ....... ... ... ... ... . . oo $ 392,738 $ 386,809

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Catalina Marketing Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income {Loss)

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2002 . . ... . e e
Issuance of common Stock . .. .. ..
Increase in investment in subsidiary, net of tax ... .. ... . .. L
Tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock options and disqualified dispositions. . .. ............. ...
Repurchase, retirement and cancellation of commonstock . .. ... ... .. L L L
Deferred compensation plan common stock units and Directors’ common stock grants. .. ................
NEt INCOIMIE . . ot ettt e e e e e e e e $ 55,098
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . .. .. .. .. e 923 _
Comprehensive INCOME . . .. ..ttt et e et e $ 56,021
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2003 . .. .. e e e e e
Issuance of cOMMON SEOCK . . . ...t e e
Increase in investment in subsidiary, net of tax . .. .. ... .. L
Tax benefit from exercise of non~qualified stock options and disqualified dispositions. . .. ................
Repurchase, retirement and cancellation of common stock ... ... ... ... L L o o
Deferred compensation plan commeon stock units and Directors’ common stock grants. .. ................
L 53 -1 T $(19,273)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . .. .. ... .. e (601)
Comprehensive Joss . . ..o e e $(19,874)
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2004 . .. ... e e e
Issuance of common Stock . ... L L e
Increase in investment in subsidiary, net of taX . .. ... ... ... ...
Tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock options and disqualified dispositions. . .. ................
Repurchase, retirement and cancellation of common stock . . .. ... ..
Deferred compensation plan common stock units and Directors’ common stock grants. .. ................
Dividends. . . ...
NELINCOIME . . ottt et e e e e e e e e e $ 65,452
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . ... ... . .. L 563
Comprehensive INCOME . .. ... .. e $ 66,015
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2005 . .. .. e e e e e e e e

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated

Par Other
Number Value of Comprehensive Total
of Common Paid-in Income Retained Stockholders’
Shares Stock Capital (Loss) Earnings Equity
(In thousands)

55,336 $553 $ 7,667 $(634) $215,677 $223,263
430 5 7,358 — — 7,363
— — 243 — — 243

— — 1,951 — — 1,951
(3,132) (€X))] (14,819) — (57,123) (71,973)
121 1 (874) — — (873)

— — — — 55,098 55,098

— — — 923 — 923
52,755 528 1,526 289 213,652 215,995
89 1 1,430 — — 1,431

—_ — 25 — — 25

— — 271 — — 271
(749) (8) (888) — (12,411) (13,307)
39 - 121 — —_ 121
— — — — (19,273) (19,273)
— — — (601) — (601)
52,134 521 2,485 (312) 181,968 184,662
230 2 4,682 — — 4,684
— — 238 —_ — 238

— — 258 — — 258
(1,652) (16) (8,023) — (36,135) (44,174)
49 1 343 — — 344
— — 17 — (15,670) (15,653)

— — — — 65,452 65,452

— — — 563 — 563
50,761 $508 $ — $ 251 $195,615 $196,374
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Catalina Marketing Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (LOS5) « . ..ottt e $ 65,452 $(19,273)  $ 55,098
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation . . . ..ot i it e e 41,763 45,852 41,570
AMOTIZAtION . . . .ttt it e e e e 1,926 1,785 1,698
Impairment charges. . . ... ... . . L 4,907 85,565 1,225
Provision for (recoveries of) doubtful accounts . ........... ... ... (297) 1,075 1,103
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net-of-tax. .. ............... .. ...... — 770 —
Amortization of deferred financingfees. . .............. ... ... o oL 276 909 —
Deferred InNCOME tAXES . . . oottt ettt et et e it et e 2,394 2,177 (350)
Loss on sale of equipment and businesses . .. ....... ... ... ... L ... 1,994 2,488 564
Contribution of common stock to deferred compensation plan and directors. ... ... 344 121 (873)
Tax benefit from exercise of non-qualified stock options and disqualified dispositions . . 258 271 1,951
OHeT o e 456 (151) 2,110
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . . . .. e (4,101) 19,531 4,261
Inventory, prepaid expenses and otherassets ... ............ .. ... ... ....... 3,786 535 5,226
Accounts payable. . ... .. L 6,226 (3,754) 929
Taxes payable. . .. ... 4,602 (5,169) 1,200
Accrued eXpenses . ... e e (7,375) 7,241 2,335
Deferred revenue. . ... ot e e (4,620) (1,840) 456
Net cash provided by operating activities. . .. ......... ... ... . .. . ... .. 117,991 138,133 118,503
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures . . . ...t (22,527) (26,427) (42,555)
Proceeds from the sale of property, equipment and businesses . . .. ................ 5,850 451 126
Business acqUisitiOn PAYITIENTS . . o . o v v vttt e e e e (914) (23,787) (29,146}
Net cash used in investing activities. ... ... .. .. .. (17,591) (49,763) (71,575)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from (payments on) the Corporate Facility, net .. ....... ... .. ... .. .... 30,000 (12,000) 2,000
Payments on VIE indebtedness . . .. ... ... . e e (29,565) — —
Proceeds from Japan borrowings. .. ... .. ... . i 33,831 10,591 26,864
Payments on Japan borrowings . .. ... .. ... e (37,042) (3,718) (23,600)
Financing fees paid . . . . ... .. .. (714) (1,082) —
Proceeds from issuance of common and subsidiarystock . ... ...... ... ... L L. 4,922 1,684 7,928
Payment for repurchase of the Company’s commonstock . ...................... (44,174) (13,307) (71,973)
Dividends paid . .. . ... e (15,653) —_ —
Other . . e — — (324)
Net cash used in financing activities. . ............ ... ot ernn... (58,395) (17,832) (59,105)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash . ..., ... . .. .. . . . . L 1,482 451 236
Net change in cash and cash equivalents. . .. .. ... .. ... ... .. .. .. ... ... .... 43,487 70,989 (11,941)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year . .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ... ... ... 72,704 1,715 13,656
Cash and cash equivalents, atend of year .. ... ... ... . ... ... . i i $116,191 $ 72,704 $ 1,715
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year for
THEETESE . . o e $ 1,827 $ 1,787 $ 1,967
| Tolo) ¢ TR <1 $ 31,666 $ 33,263 $ 31,405

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Catalina Marketing Corporation
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of the Business and Basis for Presentation

Description of the Business. Catalina Marketing Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries (the “Company™),
provide behavior-based communications, developed and distributed for consumer packaged goods manufacturers, pharmaceutical
manufacturers and marketers and retailers. The Company’s primary business was developed to provide consumers with in-store
coupons delivered based upon purchase behavior and distributed primarily in supermarkets. Today, the Company offers behavior-
based, targeted-marketing services and programs globally through a variety of distribution channels. These marketing solutions,
including discount coupons, loyalty marketing programs, pharmacist and patient education newsletters, compliance mailings,
in-store instant-win games and other consumer communications, are delivered directly to shoppers by various means. By specifying
how a particular consumer transaction will “trigger” a promotion to print, manufacturers and retailers can deliver customized
incentives and messages to only the consumers they wish to reach. The Company tracks actual purchase behavior and uses
Universal Product Code-based scanner technology to target consumers at the checkout counter and National Drug Code infor-
mation to trigger delivery of customized communications to consumers during pharmacy prescription checkout transactions.

The Company is organized and managed by segments which include the following operations: Catalina Marketing Services (“CMS”),
Catalina Health Resource (“CHR”) and the international operations (“International”), which provides marketing services similar
to those services provided by CMS in the United States.

In November 2003, the Company announced its intent to divest Japan Billboard, Direct Marketing Services (“DMS”) and
Catalina Marketing Research Solutions (“CMRS”) which were deemed not to be strategically aligned with the Company’s current
core businesses. Japan Billboard operated a billboard and outdoor media business in Japan. DMS provided targeted direct mail
programs designed to market to consumers in their homes. CMRS provided a range of traditional marketing research services.
These three business units were sold during fiscal year 2005. Their results of operations are shown as discontinued operations in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 19,

The Company previously reported the activities of Retail Services and CMRS in a segment called “Other.” Effective April 1,
2004, the Company restructured the Retail Services and Manufacturer Services units by combining Retail Services and -
Manufacturer Services and renaming the segment Catalina Marketing Services. The combination was part of the Company’s
strategy to optimize its selling and administrative efforts. As a result of the combination and the sale of CMRS, the “Other”
segment is no longer a reported segment. Segment information for fiscal years 2004 and 2003 for Retail Services has been
reclassified to CMS to reflect the new segment reporting,

CMS serves the needs of domestic retailers and consumer product manufacturers, primarily within the consumer packaged goods
industry. Using the Catalina Marketing Network®, this operating segment specializes in behavior-based marketing communications
that are delivered at the point of sale. The primary service line of CMS is the in-store delivery of incentives and communications at
the checkout lane of a retailer, typically a supermarket. CMS links its proprietary software, computers, central databases and
printers with a retailer’s point-of-sale controllers and scanners. The network prints customized promotions and communications
at the point of sale based on product Universal Product Codes or other scanned information. The printed promotions and
communications are handed to consumers by the cashier at the end of the shopping transaction.

CHR services allow pharmaceutical and consumer packaged goods manufacturers, as well as retail pharmacies, to provide con-
sumers with condition-specific health information and direct-to-patient communications. CHRs primary service offerings use
an in-store, prescription-based targeting technology to provide targeted, direct-to-patient communications on behalf of the
Company’s clients. These communication services include messages and educational information to healthcare patients at the
pharmacy level throughout the Health Resource Network. The Health Resource Network is a proprietary software system with
built-in targeted response capabilities. Communications are primarily delivered to consumers based on a variety or combination
of factors including demographic data such as age and gender information, transactional data, primarily the National Drug Codes
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found on all prescription drugs and de-identified prescription history and information. CHR clients are able to use these com-
munications to provide information on a wide variety of products such as over-the-counter medicines, prescription medications
and other healthcare remedies and merchandise.

International operations include in-store electronic targeted marketing services for consumers in France, Italy, the United Kingdom,
Germany and Japan. The Catalina Marketing Network® operates internationally in a similar manner as the domestic CMS busi-
ness in offering a full range of targeted marketing solutions to many of the top consumer packaged goods manufacturers and
maintains relationships with major supermarket, hypermarket and other retailers based primarily on a syndicated platform.

Basis of Presentation. These Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in conformity with Accounting Principles
Generally Accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions
which, in the opinion of management, are significant to the underlying amounts included in the consolidated financial state-
ments and for which it would be reasonably possible that future events or information could change those estimates include
impairment of long-lived assets, the realization of deferred income tax assets and the resolution of tax and legal contingencies.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercom-
pany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The accounts of the wholly owned foreign subsidiaries are included for the
twelve months ended December 31, which is their fiscal year end, to facilitate the timing of the Company’s closing process.

The results of operations from the Company’s divested business units and the related net gain on disposition are reflected in the
accompanying statement of operations as discontinued operations. The results of operations of the discontinued business units for
fiscal years 2004 and 2003 have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. .

In addition, the Consolidated Financial Statements for fiscal years 2004 and 2003 include the accounts of a variable interest entity
from which the Company leased its headquarters facility in St. Petersburg, FL. The Company determined that it was the primary
beneficiary of this entity and, thus, consolidated the accounts of this entity pursuant to the requirements of Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN™) No. 46 (revised 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities—An
Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” The headquarters facility was purchased by the Company in fiscal year 2005. See Note 8.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the property and equipment section of the consolidated balance sheet at March 31,
2004 to conform to the current year presentation.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue. The Company delivers its targeted marketing services through various channels. The
following revenue recognition policies are followed for the Company’s significant revenue-generating segments and transactions:

Catalina Marketing Services and International

The Company’s CMS and International segments generate revenue primarily by providing in-store, electronic marketing delivery
services via the Catalina Marketing Network®. The amount of revenue recognized is based on the total incentives delivered
multiplied by a per-print fee. Delivered incentives include targeted promotions, messages and sweepstakes. The Company generally
bills clients a minimum category fee in advance of the actual delivery. Contracts for delivery include a minimum number of
targeted incentives or messages for a specified category, or categories, within a four-week period referred to as a “cycle.” The
delivery is based upon particular triggering transactions that are registered at the point of sale (i.e., the checkout counter of a
retail store). The majority of CMS contracts cover multiple cycles. The client is given the exclusive right to have incentives
delivered for a particular product category during the applicable cycle.

The Company has concluded that recognizing revenue as the incentives are delivered is a systematic and rational method that
represents the pattern over which the revenue is earned and the Company’s obligations to clients are fulfilled. Furthermore, the
Company believes that the exclusivity feature is not a separate deliverable apart from the delivery of the targeted incentive.
Therefore, the Company recognizes in-store electronic marketing service revenue as the incentives are delivered, provided col-
lection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Amounts collected prior to delivery are reflected as deferred revenue and
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subsequently recognized when (1) the incentives are delivered or (2) in full in the eighteenth month after the end of the last cycle
if the minimum number of incentives have not been delivered by the end of the last cycle specified in the contract. Occasionally, if
the minimum number of program incentives is not delivered within the applicable cycles, the remaining allotment of incentives
may be transferred to future cycles in order to permit the client to reach the contracted minimums.

In certain fixed-fee program arrangements where a fixed number of targeted incentives are not required, revenue is deferred and
recognized ratably over the particular cycle or cycles, regardless of the number of incentives delivered.

The Company engages in certain barter transactions with some of its retail clients, exchanging primarily in-store, electronic
marketing delivery services (“retail incentives”) for access to the retail client’s shoppers at the checkout. Access to the retail client
occurs when a manufacturer incentive is delivered. The barter transactions do not result in revenue recognition because the fair
value of the consideration received and the value of the retail marketing services delivered are not determinable within the crite-
ria established under U.S. GAAP. The retailers can defer the delivery of the Company’s retail incentives up to twelve months
after the initial exchange of consumer access. However, the Company estimates and accrues the projected costs to be expended
for the delivery of the retail incentives when access to the retail shopper is provided.

Catalina Health Resource

CHR generates revenues by providing targeted direct-to-patient communications in retail pharmacies, referred to as
PATIENTLink™, via the Health Resource Network. PATIENTLink™ includes prescription information, therapeutically
relevant editorial content and product information. The Company generally bills clients a minimum fee in advance of the delivery
of a fixed number of customized prints or “messages” within specified time periods, typically 6 to 15 months. Delivery is triggered
by transactions that are registered at the retail pharmacy’s point of sale. For particular triggers, the client is given the exclusive
right to have their messages delivered based upon a particular product category trigger during the applicable time period.

The Company has concluded that recognizing revenue as a PATIENTLink™ print is delivered is a systematic and rational method
that represents the pattern over which the revenue is earned and its obligations to clients are fulfilled. Furthermore, the Company
believes that the exclusivity feature is not a separate deliverable apart from the delivery of the customized newsletter. CHR rec-
ognizes revenue when the newsletter is delivered, provided collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Amounts
collected prior to delivery are deferred and recognized as revenue (1) when delivery occurs or (2) in full in the twelfth month
after the end of the last cycle specified in the contract. Occasionally, if the minimum number of customized newsletters is not
printed, the remaining allotment of messages may be extended or transferred to future periods in order to permit the client to
reach the contracted newsletter minimums.

In certain fixed-fee program arrangements where a fixed number of messages are not required, revenue is deferred and recognized
ratably over the particular period of the related contract, regardless of the number of customized newsletters delivered.

In some cases, a guaranteed level of performance on a direct-to-patient communication program is required, such as a required
minimum return on the client’s investment. When such an uncertainty about the client’s acceptance of program performance
exists, revenue is not recognized until such time that the client accepts the level of program performance.

Research and Development. The Company’s research and development efforts are generally for pilot-project execution to create,
test and support new applications for the Catalina Marketing Network® and Health Resource Network, market research, software
development, and system upgrades. For each of the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, expenditures for research
and development which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses, were $2.0 million, $1.2 million and $1.0 million,
respectively. These expenditures include internal and external labor primarily for the development of the Company’s networks.

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $0.6 million, $0.9 million and $2.3 million in
the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation. Balance sheet accounts are translated at exchange rates in effect at the end of the subsidiaries’ fiscal
year and income statement accounts are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year. Translation gains and losses
are included as a separate component of stockholders’ equity in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
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Foreign Currency Transactions. Net realized and unrealized gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in
Other income (expenses), net in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, and were a $1.1 million gain, a $0.6 million
gain and a $1.3 million gain for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share. For purposes of calculating the basic and diluted earnings per share, no adjustments have

been made to the reported amounts of net income (loss). The following is a reconciliation of the denominator of basic and diluted

earnings per share (“EPS”) computations shown on the face of the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements (in thousands):
Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding. . . ... ... ... L L 52,167 52,304 54,474
Dilutive effect of options outstanding. . .. ... ... . L e 189 20 411
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding . .. .. ... ... e 52,356 52,324 54,885

The following outstanding options were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would have been
anti-dilutive (in thousands except price per share data):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
Outstanding OPtionS. . . .. oo\ttt 5,113 4,305 5,767
Range of PriCes .. ..ot e e $26.31-$36.82 $18.13-§36.82 $26.31-$36.82

The Company repurchased 1.7 million, 0.7 million and 3.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock during fiscal years
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Cash and Cash Eguivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments. The short-term investments can
be immediately converted to cash and are recorded at fair value. Of the total amount of cash and cash equivalents as of March 31,
2005, $19.3 million is held by our France subsidiary and cannot be transferred to the United States without incurring applicable
income taxes. See Accounting Standards Adopted in Fiscal Year 2005—FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2 (“FAS 109-2"); FAS 109-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 below for additional information regarding the Company’s policy on its reinvestment of the earnings of its foreign subsidiaries.

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable are recorded on a gross basis less the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company
estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts based on existing economic factors, known information about the financial condi-
tion of the clients and the amount and age of the accounts. The accounts are generally written off after all collection attempts
have been exhausted. The Company records a provision for estimated doubtful accounts as part of direct operating expenses. The
following is a detail of the activity in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the years indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 2005 2004 2003

Beginning balafice . . . ... L e e $3,674 $ 3,911 $ 4,154
Increase (decrease) il PrOVISION . . oo v .ttt ittt e e et e e e e e e (297) 1,075 1,103
Account write-offs, Net Of TECOVETIES . . . ..\t i ittt et et e et e e (934) (1,312) (1,346)

Ending balance. . . .. o $2,443 $ 3,674 $ 3,911

The Company’s decrease in the provision for doubtful accounts in fiscal year 2005 is primarily due to the change in the status of
the collectibility of certain retail customer accounts for which a specific provision for uncollectibility had been recorded during
fiscal year 2004.
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Inventory. Inventory consists primarily of paper used for promotion printing and is located at clients’ locations, primarily in
supermarkets and retailers’ warehouses. The Company records paper usage primarily based on actual print length at the time the
promotion is delivered and uses the first-in, first-out method of costing. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the
straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets, as follows: store equipment—five years; furniture
and office equipment—five to ten years; building—thirty-nine and one-half years; building and other improvements—generally
seven to 10 years, but not to exceed the lease period; and software—amortized over the length of the software agreement, not to
exceed 5 years. Prior to the sale of the Company’s Japan Billboard business, billboards were depreciated using the straight-line
method over an estimated useful life of eight years. Third-party installation costs for store equipment, net of amounts reimbursed
by the retailer, are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related store
equipment. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized Software Development Costs. Costs for software developed for internal use are capitalized in accordance with AICPA
Statement of Position 98-1 (“SOP 98-1"), “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use,” and are amortized over five years. Computer software is internally developed to meet the Company’s internal requirements,
and no substantive plan exists or is being developed to externally market internally developed software. Computer software costs
that are incurred by the Company in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Certain other costs that meet the
criteria of SOP 98-1 are capitalized. These costs include external direct costs of materials, external services consumed in develop-
ing internal-use computer software, and specifically identifiable payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly
associated with the development of internal-use computer software. Training costs and data conversion costs are expensed by the
Company as incurred.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible
assets, net of the fair value of liabilities assumed in a business combination. Pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” (“SFAS No. 142”), as of April 1, 2001, goodwill is no longer amortized but
instead is subject to impairment tests to be performed at least annually, and more frequently if events and circumstances indicate
that impairment is likely. Impairment is indicated when the fair market value is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit.
Asset values determined to be impaired are expensed in the period when impairment is determined. To determine fair market
value, the Company uses a discounted cash flow approach, using the same assumptions as those used to develop the Company’s
three-year, long-range plan, updated as necessary based on the Company’s internally-generated monthly forecasts. The Company
incorporates a terminal value cash flow based upon an estimated future growth rate. During the fiscal years 2005, 2004 and
2003, the Company performed the required impairment testing. See additional discussion in Note 3.

Patents, Net. The amount capitalized to patents includes only those patents acquired from others, primarily arising from the
Company’s acquisitions of businesses. Patents are amortized over their estimated useful lives which range from 5 to 20 years,
using the straight-line method.

Impairment Testing of Long-Lived Assets. The Company reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If this review indicates that the
carrying value of the long-lived assets will not be recoverable, as determined based on the expected undiscounted future cash
flows of the long-lived assets, the Company’s carrying value of the long-lived assets is reduced by the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds fair value. For most instances, the Company uses a discounted cash flow approach to determine fair value.
Cash flows utilized in these analyses include the same assumptions as those used in the Company’s three-year, long-range plan,
updated as necessary based on the Company’s internally-generated monthly forecasts. During fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003,
the Company performed the required impairment testing. See additional discussion in Note 5.

Stock-Based Compensation. The Company accounts for option, stock grant and stock purchase plans under APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” under which approximately $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million in compen-
sation expense has been recognized for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company follows SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
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Disclosure,” for disclosure purposes only. Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. During fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company used the following
weighted average assumptions in its fair value calculations for those grants issued in the respective years:

Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Volatility .« o 45.1% 49.3% 42.0%
Risk-free rate (based on date of grant) . ... ... 3.6% 3.0% 3.7%
Expected dividend yield® ... 1.3% 0% 0%
Expected life . ... e 5years  6years 6 years

(1) The expected dividend yield is determined as of the date of the grant. The Company did not pay dividends prior to fiscal year 2005, The dividend yield component of
the option pricing model for the grants made in fiscal year 2005 was based on management’s expectation of future dividends to be paid over the life of the option.

The per share weighted average fair values of options granted in fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $9.56, $8.04 and $11.63,
respectively.

Had compensation expense for these plans been recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income (loss)
and earnings (loss) per share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2002

Net income (loss):

AS TEPOTIEd. . . . o e e $65,452  $(19,273)  § 55,098

Add stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax. . .. .. ... 238 262 417

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method

for all awards, met of tax{D .. .. (6,696) (10,706) (18,514)

Pro forma net income (10SS) . . . ... L e $58,994  $(29,717) $ 37,001
Basic EPS:

AS TEPOILEd. . o oo e $ 1.25 $ 037) % 1.01

Pro fOIma. . . oottt ittt e e e e e e $ 113§ (057) $ 0.68
Diluted EPS:

As Teported. . . L $ 1.25 % ©37) $ 1.00

Proforma. .. ... $ 1.13 $ (057) § 067
(1) Includes the following amounts for the purchase discount offered under the Company’s employee stock purchase plan. . .. .. $ 26 $ 387 $ 755

In fiscal year 2005, the Company reversed $5.6 million, net of income taxes, of previously reported pro forma stock compensation
expense due to forfeitures, as well as revisions to the estimated timing for actual vesting for performance-based options as compared
with the original period over which the Company believed the performance conditions would be met.

In fiscal year 2004, several of the Company’s executives left the Company prior to exercising their options and, as a result, their
unexercised options were forfeited. The pro forma compensation expense for fiscal year 2004 shown in the table above includes
a reversal of previously reported pro forma compensation expense of $10.1 million, net of income taxes, related to these
forfeited options.

On March 15, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the acceleration of vesting of all unvested options held by current
employees to purchase the Company’s common stock having an exercise price of $33.46 or greater. Options with respect to 316,220
shares of the Company’s common stock were subject to the acceleration, which was effective on March 31, 2005. Because these
options had exercise prices in excess of the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the approval of the
acceleration (were “underwater”), the Company’s Board of Directors determined that the acceleration would serve the best interests
of the shareholders by reducing future compensation expense of the Company. As a result of the acceleration of vesting of these
options, the Company expects to avoid compensation expense of approximately $4.6 million, net of income taxes, that would
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have otherwise been recognized under SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”, which the Company intends to
adopt effective April 1, 2006.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. At March 31, 2005 and 2004, the carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts pay-
able and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short~term nature of these financial instruments. The carrying value
of the Company’s short-term borrowings and long-term debt approximate fair value and are based on current interest rate and
credit spread assumptions.

Concentration of Risk. Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist
principally of trade accounts receivable. The Company’s revenue and related trade receivables are derived primarily from the sale
of in-store electronic marketing and direct-to-patient communications. Accounts receivable are due primarily from companies
located throughout the United States, Europe and Japan. Credit is extended based on an evaluation of the client’s financial condi-
tion and, generally, collateral is not required. At March 31, 2005, approximately 22.0% of Accounts receivable, net related to three
clients. The Company’s three largest clients accounted for approximately 22.2% of consolidated revenue for fiscal year 2005.

The Company relies on retail stores and pharmacies to provide access to their premises and consumers for the Catalina Marketing
Network® and Health Resource Network to be successful. The Company believes the impact to the networks with respect to a
loss of a single retail chain or pharmacy chain may be limited due to the diversity of participation. However, approximately 57.1%
of the delivered in-store promotional and communications incentives provided by CMS for its clients during the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2005, were generated from within the stores belonging to five retail chains. Also, over 87.2% of the delivered promo-
tional materials the Company provided for pharmaceutical clients during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 were generated
from within the pharmacies belonging to three retail pharmacy chains. If any of these five retail chains or three pharmacy chains
were to decide not to renew their contract with the Company, or if they reduce the number of point-of-sale locations, a material
reduction in revenues could result if these point-of-sale locations, or the transactions accessed at these locations, are not replaced.

During fiscal year 2004, the Health Resource Network was deinstalled in two retail pharmacy chains, Eckerd and CVS, which
represented approximately 6,500 stores in the Health Resource Network. Revenues generated from prints delivered at Eckerd
and CVS were approximately $9.9 million or 12.7% of total CHR revenue in fiscal year 2004, compared with $10.4 million or
16.5% of total CHR revenue in fiscal year 2003. At March 31, 2004, the Health Resource Network was installed in approxi-
mately 11,900 retail pharmacy outlets. At March 31, 2005, the Health Resource Network was installed in approximately 12,400
retail pharmacy outlets.

New Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Adopted in Fiscal Year 2005

FASB Staff Position No. 106-2 (“FSP 106-2"). FSP 106-2 “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “MMA”),” was issued in response to a new law regarding
prescription drug benefits under Medicare Part D, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that
provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. FSP 106-2, which supercedes FSP 106-1, provides
guidance related to the accounting for the effect of the subsidy on the Company’s postretirement health care plan at such time
that a conclusion has been reached that prescription drug benefits available under the plan to some or all participants for some or
all future years are “actuarially equivalent” to Medicare Part D and thus qualify for the subsidy under the MMA, and accounting
guidance for those circumstances in which the expected subsidy will offset or reduce the Company’s share of the cost of the
underlying postretirement prescription drug coverage on which the subsidy is based. The Company has determined the effect of
the subsidy on net periodic post-retirement benefit cost for future periods. See Note 17.

FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-1 (“FAS 109-1”). FAS 109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109 Accounting for Income
Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”)”
was issued and effective in December 2004, and provides guidance on the accounting for a special tax deduction created under
the Act for qualified production activities. The Company’s business activities do not meet the criteria and do not qualify for the
special tax deduction. Accordingly, the provisions of this accounting pronouncement are not applicable to the Company.
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FASB Staff Position No. FAS. 109-2. FAS 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” was issued and effective in December 2004, and allows additional
time for the evaluation of the effect of the Act on plans for reinvesting or repatriating foreign earnings for purposes of applying
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Based upon its evaluation, the Company has determined that it will not utilize
the Act’s special one-time dividend received deduction on the repatriation of certain foreign earnings, which is consistent with
management’s decision that the earnings of foreign subsidiaries have been and will continue to be indefinitely reinvested in for-
eign operations. Accordingly, since no amounts have been recognized under the Act, there is no effect on income tax expense in
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statemnents.

EITF 03-13. At its November 2004 meeting, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF 03-13,
“Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Whether to Report Discontinued
Operations” (“EITF 03-13”). This pronouncement provides guidance for (a) determining which cash flows should be considered
when assessing whether the cash flows of the disposed component have been eliminated from the ongoing operations of the com-
pany and (b) determining the definition of “continuing involvement” for purposes of evaluating the appropriateness of the
accounting for discontinued operations treatment pursuant to SFAS No. 144. The Company applied the guidance provided in
EITF 03-13 in accounting for the sale of its discontinued CMRS business segment during the third quarter of fiscal year 2005.

Accounting Standards Adopted in Fiscal Year 2004

SFAS No. 143. On April 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS
No. 143”), which requires the recognition of the fair value of obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets when there 1s a legal obligation to incur such costs. Upon initial recognition of a liability, the cost is capitalized as part of
the related asset and depreciated over the corresponding asset’s useful life.

Upon adoption, the Company recorded a net increase in property and equipment of $0.7 million and recognized an asset retirement
obligation of $2.1 million. This resulted in the recognition of a non-cash charge of $0.8 million, net of an income tax benefit of
$0.6 million, which is reported as a cumulative effect of an accounting change for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004. The
effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 143 is associated with Japan Billboard’s contractual obligation to remove certain billboards
upon termination or cancellation of the related financing agreement.

If SFAS No. 143 had been adopted on April 1, 2001, the liabilities recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets would have been
$2.0 million, $1.8 million and $2.0 million higher as of April 1, 2001, March 31, 2002 and March 31, 2003, respectively.

Additional pro forma information, assuming the adoption of SFAS No. 143 on April 1, 2001, is as follows for the year ended
March 31 (in thousands, except per share data):

2005 2004 2003
Reported net income (L0SS). . . . .ottt t it it e e e $65,452 $(19,273)  $55,098
Additional income, assuming the adoption of SFAS No. 143 on April 1,2001 ... ... ... ... ... ... — — 67
Pro forma net IMCOMIE. « . . . o\ et e e e e e e e $65,452 $(19,273)  $55,165
Reported diluted earnings (loss) pershare . ... ... L $ 125 ¢ 037y § 100
Additional income, assuming the adoption of SFAS No. 143 on April 1,2001 . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... — — .01
Pro forma diluted earnings (loss) pershare. ... ... . . e $ 125 $ (037) % 101
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Reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of asset retirement obligation is as follows:

Balance as of April 1, 2003 . . . .. oo e e $ 2,048
Liabilities recorded for billboards newly installed . .. ... . ... .. . 46
Reduction in liabilities for billboards removed . . . . ... e (731)
ACCIELION EXPEISE . . .. ottt ittt ettt e et e e e e 47
Increase in liabilities for changes in estimates due to the timing of future obligations, teardown costs and future cash flows . . .. .. 365
Currency translation adjustment. . ... .. ... .. e e e 237

Balance as of March 31, 2004 . . . .. $ 2,012
Reduction in liabilities for billboards removed . . . ... .. L L e (766)
ACCIETION EXPEIISE . . o ottt ittt ettt et e et et e e e e e e e e e e e 27
Currency translation adjustment. . ... ... . .ot e 59
Elimination of obligation upon sale of Japan Billboard . . ... ... .. e (1,214)

Balance as of March 31, 20005 . _ . . .o e s —

The Company’s asset retirement obligations and the related capitalized asset retirement costs at March 31, 2004 were reassessed in
accordance with SFAS No. 143, resulting in an additional liability of approximately $0.4 million. The reassessment made by the
Company included the anticipated impact from decisions made by the Japan Ministry of Health’s intention to adopt and ratify its
involvement in the World Health Organization’s (“WHO”) recently adopted international Framework Convention on Tobacco
Control (“FCTC”) passage in January 2004. This event also required an assessment of any potential impairment with respect to
the capitalized asset retirement costs. This adoption severely limited Japan Billboard’s tobacco clients in their ability to advertise
tobacco products on billboards in Japan. The asset retirement obligations for billboards were eliminated in conjunction with the
sale of Japan Billboard during fiscal year 2005.

Revised SEAS No. 132. In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions
and Other Postretirement Benefits” (“SFAS No. 132”). This revision to SFAS No. 132 is intended to improve financial statement
disclosures for defined benefit plans and was initiated in 2003 in response to concerns raised by investors and other users of financial
statements about the need for greater transparency of pension information. In particular, the standard requires that companies
provide more details about their plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and other relevant quantitative and
qualitative information. The guidance is effective for fiscal years ended after December 15, 2003. The information provided in
Note 17 regarding the Company’s Other Postretirement Benefits includes the additional disclosures required under the revision
to SFAS No. 132.

SFAS No. 150. In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics
of both Liabilities and Equity” (“SFAS No. 150”). SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how a company classifies and measures
certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity in its balance sheet. It requires that a company clas-
sify a financial instrument that is within the standard’s scope as a liability or as an asset in some circumstances. Many of those
instruments were previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified
after May 31, 2003, and, for financial instruments entered into prior to May 31, 2003, it is effective at the beginning of the first
interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of this Statement by the Company did not have a material effect on
its operating results, financial position or cash flows.

Accounting Standards Adopted in Fiscal Year 2003

EITF 00-21. In January 2003, the EITF issued EITF 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”
{“EITF 00-21"). EITF 00-21 provides guidance on when to account for multiple elements in an arrangement as separate units of
accounting and requires that revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables be divided into separate units of accounting if the
deliverables in the arrangement meet specific criteria. In addition, arrangement consideration must be allocated among the separate
units of accounting based on their relative fair values, with certain limitations. In certain cases, the sale of retail in-store electronic
marketing services was dccompanied by the sale of loyalty cards, thus constituting a revenue arrangement with multiple deliver-
ables. The Company elected to apply EITF 00-21 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003. The application of the provisions of
EITF 00-21 did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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SAB 104. In December 2003, the Staff of the SEC issued SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition” (“SAB 104”). SAB 104 revises
or rescinds portions of the interpretative guidance included in SAB 101 in order to make this interpretive guidance consistent with
current authoritative accounting and auditing guidance and SEC rules and regulations. SAB 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements,” which was issued in December 1999, provides guidance to SEC registrants on the recognition, presentation and
disclosure of revenues in the financial statements. The provisions of SAB 104 did not have a material impact on the Company’s

financial position or results of operations.

FIN 45. In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 addresses the accounting and disclo-
sures to be made by a guarantor about obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It clarifies that a guarantor is
required to recognize, at the inception of certain guarantees, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing
those guarantees on a prospective basis for guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. FIN 45 requires disclosure in
all financial statement presentations issued after December 15, 2002. The Company has no guarantees required to be either
recorded or disclosed under FIN 45 as of March 31, 2005.

SFAS No. 146. In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”
(“SFAS No. 146”), which addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities. SFAS
No. 146 generally requires that costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized as liabilities when incurred, rather
than the date of commitment to an exit plan, and it establishes that fair value is the standard for initial measurement of such lia-
bilities. SFAS No. 146 applies to exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. During fiscal years 2004
and 2003, the Company did not have any exit or disposal activities that were required to be accounted for pursuant to this new
standard. During fiscal year 2005, the Company applied the provisions of SFAS No. 146 to certain exit and disposal activities,
including the sale of its CMRS business.

SFAS No. 148. In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure” (“SFAS No. 148”). SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide three alternative methods of transition for a volun-
tary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 also
amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 and APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting.” SFAS No. 148 is
effective for fiscal years ended after December 15, 2002, with certain disclosure requirements effective for interim periods begin-
ning after December 15, 2002. Accordingly, the Company has provided the required disclosures in its Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2005. The Company has elected to follow APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock options through March 31, 2005.
Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123 and has been determined as

if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method of that Statement. See Stock-Based
Compensation as discussed in this Note 2, and SFAS No. 123R in Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted, below.

FIN 46 and FIN 46R. In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities—An Interpretation
of ARB No. 51” (“FIN 46”), which requires the consolidation of certain variable interest entities in which the equity holders

do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. For variable interest entities created before
February 1, 2003, FIN 46 requires measurement of the assets and liabilities of the variable interest entity at their carrying amounts.
The provisions of FIN 46 regarding implementation date were revised by FIN 46 (revised) (“FIN 46R”). The additional provi-
sions of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

The Company adopted FIN 46 in fiscal year 2003 and accounted for the obligation under a lease agreement on its headquarters
facility in accordance with the provisions of FIN 46. The Company leased its headquarters facility through a variable interest
entity that was created in fiscal year 2001 and was partially funded by a third-party financial institution. The variable interest
entity’s sole function was the leasing of the headquarters facility to the Company. The accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet
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as of March 31, 2004 reflects the carrying amount of the consolidated assets of the variable interest entity that served as collateral,
and is presented in the following table (in thousands):

Land . . e $ 4,110
Building. . . oo 19,757
Building and other IMpProvements. . . . ... .. . i e e 762
Furniture and office @qUIPIMENE . . . ... . i 819

$25,448

Minority interest of $0.9 million as of March 31, 2004 represents the equity ownership of the variable interest entity not held by
the Company.

The following pro forma income statement for fiscal year 2003 reflects the effect of the application of FIN 46 to the Company
(in thousands, except per share data):

Prior to the Consolidation of As Restated for

Adoption of  Variable Interest the Adoption
FIN 46 Entity® of FIN 46
REVENUES . . . . .o $383,849 $ — $383,849
Costs and eXPemsSes. . .. ... e 296,921 795 297,716
Income from Operations . . .. ... ... e 86,928 (795) 86,133
Interest (EXPENSE) . . ..o vttt e (1,172) 677) (1,849)
Other income (EXPENSes), MEL. . . .. ..ottt e (1,012) — (1,012)
Income (loss) before income taxes . . ...t 84,744 (1,472) 83,272
Provision (benefit) for income taxes . .. ... .. e 32,282 574 31,708
Income from continuing Operations . . .. ... 52,462 (898) 51,564
Income from discontinued operations. . .......... .. ... . i 3,534 — 3,534
Netincome (J0ss) . . ..ot e $ 55,996 $ (898) $ 55,098
Net income (loss) per common share:
BasiC. . i $ 1.03 $ (02) $ 101
Diluted. . ... e $§  1.02 $ (.02) $ 1.00

(1) The pro forma adjustments reflect an increase in depreciation expense of $1.5 million, a reduction of rent expense and a corresponding increase to interest expense of
$0.7 million and an income tax benefit of $0.6 million.

The Company purchased its headquarters facility from the variable interest entity in fiscal year 2005. Accordingly, the accounts
of the Variable Interest Entity, which was terminated in conjunction with the purchase, are no longer included in the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 8.

SFAS No. 144. In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived
Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”). This pronouncement provides guidance for (a) recognition of an impairment loss related to long-lived
assets to be held and used, (b) accounting for long-lived assets to be disposed of other than by sale and (c} accounting for long-
lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The Company applies the provisions of SFAS No. 144 when testing its long-lived assets

for impairment.

The Company applied the guidance provided by SFAS No. 144 in accounting for the sale and the financial reporting of its
discontinued business segments for fiscal year 2005.
Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

SFAS No. 151. In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4”
(“SFAS No. 1517). SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the account-
ing for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material (spoilage). Paragraph 5 of ARB 43,
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Chapter 4, previously stated that “...under some circumstances, items such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double
freight and rehandling costs may be so abnormal as to require treatment as current period charges...” SFAS No. 151 requires that
those items be recognized as current period charges regardless of whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal.” In addition,
this Statement requires that allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS No. 151 to have a material effect on its results of operations or financial condition.

SFAS No. 153. In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets—an amendment of APB
Opinion No. 29” (“SFAS No. 153”). SFAS No. 153 amends Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the
exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of non-
monetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash
flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. SFAS No. 153 is effective for fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 153 to have a material effect on its
results of operations or financial condition.

SFAS No. 123R. In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No.
123R”’). SFAS No. 123R replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“Opinion No. 25”). SFAS No. 123 established, as preferable, a fair-value-
based method of accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees, but permitted the continued application of the
guidance in Opinion No. 25, as long as the notes to the financial statements disclosed what net income would have been had the
fair-value-based method been used. The Company elected to record the effect of share-based payments in accordance with
Opinion No. 25 and disclosed the effect of SFAS No. 123 in its notes to the financial statements. SFAS No. 123R will require
compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in financial statements.

The cost of equity instruments will generally be measured based on the fair value of the instruments at the date of issue using an
option-pricing model. Companies can adopt one of two transition methods for options issued prior to the effective date of SFAS
No. 123R; either the “modified-prospective transition” or the “modified-retrospective transition.” Under the modified-prospective
transition approach, companies recognize expense for stock options that were granted subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No.
123R and recognize expense for any unvested stock options that vest subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. Under the
modified-retrospective approach, companies will be allowed to show prior period financial statements as if SFAS No. 123R had
been in effect for all of the years presented.

SFAS No. 123R is effective for the Company as of April 1, 2006. The Company has not determined the amount of compensa-
tion expense that will result from the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, but expects the amount to have a material effect on its results
of operations. See discussion of Stock-Based Compensation above.

Note 3. Acquisitions, Disposition and Goodwill

The Company has historically made acquisitions based on various factors including client relationships, service offerings, competitive
position, reputation, experience and specialized know-how. The Company’s acquisition strategy was to build upon the capabilities of
its various strategic business platforms through the expansion of service capabilities. In executing the acquisition strategy, one of
the primary drivers in identifying and executing a specific transaction is the existence of, or the ability to, expand the Company’s
existing client relationships. Due to the nature of the Company’s business, the companies it acquired frequently had minimal tan-
gible net assets or identifiable intangible assets. The acquisition price was frequently determined by the future projected revenue
and cash flow of the entity being acquired. Accordingly, a substantial portion of the purchase price was allocated to goodwill.
The Company performs an annual impairment test to assess whether the fair value of goodwill has been impaired.

On March 31, 2004, the Company sold its loyalty card and data-entry services business to an unrelated third party for $0.5 million
in cash, resulting in a loss on sale of approximately $1.1 million. The loss on the sale of this business, which was not a separately
reportable business segment, is included in Selling, General and Administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
for fiscal year 2004.
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The following tables present the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31, 2005

Japan Total
CMS CHR DMS Int’l Billboard CMRS Consolidated
Beginning balance .. ........... ... ..., $20,210 $36,132 $ 1,609 $24,153 8 — $ 2,639 % 84,743
Impairment . ....... ... ... ... ... .. ..... — — (1,609) — — (2,639) (4,248)
Endingbalance............... ... ... ... $20,210 $36,132 $ — $24,153 $ —_— $ — $ 80,495

Year Ended March 31, 2004

Japan Total
CMS CHR DMS Int’l Billboard CMRS Consolidated
Beginningbalance .. ...... ... .. L.l $20,210 $36,132 $ 30,531 $24,153 $ 7,572 $ 23,818 $142.416
Goodwill acquired . .................... — — 866 — 22,921 — 23,787
Impairment ................ .. ... ..... — — (29,788) — (30,493) (21,179) (81,460)
Endingbalance. ......... ... ... . ... $20,210 $36,132 $ 1,609 $24,153 $ — $ 2,639 $ 84,743

Year Ended March 31, 2003

Japan Total
CMS CHR DMS Int’l Billboard CMRS Consolidated
Beginningbalance .. ....... ... ... ... $20,210 $11,978 $ 29,867 $24,112 8 7,572 $ 23,618 $117,357
Goodwill acquired . .. ............ ... ... — 24,154 664 — — 200 25,018
Other.......... .. ... . .. . .. — —_ — 41 — — 41
Endingbalance. .. ...... ... ... ... ... .. $20,210 $36,132 $ 30,531 $24,153 $ 7,572 $ 23,818 $142,416

Fiscal Year 2005 Activity

In November 2003, the Company announced its intent to divest CMRS, DMS and Japan Billboard. As a result, the Company
tested the goodwill of these reporting units for impairment during fiscal year 2004, resulting in partial impairment of goodwill.
See Fiscal Year 2004 Activity below.

The Company tested the goodwill at CMRS for impairment again during fiscal year 2005 due to a further decline in CMRS’
forecasted cash flows. Based upon this testing, the Company determined that an additional impairment of goodwill had occurred
and recorded an impairment charge of $2.6 million within discontinued operations, thereby eliminating the goodwill attributable
to this business unit.

Goodwill related to DMS of $1.6 million was also eliminated during fiscal year 2005 due to an additional decline in DMS’
forecasted cash flows. The Company did not expect to recover this goodwill. However, subsequent to the write-off of goodwill
within discontinued operations, the Company sold the business for an amount in excess of the net book value of the remaining
net assets, resulting in a gain on sale.

Fiscal Year 2004 Activity

Increases to Gooduwill
In fiscal year 2004, DMS goodwill increased $0.9 million due to the final contingent purchase price payment made to the former owner.

Also in fiscal year 2004, Japan Billboard goodwill increased $22.9 million related to the purchase of the remaining 49% ownership
interest in Japan Billboard from the minority shareholders. In May 2003, the Company, through one of its wholly owned subsid-
iaries, exercised the call option provided in the Japan Billboard purchase agreement to acquire the remaining 49% from the minority
interest shareholders. The exercise of this call option resulted in a net cash payment of $22.9 million in July 2003, based on foreign
exchange rates at the payment date. Using the purchase method of accounting, this transaction created additional goodwill of
$22.9 million. The Company exercised the call option to reduce the adverse financial impact that would have resulted from the
exercise of a put option available to the minority interest shareholders.
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Impairment of Goodwill

Charges for impairment of goodwill of $81.5 million were recorded during fiscal year 2004 and are reflected in Income (loss)
from discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. These impairment charges resulted
from certain triggering events during the year, including the Japan Billboard 49% minority purchase and an intent to sell certain
reporting units.

The purchase of the remaining 49% of Japan Billboard in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004 and the announcement of the
intention to divest of this business during the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 were both triggering events requiring impairment
testing. The Company calculated impairment charges of $30.5 million, which eliminated Japan Billboard’s goodwill, based on
the estimated fair value of the business. The purchase price of the 49% minority interest was based on a pre-determined formula
of enterprise value based on Japan Billboard’s performance during the previous four quarters. Subsequent to the purchase of the
remaining interest of Japan Billboard, the Company determined that the carrying value of the Japan Billboard business had been
impaired primarily because the purchase price paid under the predetermined formula described above was in excess of the fair
value of the Japan Billboard business. Fair value was estimated based on a discounted future cash flow model. In addition, the
Voluntary Global Tobacco Marketing Initiative (the “Initiative”), described below, had a significant negative impact on the Japan
Billboard business.

The passage and adoption of the Initiative in fiscal year 2002 significantly affected the manner in which tobacco companies in
Japan could market, promote and advertise their products. As a result of the implementation of this Initiative, Japan Billboard’s
primary client, from which it derived approximately 70% of its revenues, began to reduce its advertising expenditures for billboards
significantly, as well as most other media and promotional spending. The Initiative, as it relates to outdoor advertising, mandated
that the maximum visual dimension of any billboard advertisement be limited to 35 square meters. As a result, a significant num-
ber of Japan Billboard’s sales contracts covering a broad network of large-sized billboards with this client were either terminated
or not renewed during fiscal year 2003. This trend continued during fiscal year 2004 and the Company’s forecasted cash flows
for Japan Billboard continued to decline, such that, during the third quarter of fiscal year 2004, the estimated fair value of the
business was significantly less than the carrying value, reducing the goodwill to $0. In addition to the impairment charge for
goodwill, the Company recognized an impairment charge for certain billboards, as discussed in Note 5.

The Company also tested the goodwill of CMRS and DMS after announcing its intent to divest these reporting units. The initial
testing of the goodwill of these reporting units resulted in partial impairment of goodwill due to the decline in these businesses’
forecasted cash flows. Additional subsequent testing of these business units in fiscal year 2004, based upon purchase offers received
from prospective buyers, resulted in further impairment of goodwill. Goodwill impairment charges for CMRS and DMS, included
in Income (loss) from discontinued operations, were $21.2 million and $29.8 million, respectively, for fiscal year 2004.

Fiscal Year 2003 Activity

DMS and CMRS goodwill increased $0.7 million and $0.2 million, respectively, due to contingent purchase price payments
made during the year.

In fiscal year 2003, CHR goodwill increased $24.2 million due to the Company’s June 2002 tender offer to purchase the minority
shares in the business. As of March 31, 2002, the Company owned 87.1% of the outstanding common stock of CHR.. In June 2002,
the Company commenced a tender offer to purchase the outstanding minority interest common stock of CHR, at a purchase
price of $33.00 per share. Certain current and former employees and directors of CHR owned the outstanding shares that were
purchased in the tender offer. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, the Company purchased 731,921 of the outstanding
shares of CHR. common stock for approximately $24.2 million. As of March 31, 2003, the Company held 5,771,921 of the total
5,954,047 outstanding shares, or 97% of CHR. common stock. The June 2002 tender offer expired on October 16, 2002, The
acquisition of the CHR common stock purchased under the June 2002 tender offer was accounted for using the purchase method

of accounting.

See Note 14 for information regarding an additional tender offer made in fiscal year 2005 for the remaining outstanding shares of
CHR common stock.
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Note 4. Patents

The gross and accumulated amortization balances relating to patents were as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31,

Weighted Avg. Useful Life as

of March 31, 2005 (In years) 2005 2004
Purchased patents. . . ... ... it e 14.7 $ 23,590 $ 23,552
Accumulated amortization . . . ... . .. e e (11,909) (10,080)
Patents, Met. . ... e $ 11,681 $ 13,472

Estimated future amortization of patents is as follows as of March 31, 2005 (in thousands):

Estimated
Fiscal Year Amortization
2006, . e e e e e e e e 1,684
2007 . e e e e e e e 1,641
2008 . e e e e e 1,641
2000 . L e e e e 1,639
2000 . e e e e e 1,629

The Company recognized amortization expense of $1.9 million, $1.8 million and $1.7 million for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively, which is included on the Consolidated Statements of Operations within Depreciation and Amortization.

Note 5. Impairment Charges

The Company recorded impairment charges during fiscal year 2005 of $0.4 million and $0.3 million at CMRS and Corporate,
respectively, because the estimated fair value of certain depreciable assets exceeded their carrying value. The impairment charge
related to those assets of CMRS is included in Income (loss) from of discontinued operations. The impairment charge related to
those assets of Corporate are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

During fiscal years 2004 and 2003, Japan Billboard recognized impairment charges of $4.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively,
to write down billboards and related fixtures to fair value. These charges are included in Income (loss) from discontinued opera-
tions. Fair value was determined using discounted forecasted future cash flows. In both years, the undiscounted cash flows expected
to be generated from the billboards were less than the carrying amount. In fiscal year 2003, this is primarily attributed to the
effects of the Initiative (see further discussion of the Initiative in Note 3). In fiscal year 2004, this is attributed to both the effects
of the Initiative and the anticipated effects of an announcement by Japan’s Ministry of Health in January 2004 of its intention to
sign and ratify the international Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (“FCTC”), an international treaty negotiated by
the World Health Organization that sets minimum standards for tobacco control policies. The adoption of FCTC was expected
to further limit the ability of tobacco companies to advertise tobacco products on billboards in Japan.

See Note 3 for a discussion of impairment charges related to goodwill.

The following table summarizes the impairment charges related to goodwill and other long-lived assets recorded by the
Company (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
DM S o $1,609 $29,788 § —
M R S L e 3,010 21,179 —
Japan Billboard. . . .. ... — 34,598 1,225
Total for discontinued OPerations . . . ... ... ... 4,619 85,565 1,225
COTPOTALE. . o Lttt e e 288 — —

$4,907 885,565  $1,225
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During fiscal year 2003, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.0 million to write off an investment, accounted for
using the cost method, due to an other-than-temporary decline in the carrying value. Factors leading to the impairment included
the investment’s history of negative cash flows from operations, lack of earnings performance longer than originally anticipated and
the current business prospects of the investee. Management’s rationale for asserting that the impairment was other-than-temporary
include the speculative nature of the start-up investment, the requests for additional financing sooner than expected, the rate at
which the investee was using cash and the lack of any foreseeable viable market for the product being developed by this investee.
This charge is included as a component of Other income (expenses), net on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations
for fiscal year 2003. This investment was included in the corporate group and had not been allocated to any operating segment.

Note 6. Detail of Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses include (in thousands):
As of March 31,

2005 2004
Payroll related ... .. . e e $24,356 $17,333
Accrued Tetailer f8ES. . . . . oo e e e e 9,842 9,899
Deferred compensation plans (see INote 12) ... .. i i e e 4,746 6,901
Sales COMIMISSIONS. . o v vttt it i e e e 10,712 7,728
Accrued OPerating eXPenses . . .. oottt it e e e e e e e e 3,515 9,369
BUsiness CaMES. & o vttt ittt e e e e e 4,901 7,915
(@ 74 4 T=3 O PP 4,065 6,633
Total acCrued EXPEmMSEs. . . o ottt e e e e e $62,137 $65,778

Note 7. Income Taxes
The components of income before income taxes and the income tax provision (benefit) consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
Income before income taxes:
DOIMIESTIC &« v oottt ettt e e e e e $ 93,335 $86,787 $76,746
03 4T 16,917 10,809 6,526

$110,252 $97,596 $83,272

Income tax provision {benefit)
Current taxes:

Federal . ..o e e e e e $ 34,437 $22,572 $27,765
1) 7% 5,255 1,819 811
Forelgn. . o 5,790 4,492 3,108

45,482 28,883 31,684

Federal. . o oot e (3,442) 7,553 (165)
SEALE . - . e e e e e e (377) 1,139 125
Foreign. .. ... ... . .. e e @ (376) 64
(3,826) 8,316 24
Provision fOr IMCOME TAXES « .« . v vt v it et ettt et et e et ettt e e e e $ 41,656 $37,199 $31,708
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The reconciliation of the provision for income taxes based on the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s provision

for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
Expected federal statutory taxes at 35% . .. . ... oL e $38,588 $34,158 $29,145
State and foreign income taxes, net of federal benefit. .. ... ... ... ... . oo L oo il 3,022 2,478 2,914
Tax benefit of foreign branches ... ... ... . (3,991) 2,767) (4,515)
Increase in valuation allowance . ... ... i it i e e e e e 3,798 3,227 4,082
Ot . oot e e 239 103 82
Provision fOr INCOME CaAXES . . . .\ttt e ettt et et et e e $41,656 $37,199 $31,708

Deferred income tax assets or liabilities are computed based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and
income tax basis of assets and liabilities using the enacted marginal income tax rate in effect for the year in which the differences
are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax expenses or credits are based on the changes in the deferred income tax assets or

liabilities from period to period.

Temporary differences for financial statement and income tax purposes result primarily from charges to operations for financial
statement reporting purposes which are not currently tax deductible and from revenues deferred for financial statement reporting
purposes which are currently taxable. The components of the deferred tax asset and liability were as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31,

2005 2004
Deferred Tax Assets:
Payroll related . . ... .o $ 1,248 $ 1,882
Deferred reVente . . .. . o e 1,663 402
Provision for doubtful accounts . .. .. ... . e e e e e 814 1,373
ACCTUE EXPEISES . .. ottt it e e 2,383 4,638
Net operating loss carryforwards . ... ... 15,882 14,767
Investments in unconsolidated equity SECUTItIES . . . .. .. .. ittt e 990 1,060
Capital loss carryforward . . .. ... e 11,969 799
L6024 T 267 282
35,216 25,203
Valuation allowance . . ... (31,116) (17,653)
et deferred taX a556ES . . . . ot ittt et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 4,100 7,550
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . .. .. .ot (7,730) (8,258)
Prepaid eXpenses. . ..o e — (583)
Net deferred tax assets (Habilities). . . .. ... i e e $ (3,630) § (1,291)

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of:

As of March 31,
2005 2004

Deferred tax asset (current)
Long-term deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability (current)

Long-term deferred tax liability. . ... ... ..

......................................................... (5,738) (9,827)

......................................................... $ 6,108 § 8,536

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

......................................................... $ (3,630) & (1,291)
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The Company periodically reviews the need for a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets and recognizes these deferred
tax assets to the extent that realization is more likely than not. Based upon a review of earnings history and trends, forecasted
earnings and the relevant expiration of carryforwards, the Company believes that the valuation allowances provided are appropri-
ate. The valuation allowance increased by $13.5 million during fiscal year 2005 and $4.7 million during fiscal year 2004. The
increase in the valuation allowance of $13.5 million in fiscal year 2005 as compared with fiscal year 2004 is due to a $9.7 million
increase included in discontinued operations and a $3.8 million increase included in continuing operations. The increase in the
valuation allowance related to discontinued operations is primarily due to an increase in the deferred tax assets recognized at
Japan Billboard, primarily for the capital loss incurred on the sale of Japan Billboard. The increase in the valuation allowance on
continuing operations in fiscal year 2005 is primarily due to an increase in the foreign deferred tax assets during the fiscal year.
The increase in the valuation allowance in fiscal year 2004 was also primarily related to an increase in the foreign deferred tax
assets during the fiscal year. Management has reserved against these foreign deferred tax assets because the Company believes that
it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company had cumulative U.S. federal taxable net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $0.6 million,
which expire between 2012 and 2019. These NOLs were acquired through various Company acquisitions and are limited by Internal
Revenue Code Section 382 to an annual deduction of $0.5 million. In addition, various foreign subsidiaries of the Company had
aggregate foreign taxable NOL carryforwards of $40.7 million. Approximately $8.8 million of the foreign NOLs can be carried
forward indefinitely, while the remaining $31.9 million expire between 2005 and 2010. Foreign pre-tax losses represented by
NOLs of approximately $34.9 million have already been deducted in the consolidated U.S. Corporation income tax return.

The Company does not provide for deferred taxes on certain unremitted foreign earnings. Management has decided that earnings of
foreign subsidiaries have been and will be indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations and; therefore, the recording of deferred tax
liabilities for unremitted foreign earnings is not required. As of March 31, 2005, the cumulative unremitted foreign earnings of the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries are $22.2 million. It is impractical to determine the amount of unrecognized deferred taxes with respect
to these earnings; however, a foreign tax credit may be available to partially reduce U.S. income taxes in the event of a distribution.

Note 8. Short-Term Borrowinigs and Long-Term Debt

The Company’s short-term borrowings and long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands)™:
As of March 31,

2005 2004
Corporate Facility, interest from 0.695% t0 3.475% . . ... oot $64,263 5 —
Short-term borrowings with several Japanese banks and financing agents, interest from 1.88% to 6.13% as of
March 31, 2004 (payable in Yen) ... ... e — 37,016
Long-term obligation associated with variable interest entity, interest rate of 3.11% as of March 31,2004 .. ........... — 29,566
Long-term installment debt in Japan, interest from 4.65% to 5.68% as of March 31, 2005 and 2004, maturing
through August 2006 (payable in Yen) . . ... ... e 360 342
Total debt obligations. . .. . .. ... e 64,623 66,924
Less current portion of long-term debt. ... ... .. L 30,299 37,016
Long-termdebt . ... ... $34,324  $29,908
Maturities of long-term debt are as follows as of March 31, 2005 (in thousands):
Amount
2006, . . $30,299
2007 . o 61
2008 . e —
2000 e —
2000 . e 34,263
2011 and after. . .o L e e —
Total long-term debt . . ..o $64,623

(1) Amounts owed to Japanese banks for short- and long-term debt are as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, due to the consolidation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries on
a three-month lag.
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The August 2004 Credit Facility

On August 27, 2004, the Company entered into a new, five-year revolving credit facility with a group of lenders, led by Bank
One, NA, as Agent (the “August 2004 Credit Facility” or the “Credit Facility”), which replaced the Prior Facility (described
below). The Credit Facility provides available borrowings of up to $125.0 million, but has a feature that allows the Company to
increase the revolving credit line to up to $175.0 million, under certain conditions. The Credit Facility also provides, within the
maximum commitment, up to the U.S. dollar equivalent of $50.0 million in available borrowings in Japanese Yen by Catalina
Marketing Japan K.K., $25.0 million for U.S. dollar-only commercial and standby letters of credit and a maximum U.S. dollar-
only “Swing Line” (i.e., an overnight facility), as that term is defined in the Credit Facility, of $10.0 million. The Credit Facility
is used for general corporate purposes including, but not limited to, refinancing of existing indebtedness, share repurchases,
capital expenditures and acquisitions, as such terms are defined in the Credit Facility.

The interest rate on advances under the Credit Facility is based on (a) the greater of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective
Rate plus one-half percent or, (b) the Eurocurrency Base Rate, as those terms are defined in the Credit Facility. A percentage
margin, ranging from 0.625% to 1.125% and determined based upon the Company’s Leverage Ratio, as that ratio is defined in
the Credit Facility, is added to the Eurocurrency Base Rate. Amounts due under the Credit facility as of March 31, 2005
included a margin of 0.625%.

The Company pays a quarterly commitment fee ranging from 0.15% to 0.25% of the unused portion of the Credit Facility, which
is determined based upon the Company’s Leverage Ratio, as that ratio is defined in the Credit Facility. The commitment fee as
of March 31, 2005 was payable at a rate of 0.15%. Usual and customary fees are payable for letters of credit that are issued under
the agreement. The Company may, at its option, reduce the maximum commitment amount of the Credit Facility and generally
may prepay any amounts outstanding without penalty. The Credit Facility is unsecured, with a negative pledge on all material
assets, and is guaranteed by all material U.S. subsidiaries of the Company.

Financing fees paid through March 31, 2005 in conjunction with the August 2004 Credit Facility were $0.7 million. These fees
will be amortized as interest expense over the term of the Credit Facility.

In accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility, the Company provides customary, ongoing representations, warranties and
covenants, and is subject to quarterly financial covenant compliance. These representations, warranties and covenants include
timely submission of financial statements, compliance with income tax, pension and other laws, limitations on liens and incurrence
of debt, investments, mergers, consolidations and sales of assets and limitations on transactions with affiliates. Financial compliance
covenants include Interest Expense Coverage and Leverage Ratios, as those terms are defined in the agreement. Events of default
under the Credit Facility include, but are not limited to, failure to make payments of principal, interest or fees within the appli-
cable cure period, violation of covenants or a change in control of the Company. The Company was in compliance with all
Credit Facility covenants as of March 31, 2005.

The Company repaid amounts outstanding under the prior Japan credit facility (described below) with proceeds from the August
2004 Credit Facility on the date the agreement was executed. The total amount borrowed for payment on the prior Japan credit
facility was approximately $31.8 million. Due to changes in the currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the Yen,
the amount outstanding under the Japan borrowings was $34.3 million as of March 31, 2005.

In addition, the Company borrowed $30.0 million on the Credit Facility on September 1, 2004, and used the proceeds to replenish
the cash used to purchase the corporate headquarters facility. See Long-Term Debt of Variable Interest Entity, below. Since the
Company’s consolidated accounts previously included the accounts of the lessor, the purchase of the headquarters facility resulted
in the refinancing of debt and purchase of the lessor’s equity interest.

There was $64.3 million outstanding under the Credit Facility as of March 31, 2005, with interest payable at rates ranging from
0.695% for the outstanding tranche due in Yen, to 3.475% due under a Eurodollar-based tranche due in U.S. dollars. During
April 2005, the Company repaid $30.0 million on the Credit Facility.
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The Prior Facility and the Amended Prior Facility

On September 25, 2000, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Prior Facility”) with a syndicate of commercial banks
including Bank One, NA as the Administrative Agent, and Wachovia Bank, NA as the Syndication Agent and Documentation
Agent. Prior to the extension and subsequently amended agreement discussed below, the Prior Facility provided for a revolving
loan credit facility of up to $150 million. The Prior Facility was guaranteed by several of the Company’s subsidiaries and con-
tained certain financial covenants, including maintenance of an interest coverage and maximum leverage ratios and other terms
and conditions, including a subjective acceleration clause which could require immediate repayment in the event of Default, as
defined in the Prior Facility.

As a result of the delay in completing audited financial statements for fiscal year 2003, the Company was unable to complete its
covenant compliance certificates as required per the terms of the Prior Facility for the periods ended March 31, 2003 and June 30,
2003. Waivers were obtained from the bank group on June 30, 2003 and September 3, 2003, respectively, to waive the Unmatured
Default and the Default, as such terms are defined in the Prior Facility, created by such non-compliance. In conjunction with the
September 3, 2003 waiver, available borrowings were reduced from $150 million to $60 million. On September 25, 2003, the
expiration date of the Prior Facility, the Company entered into an agreement with its bank group to extend the Prior Facility for
60 days through November 24, 2003. Significant changes to the Prior Facility resulting from the extension included a reduction
in availability from $60 million to $30 million, an increase in interest rate pricing, an increase in the unused facility fee and

restrictions on cash and investments.

At the expiration of the extension on November 24, 2003, the Company reached an agreement with its bank group to extend the
Prior Facility through August 31, 2004 (the “Amended Prior Facility”). Availability under the Amended Prior Facility remained
at $30.0 million. Borrowings under the Amended Prior Facility accrued interest at rates based upon either (i) the British Bankers’
Association Interest Settlement Rate plus 200 basis points, or (ii) the higher of 100 basis points over the Federal Funds Rate or
Bank One’s prime rate of interest, as defined in the agreement. In addition, the Prior Facility provided for unused facility fees to
accrue at 50 basis points per annum multiplied by the unused portion of the revolving credit facility. This pricing remained effective
until such time that the Company’s audited financial statements for fiscal year 2003 were filed with the SEC on May 17, 2004.
Subsequent to that date, borrowings under the Amended Prior Facility accrued interest at rates based upon either (i) the British
Bankers’ Association Interest Settlement Rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 50 to 150 basis points (Eurodollar Rate) or
(ii) the higher of a range of zero to 50 basis points over the Federal Funds Rate or Bank One’s prime rate of interest, as defined
in the agreement. In addition, the Amended Prior Facility provided for unused facility fees to accrue at a range of 25 to 35 basis
points per annum multiplied by the unused portion of the revolving credit facility. There were no outstanding loans as of March
31, 2004. The stated interest rate on the facility was 3.1% on March 31, 2004.

The Company incurred financing fees of approximately $1.0 million for the credit line extensions, which were deferred and were
fully amortized as of August 27, 2004.

Long-Term Debt of Variable Interest Entity

Prior to August 25, 2004, the Company leased its corporate headquarters, in St. Petersburg, FL, from a variable interest entity
(“VIE”) that was created in fiscal year 2001 and was partially funded by a third-party financial institution. The Company accounted
for the VIE in accordance with FIN 46R. Because the Company was the primary beneficiary of the VIE, the Company had been
consolidating the accounts of the VIE, and included the accounts of the VIE in its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2004,

On August 25, 2004, the Company purchased the corporate headquarters facility for $30.5 million. The lease for the corporate
headquarters facility, which was scheduled to expire in October 2005, was terminated in conjunction with the purchase. The
accounts of the VIE, which included long-term debt of $29.6 million and equity of $0.9 million to fund the facility, were liqui-
dated upon the sale of the facility to the Company and, as such, are no longer consolidated in the Company’s accounts as of
March 31, 2005.

Prior Japan Borrowings

On March 26, 2002, Catalina Marketing Japan, KK, a Japan corporation and majority-owned subsidiary of Catalina Marketing
Corporation, (the “Japan Subsidiary”) entered into a credit agreement (the “Prior Japan Agreement”) with Bank One, NA.
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The Prior Japan Agreement originally provided for a revolving credit facility of up to 500 million Yen, increased to 1.5 billion
Yen as of July 31, 2003. The Prior Japan Agreement also provided for a term credit facility of up to 2.0 billion Yen for long-term
funding of the Japan Subsidiary. An additional Japan credit facility provided up to 600 million Yen, of which 250 million Yen
($2.3 million) expired during fiscal year 2005.

In conjunction with the extension of the Prior Corporate Facility, the Japan Subsidiary’s credit facility with Bank One, NA was
renegotiated (the “Amended Prior Japan Facility”). The Amended Prior Japan Facility consisted of a 1.5 billion Yen ($14.4 mil-
lion as of March 31, 2004) revolving commitment extended through August 31, 2004 and a term loan commitment of 2.0 billion
Yen ($19.2 million as of March 31, 2004) that matured March 31, 2005. The Amended Prior Japan Facility was guaranteed by
the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries, and a pledge of substantially all of the assets of the Company and certain of
its domestic subsidiaries, except for the corporate headquarters facility in St. Petersburg, FL.

Borrowings under the Amended Prior Japan Facility accrued interest at rates based upon either (i) the three-year JPY/ JPY Interest
Rate Swap market rate against LIBOR plus 2.0% for the term loan or (ii) the Yen TIBOR rate plus 2.0% for the revolving commit-
ment, until such time that the Company’s audited financial statements for fiscal year 2003 were filed with the SEC on May 17, 2004.
Subsequent to that date, pricing on the term loan returned to the three-year JPY/JPY Interest Rate Swap market rate against
LIBOR plus 1.25% per annum. Pricing on the revolver was determined based on a grid that ranged from TIBOR plus 1.0% to
TIBOR plus 2.0% per annum, dependent upon certain of the Company’s financial covenants.

The Company repaid amounts outstanding under the Prior Amended Japan Facility with proceeds from the August 2004 Credit
Facility on the date the August 2004 Credit Facility was executed. The total amount borrowed for payment on the Prior Amended
Japan Facility was approximately $31.8 million.

The remaining short- and long-term borrowings outstanding in Japan at March 31, 2005 consist of installment loans payable
related to certain equipment purchased by the Company’s coupon operations in Japan.
Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments. The Company leases certain office space and equipment under noncancellable operating leases that expire
at various dates through fiscal year 2011. Rental expense under operating leases was $5.8 million, $5.8 million and $5.1 million,
in fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Future minimum operating lease commitments as of March 31, 2005, are as
follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2006, . . e e e $ 4,151
2007 . 3,088
20008, e e 2,918
2000, e 2,023
2000 . e 1,657
T N 2 P 286
Total Minimum 1ease PAYIMENTS . . . .. ottt ettt e e e $14,123

Contingent Earn-Out Payment. As part of the Restructuring and Amendment Agreement executed in 1999 between the
Company and the joint venture partners in the Company’s Japanese coupon operations, the Company is obligated to pay these
joint venture partners a final deferred earn-out payment based on the future operating results of the Catalina Marketing Japan
coupon business. The contingency stipulates a potential earn-out payment based on a predetermined formula. The Company is
not able to estimate the amount, or a range of the possible amounts, of the contingent payment because the Company is not able
to reasonably estimate the future earnings of its Japan coupon business over four consecutive quarters during a time period ending
between 2006 and 2007, which is the basis of the calculation of the contingent payment. The ultimate amount of this payment,
if any, could be material.
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Purchase Commitments. The Company has a purchase commitment to a vendor for the purchase of certain customized store
equipment, which is used in the normal course of business, pursuant to a contract which extends through November 2007. The
outstanding balance under this purchase commitment as of March 31, 2005 was $9.1 million. The Company also has commit-
ments to purchase the safety stock of paper supplies stored at the suppliers” warehouses on the Company’s behalf. As of March 31,
2005, there was approximately $3.0 million of paper stock for which the Company was committed to purchase in the event the
suppliers’ services are terminated by the Company.

The Company’s annual obligation for purchases of the customized store equipment and its obligation for suppliers’ paper stock as
of March 31, 2005, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2006, . e e $ 6,500
2007 . o e e e 3,524
2008 . L e 2,055
Jotal. L e $12,079

Sales Tax Assessment. A sales and use tax audit for the period January 1, 1991 to June 30, 1993 was conducted by a state taxing
authority resulting in an assessment of sales tax on the Company’s revenue generated from its electronic marketing delivery ser-
vice conducted within that state. The Company subsequently appealed this assessment to the relevant state tax tribunal. The tax
tribunal held that the Company’s electronic marketing delivery activities were taxable in their entirety. In March 2002, the state’s
intermediate court of appeals affirmed the decision of the tax tribunal. The Company appealed the case to the state’s supreme
court and, in May 2004, the state’s supreme court vacated the prior decision, remanded the case back to the tax tribunal and
directed the tax tribunal to apply a different legal test. In July 2004, the state’s tax tribunal ruled in favor of the Company. In
October 2004, the state’s Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the tax tribunal. As a result, the Company reversed a liability
related to the sales tax assessment of approximately $4.4 million, recognized as a reduction to direct operating expenses during
the third quarter of fiscal year 2005.

Income Tax Contingency. Despite the Company’s belief that its income tax return positions are consistent with applicable tax
laws, the Company believes that certain positions are likely to be challenged by taxing authorities. The Company is party to
various claims and matters of litigation and tax assessments incidental to the normal course of its business. The Company records
contingencies for these potential losses once they are deemed probable and estimable. Management believes that the final resolution
of these tax matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Government Investigations. On March 4, 2004, the SEC issued a formal order of private investigation that made formal an infor-
mal investigation previously initiated by the SEC. The informal investigation was initiated by the SEC after representatives of the
Company contacted the SEC on June 30, 2003 to inform the Staff of certain revenue recognition timing issues that management
of the Company identified at CHR. The Company believes that the SEC’s inquiry is focused primarily on the revenue recognition
timing issues at CHR during fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003. Since the initiation of the informal investigation and through the
date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company has been cooperating with the SEC in connection with its
investigation, including in-person meetings between Company representatives and the SEC Staff, and the provision to the SEC
of information and numerous documents. In addition, the Company has made available as witnesses those individuals under its
control in response to the SEC’s inquiries and requests. Other than the SEC investigation, as of the date hereof, the Company is
not aware of any additional inquiry or investigation having been commenced against the Company related to these matters, but it
cannot predict whether or not any such regulatory inquiry or investigation will be commenced or, if it is, the outcome of any
such inquiry or investigation. If the investigation was to result in a regulatory proceeding or action against the Company, the
Company’s business and financial condition could be harmed.

Other Legal Matters. In addition, the Company is involved in claims and litigation arising out of the Company’s business, includ-
ing claims and litigation brought against the Company, and litigation initiated by the Company to protect its intellectual property.
The Company records accruals for losses arising from these claims and litigation once they are deemed probable and estimable.
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The Company, and certain present and former officers and directors of the Company and CHR, were named as defendants in
numerous complaints purporting to be class actions which were filed in the United States District Court for the Middle District of
Florida, Tampa Division, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5
thereunder. The actions were originally brought on behalf of those who purchased our common stock between January 17, 2002
and August 25, 2003, inclusive. The complaints contain various allegations, including that, during the alleged class period, the
defendants issued false and misleading statements concerning our business and operations with the result of artificially inflating
our share price and maintained inadequate internal controls. The complaints seek unspecified compensatory damages and other
relief. In October 2003, the complaints were consolidated in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida and
given the caption In re Catalina Marketing Corporation Securities Litigation, Case No. 8:03-CV-1582-T-27TBM. In December 2003,
Virginia P. Anderson and the Alaska Electric Pension Fund were named as co-lead plaintiffs (the “Lead Plaintiffs”). On June 21,
2004, the Lead Plaintiffs served their Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint on behalf of those who purchased our
stock between August 14, 1999 and August 25, 2003, inclusive. The Company and other defendants subsequently moved to dis-
miss the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint which motion was denied by the court on March 31, 2005. Plaintiffs
filed a motion for class certification in May 2005. Full briefing on class certification should be completed and submitted ¢o the
court by September 2005. In compliance with the applicable rules of civil procedure, the parties have exchanged preliminary
information about the witnesses and documents each intends to use in support of their respective positions. The Company anticipates
that the parties will engage in more extensive class certification and merits discovery in the near future. The Company intends
to vigorously defend against these lawsuits. The Company cannot currently predict the impact or resolution of this litigation or
reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, which could be material.

Certain present and former officers and directors of the Company and CHR, and Catalina Marketing, as a nominal defendant, have
been named in two shareholder derivative actions entitled The Booth Family Trust v. Frank H. Barker, et al., Case No. 20510-NC,
commenced in the Court of Chancery for the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County, and Craig Deeds v. Frank H.
Barker, et al., Case No. 04-000862 commenced in the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit in and for Pinellas County, Florida.
These shareholder derivative lawsuits allege that the defendants breached various fiduciary duties based upon the same general set
of alleged facts and circumstances as the federal shareholder suits. The plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory damages, restitu-
tion of improper salaries, insider trading profits and payments from the Company, and disgorgement under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002. In December 2003, these actions were stayed pending a ruling by the district court on the anticipated motion to
dismiss the Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint in the federal securities action. In response to the parties’ request

for an additional stay, the respective courts stayed each of the actions through August 22, 2005. The Company cannot currently
predict the impact or resolution of this litigation or reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, which could be material.

Note 10. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company administers the following plans which were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors and Stockholders:
The 1989 Stock Option Plan (the “1989 Plan”), which expired on April 26, 1999 and was replaced with the Amended and
Restated 1999 Stock Award Plan (the “1999 Plan”, previously known as the 1999 Stock Option Plan); a stock grant plan, the
Catalina Marketing Corporation 1992 Director Stock Grant Plan (the “1992 Grant Plan”), which expired on October 27, 2002
and was replaced with the Catalina Marketing Corporation 2002 Director Stock Grant Plan {the “2002 Grant Plan”); and an
employee stock purchase plan, the 2004 Employee Payroll Deduction Stock Purchase Plan (the “2004 Purchase Plan”), which
replaced the Catalina Marketing Corporation Employee Payroll Deduction Stock Purchase Plan that expired on April 19, 2004.

1989 Stock Option Plan. Pursuant to the 1989 Plan, 17,250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance
upon the exercise of options granted under the 1989 Plan. Through March 31, 2005, options to purchase an aggregate of 12,436,754
shares were granted, net of cancellations, of which options to purchase 179,790 shares were outstanding as of March 31, 2005.

The 1989 Plan provided for grants of Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) to employees (including employee directors). Options
granted under the 1989 Plan generally became exercisable at a rate of 25% per year (20% per year for initial grants to new employees),
commencing one year after the date of grant and generally had granted options to up to ten years. Certain options under the
1989 Plan, which were granted to certain executives of the Company, vested after eight years and had an accelerated vesting
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schedule based upon the Company reaching specified earnings per share targets, have all been cancelled. The exercise price of all
ISOs granted under the 1989 Plan was required to be at least equal to the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant.

1999 Stock Option Plan, Pursuant to the 1999 Plan, 9,900,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance
upon the exercise of options granted under the 1999 Plan. Through March 31, 2005, options to purchase an aggregate of
7,284,922 shares have been granted, net of cancellations, under the 1999 Plan, of which options to purchase 6,912,951 shares
were outstanding as of March 31, 2005.

The 1999 Plan provides for grants of ISOs to employees (including employee directors). For non-sales employees, options granted
under the 1999 Plan generally become exercisable at a rate of 25% per year (20% per year for initial grants to new employees),
commencing one vear after the date of grant. For options granted prior to July 2004 to sales employees, initial grants to new sales
employees vest at 20% in years 2 and 3, and 30% in years 4 and 5. Annual grants vest at 15% in years 1 and 2, 20% in year 3 and
25% in years 4 and 5. Generally, options have terms of up to ten years. Certain options under the 1999 Plan vest after eight years
and provide for accelerated vesting based upon reaching specified earnings per share targets. The exercise price of all ISOs granted
under the 1999 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant.

Aggregate Stock Option Activity. As of March 31, 2005, options to purchase an aggregate of 12,688,935 shares had been exercised,
including options to purchase 60,000 shares granted outside of any plan; options to purchase an aggregate of 7,092,741 shares
were outstanding; and 2,615,078 shares remained available for future grants under the 1999 Plan. Of the options outstanding as
of fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, options to purchase 2,707,717, 1,920,355 and 2,372,198 shares respectively, were immediately
exercisable, with weighted average exercise prices of $30.32, $31.08 and $27.10, respectively.

Stock option activity for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 for the 1989 and 1999 Stock Option Plans is as follows:

Number  Weighted Average

of Shares Exercise Prices

Options outstanding as of March 31, 2002 . . .. ... . e 8,578,265 $28.11
Option activity:

Granted . ..o e e 1,910,872 25.43

ERercised . .o e (451,800) 17.07

Canceled or eXpired . .. ... . e (1,553,351) 27.64
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2003 . . .. ... ... e 8,483,986 28.18
Option activity:

Granted . .. e e e 351,000 16.80

Exercised . ..o (42,856) 18.16

Canceled orexpired . . ... ... e (4,218,790) 24.89
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2004 . . . . . ... .. . e 4,573,340 30.44
Option activity:

Granted . ... 3,961,903 24.03

Exercised . ... .. e e (224,312) 20.38

Canceled or expired . .. .. . e e e (1,218,190) 28.36
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2005 . . .. ... ... . . 7,092,741 27.50
Options available for future issuance as of March 31, 2005. .. ... .. ... .. ... . . i 2,615,078
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Information on stock options is as follows:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average

Remaining
Range of Outstanding as of  Contractual Life Weighted Average Exercisable as of Weighted Average
Exercise Prices March 31, 2005 (in years) Exercise Price March 31, 2005 Exercise Price
$16.01-825.00. ... .... 1,980,122 8.5 $20.04 536,092 $20.04
$25.01-$33.00. .. ... .. 4,264,027 6.9 $29.27 1,323,033 $30.82
$33.01-$41.00........ 848,592 6.0 $36.04 848,592 $36.04
7,092,741 2,707,717

1992 Director Stock Grant Plan. The 1992 Grant Plan provides for grants of common stock to non-employee members of the
Board of Directors. A total of 300,000 shares of the Company’s commen stock were authorized for issuance under the 1992 Grant
Plan. As of March 31, 2005, 137,930 shares had been granted, net of cancellations. Stock granted under the 1992 Grant Plan vests
ratably in annual installments over each director’s remaining term. The 1992 Grant Plan expired on October 27, 2002; therefore,
no shares are available for future grants under the 1992 Grant Plan. In fiscal years 2003 and 2002, the Company granted common
stock pursuant to this plan in the amounts of 16,500 shares at a weighted average grant-date fair value of $24.56 per share and
12,000 shares at a weighted average grant-date fair value of $33.46 per share, respectively.

2002 Director Stock Grant Plan. The 2002 Grant Plan, which replaced the 1992 Grant Plan, provides for grants of common stock
to non-employee members of the Board of Directors. A total of 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were authorized
for issuance under the 2002 Grant Plan. As of March 31, 2005, 19,833 have been granted from the 2002 Grant Plan leaving
230,167 shares available for future grants under the 2002 Grant Plan. Stock granted under the 2002 Grant Plan vests ratably in
annual installments over each director’s remaining term.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Pursuant to the 2004 Purchase Plan, 1,300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were
reserved for issuance. During fiscal year 2005, there were 5,150 shares at a weighted average fair value of $29.63 issued to employees.
Shares available for future grant total 1,294,850 as of March 31, 2005.

Under the 2004 Purchase Plan, employees may purchase Company common stock at 85% of the lower of the market price on
the first or last day of an offering period. The maximum each employee may purchase in an offering period is $12,500 in market
value of the Company’s common stock. The Company will typically have two, six-month offering periods each year. The 2004
Purchase Plan qualifies under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

Under the Catalina Marketing Corporation Employee Payroll Deduction Stock Purchase Plan, which expired on April 19, 2004,
there were 49,293 shares issued to employees during fiscal year 2004 at a weighted average fair value of $17.65, and 92,679 shares
issued to employees during fiscal year 2003 at a weighted average fair value of $22.55.

Note 11. Stockholder Protection Plan

The Company has adopted a Stockholder Protection Plan (the “Protection Plan”). To implement this Protection Plan, the Company
declared a dividend of one Preferred Share Purchase Right on each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock. The
dividend distribution was payable to stockholders of record on May 12, 1997. The rights will be exercisable for fractions of a
share of the Company’s Series X Junior Participating Preferred Stock only if a person or group acquires 15% or more of the
Company’s common stock or announces or commences a tender offer for 15% or more of the common stock, except for certain
instances defined in the Protection Plan.
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Note 12. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company maintains a 401(k) Savings Plan, which provides benefits for substantially all employees of the Company who
meet minimum age and length-of-service requirements. Amounts charged to expense for this plan totaled $1.1 million in fiscal
year 2005, $1.0 million in fiscal year 2004 and $1.2 million in fiscal year 2003.

The Company maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation plan (the “Deferred Compensation Plan”). The Deferred
Compensation Plan is designed to permit certain employees and directors of the Company to defer a portion of their compensa-
tion. The Deferred Compensation Plan allows participants to elect deferral of certain types of compensation, including directors
fees, stock grants under the 1992 and 2002 Grant Plans and shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options, into stock units in
the Deferred Compensation Plan, each of which represents a share of the Company’s common stock, and creates the Catalina
Marketing Corporation Deferred Compensation Trust (the “Trust”). Amounts deposited in stock unit accounts are distributed
in the form of shares of the Company’s common stock upon a payment event. Through the Trust, investment options such as
mutual funds and money market funds are available to participants.

The Company follows the accounting guidance in EITF Issue No. 97-14, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements
Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a Rabbi Trust and Invested.” As such, the accounts of the rabbi trust have been included

in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company. The investment in assets other than stock units of the Company and
the related liability in the Deferred Compensation Plan are included in Investments held in trust and Accrued expenses in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively. The Company determined that all of its Deferred Compensation Plan investments
currently held in mutual funds and money market funds are trading securities and as such are reported at fair value. Realized and
unrealized holding gains and losses related to these investments, as well as the offsetting compensation expense, recognized in net
income during fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 were a $0.3 million increase to compensation expense, a $1.6 million increase
to compensation expense and a $1.2 million decrease to compensation expense, respectively. Participants’ elections to invest in
Company stock units are irrevocable. These stock units are initially recorded at fair value in the Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
and are not subsequently marked to market.

Note 13. Subsidiary Stock Option Plan

Catalina Health Resource, Inc. (“CHR”) administered the Health Resource Publishing Company 1995 Stock Option Plan (the
1995 Plan”), which was approved by the Board of Directors and stockholders of CHR.. The 1995 Plan expired on March 31, 2005.

Pursuant to the 1995 Plan, 1,250,000 shares of CHRs common stock were reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options granted
under the 1995 Plan. As of March 31, 2005, options to purchase an aggregate of 1,058,360 shares had been granted, net of cancella-
tions, options to purchase an aggregate of 1,057,860 shares had been exercised, and options to purchase an aggregate of 500 shares
were outstanding. Of the options outstanding as of fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, options to purchase 500, 44,405 and 104,158
shares, respectively, were immediately exercisable, at weighted average exercise prices of $6.53, $9.12 and $6.41, respectively.

The 1995 Plan provided for grants of ISOs to employees (including employee directors) and non-qualified options to non-employee
directors. Options granted under the 1995 Plan generally became exercisable at a rate of 25% per year or 20% per year for initial
grants to new employees, commencing one year after the date of grant. Generally, options had terms of up to six years. Certain
options under the 1995 Plan vested at a rate of 33% per year for the first two years and then vested 33% after six months, com-~
mencing one year after the date of grant. The exercise price of all ISOs granted under the 1995 Plan were at least equal to the
fair market value of the shares on the date of grant.
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Stock option activity for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

Number  Weighted Average
of Shares Exercise Prices
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2002 . . ... .. . e 412,855 $ 5.68
Option activity:
Granted . ... . — —
EXercised . . o (166,863) 3.08
Canceled or expired . .. ... . e e (67,239) 9.22
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2003 . . ... ... . 178,753 6.79
Option activity:
Granted . .. .. — —
Exercised . ... o (58,051) 4.58
Canceled or expired . . . ... .. . e (57,438) 7.29
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2004 . . ... ... . L e 63,264 8.35
Option activity:
Granted . ..o e e e e e e — —
Exercised . .. . e (43,187) 6.53
Canceled or expired . . .. .. . (19,577) 12.40
Options outstanding as of March 31, 2005 . . . .. .. L 500 6.53
Options available for future issuance as of March 31, 2005, ... ... ... i i — —

See Note 14 for information about the tender offer to purchase CHR shares.

Note 14. Subsidiary Stock Issuances

The Company accounts for gains and losses on the issuances of its subsidiaries’ stock as changes to paid-in capital. The Company’s
subsidiary, CHR, has issued stock to employees and non-employee directors during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003. Information on CHR stock issuances and the resulting change in the Company’s ownership of this subsidiary is

included in the following table. Discussion of the Company’s purchase of CHR shares in fiscal year 2003 is included in Note 3. ,

(Amounts in thousands, except per share and percentage data.)

Year Ended March 31

2005 2004 2003
Beginning ownership percentage . ... ... ... L 96.0% 96.9% 87.1%
Number of shares issued. ... ... .. L e 43 58 167
Average price per share on new sharedssues ... ... ... L L L $6.53 $4.58 $ 3.08
Total cash proceeds received from share issues .. ... ... ... . ... $ 238 $ 266 $ 514
Number of subsidiary shares purchased by the Company . .. ......... ... .. ... ... .. . — — 732
Total amount paid by the Company for the share purchases . . .. ....... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... $ — $ — $24,153
Ending ownership percentage. . .. ... ... e 95.4% 96.0% 96.9%
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On September 15, 2004, the Company notified holders of common stock and options to purchase common stock of CHR that it
was tendering an offer to purchase the shares of CHR not held by the Company. The tender offer period began on January 3, 2005
and closed on March 31, 2005. All remaining outstanding shares of CHR not held by the Company were tendered by March 31,
2005. Generally, CHR stockholders that owned their shares for a period of at least six months and one day prior to the day the
shares were purchased by the Company were eligible to tender their shares under this offer. The Company paid $12.50 per share
for 279,786 shares tendered by CHR shareholders, or $3.5 million, on April 8, 2005.

Note 15. Share Repurchase Authorization and Share Repurchases

On September 1, 2004, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized $100.0 million of funds to be available
for the repurchase of the Company’s common stock. This authorization replaced the $44.0 million unused portion of the previous
$100.0 million common stock repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors in July 2002. The Company repurchased
1.7 million shares of its common stock during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 for a total of $44.2 million. Prior to the pur-
chase of shares during the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company had not purchased shares since June 2003. Subsequent to June 2003,
the Company was precluded from stock repurchases under the terms of the Prior Facility until that facility was replaced on
August 27, 2004 with the August 2004 Credit Facility, after which time the Company was no longer restricted from repurchases
of its common stock pursuant to the terms of the August 2004 Credit Facility.

As of March 31, 2005, there was $55.8 million remaining under the September 1, 2004 authorization to repurchase shares. This
authorization will expire when the total dollar amount authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors has been expended.

Note 16. Cash Dividend

On September 1, 2004, the Company announced that the Board of Directors declared an annual cash dividend of $0.30 per share
to common stockholders of record as of September 15, 2004, which was paid to stockholders on October 1, 2004, and totaled
$15.7 million.

Note 17. Other Postretirement Benefits

In fiscal year 2002, the Company implemented a plan to provide healthcare benefits to certain eligible retirees and active employees
and their eligible dependents. The plan contains no assets, and the Company does not anticipate making contributions to the plan,
other than for current benefit payments. Benefits are funded from the Company’s assets on a current basis. Plan benefits are sub-
ject to co-payments, deductibles and other limits as defined. The Company’s funding of the cost of healthcare benefits is at the
discretion of management. A detail of the net periodic expense is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31
2005 2004 2003

SEIVICE COSE L o vttt ettt et ettt e e e e e $— $13 $ 16
INEETESt COSE . ..o ittt et e e e e 124 127 121
Amortization of unrecognized prior service Costs. .. ... ... ... — 442 663

$124 $582 $800

The amortization of unrecognized prior service costs of $0.4 million and $0.7 million recognized in 2004 and 2003, respectively,
represents the effect of the plan implementation in 2002 and the related benefits attributed to the participants’ service provided in
prior years, which were amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining years of service to full eligibility for benefits of
the active plan participants, of 2.7 years. The amortization of unrecognized prior service cost was completed in fiscal year 2004.
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The following table represents the Company’s accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and funded status for the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

Year Ended
March 31
2005 2004
Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:
Beginning of year accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. . ... ........ .. L Lo $2,032 $1,992
SEIVICE COSE . ..ttt ittt et ettt e e e e e e e e e s — 13
Inerest COSt . o oo e e 124 127
Actuarial (gain) loss . . .. . e 387 (33)
Benefits paid. . .. ... e (85) 67)
End of year accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. . .. ... ... . L L e $2,458 $2,032
Change in fair value of plan assets .. ... ... ... L . $ — $ —
Net amount recognized:
Obligation in exXcess Of PIAIL 8SSETS. . o . . ottt ettt et et e e e e e e $2,458 $2,032
Unrecognized PriOr SEIVICE COSL. . . . o\ vttt et ettt e et e e e e e e e e — —_
Unrecognized actuarial net 1oss . ... ... e e e (433) (46)
Accrued BenefIt COSt. . . . . o e e $2,025 $1,986

The impact of the MMA was a $0.2 million reduction of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for fiscal year 2005.
See “Accounting Standards Adopted in Fiscal Year 2005, FASB Staff Position No. 106-2" in Note 2.

The Company uses a December 31 measurement date. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, a weighted average discount
rate of 5.75% and annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of healthcare benefits of 12.0% was assumed. The per capita cost of
healthcare benefits rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 6.0% for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2018 and remain at that
level thereafter. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, a weighted average discount rate of 6.25% and an annual rate of increase
in the per capita cost of healthcare benefits of 12.0% was assumed, and the per capita cost of healthcare benefits rate was assumed
to decrease gradually to 5.5% for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2011 and remain at that level thereafter. For the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2003, a weighted average discount rate of 6.5% and an annual rate of increase in the per capital cost of health-
care benefits of 14.0% was assumed, and the per capita cost of healthcare benefits rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5%
for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2011 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates may have a significant effect on the amounts reported for healthcare plans. A one-percentage-
point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the following effects (in thousands):

1% Increase 1% Decrease

Effect on service and interest cost for the year ended March 31,2005, ... ... ... . ... ... § 22 $ (17
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at March 31,2005. .. .......... ... ... ... .... $375 $(307)

The gross benefits expected to be paid and gross subsidies expected to be received in each of the next five fiscal years and the
aggregate amounts for the five years thereafter as of March 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Benefit  Subsidy
2006 . . e $ 86 $—
2007 e e 99 2
2008, L e e 114 2
2000 . e 131 2
2000 . e 139 3
20012005 o e e e e 779 35
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Note 18. Segment and Geographic Disclosures

Description of Segments. See the discussion of the Company’s segments in Note 1. Summarized information related to the
reportable segments for Catalina Marketing Corporation is shown below. These segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the way management evaluates the businesses.

Segment Business Activity

Catalina Marketing Services Provides point-of-sale, printed promotions to consumers for consumer packaged goods manufacturers
and retailers.

Catalina Health Resource Provides point-of-sale, direct-to-patient communications for pharmaceutical and consumer packaged
goods manufacturers and retailers.

International Provides services similar to Catalina Marketing Services in the United Kingdom, France, Italy, Germany
and Japan.

Corporate Provides executive and administrative oversight and centralized functions such as information technology,

client services and store systems support.
Discontinued operations Includes Japan Billboard, DMS and CMRS.

Basis for Presentation. In general, results of the operating segments are reported based on U.S. GAAP and the accounting
policies are consistent with those described in Note 2. However, certain costs generated by the corporate group are allocated to
the operating segments as discussed below. Furthermore, all of the significant domestic property and equipment is recorded by
Corporate, but the associated depreciation and amortization is allocated to the domestic operating segments.

Allocation of Corporate Group Operating Expenses. The Company’s Corporate group operating expenses include costs for
procurement, retail store support, information technology, corporate accounting, client services, analytical services, marketing,
human resources, and executive management, and are included in direct operating expenses, selling, general and administrative
costs and depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. For purposes of segment reporting, these corporate costs are allocated to the Catalina Marketing
Services and Catalina Health Resource business segments using methods considered reasonable by management and which provide
management with a realistic measure of utilization of corporate services by the respective business segments. Costs that can be
directly attributed to the business unit are allocated to that business unit. Costs that are indirectly attributed to the business units
are allocated proportionately based on the business unit’s revenues, number of printed incentives, square feet of space used,
headcount or other relevant statistics, depending on the type of cost. For example, the cost to maintain the Company’s corporate
headquarters is allocated to the domestic business segments based on the estimated square footage each business unit occupies;
paper and store maintenance costs are allocated to the domestic business segments based upon the number of printed incentives;
data communications costs are allocated based upon revenues. Of the total Corporate group operating expenses, 63.8%, 66.6%
and 76.2% were allocated to operating segments during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Because general corporate overhead cannot be allocated to discontinued operations, Corporate expenses previously allocated to
the segments now classified as discontinued operations were re-allocated to Corporate.

Segment Financial Data. A disaggregation of the Company’s consolidated data for each of the three most recent years is presented
in the tables which follow (in thousands):

Revenues from External Customers Intersegment Revenues
Segments 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Catalina Marketing Services. ... ..................... $269,608 $282,126 $291,413 $ 4 8 2 $ 53
Catalina Health Resource. . . .................. ..., 76,167 77,765 63,016 —_ — —
International. . .. ... . ... ... 64,116 49,580 29,991 —_ —_— —_
409,891 409,471 384,420 4 2 33
Reconciliation of segments to consolidated amount:
COTPORALE. .« . o e e e e e e 171 (839) 71) 3,442 3,866 3,335
EIMinations. . . .. vvevee e — — — (3,446) (3,868) (3,388)
$410,062 $408,632 $383,849 $ — $ — $ —
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Revenues from a single client represented approximately 13.7%, 12.0% and 12.2% of consolidated revenues from continuing
operations of the Company for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Revenues from this client are included in Catalina
Marketing Services and International.

Interest Expense”

Segments 2005 2004 2003

Catalina Marketing Services. ... ... . . $ — $ — $ —
Catalina Health Resource. . ... ... o e — — —
International. . . .. ... .. e 3,067 2,568 1,928
COTPOIAtE . . L ottt e e 917 2,409 1,435
Elminations. . . ... oo e (2,494) (2,042) (1,514)

$ 1,490 $ 2,935 $ 1,849

(1) Interest income is not significant at any of the Company's reportable segments.

Income Taxes Provision (Benefit)

Segments 2005 2004 2003

Catalina Marketing Services. .. ... .. o e $ 50,288 $ 49,501 $ 51,629
Catalina Health Resource. . .. ... ... L i 6,368 4,951 (3,415)
International. . .. . ... e 3,725 689 202
COTPOTALE. . . oottt (18,725) (17,942) (16,708)

$ 41,656 $  37.199 $ 31,708

Net Income (Loss)

Segments 2005 2004 2003

Catalina Marketing Services. ... ... .. $ 73,879 $ 72,724 $ 75,847
Catalina Health ReSOUICE. . . . oo e e e e e e e e 9,356 7,273 (5,080)
International. . .. .. e 7,395 462 (3,242)
COTPOIALE . « o vttt ettt e e e e e e e s (22,034) (20,062) (15,961)
Income from continuing OPerations . . .. ... ... vttt e 68,596 60,397 51,564
Discontinued OPerationS. . « ..o v vttt it et e e (3,144) (78,900) 3,534
Cumulative effect of accounting change. . . ... .. ... ... ... ... . ol — (770) —

$ 65,452 g (19,273) $ 55,098

Total Assets

Segments 2005 2004 2003
Catalina Marketing Services. . ... ... .. e e $ 1,243,719 $ 1,514,933 $ 1,115,702
Catalina Health Resource. . . .. .. . . i e e 55,651 68,284 67,786
International. . . . ... ... 116,483 98,040 73,643
Reconciliation of segments to consolidated amount:

EHMINATIONS . . .« o v et e e et e (1,351,484) (2,279,816) (1,619,864)

COTPOLALE . o oot e e ittt 327,965 919,257 661,026
Total assets—CcontiNUINg OPErations . . ... oo vt vttt e it e 392,334 320,698 298,293
Total assets—discontinued operations. . . ... ... ... i e 404 66,111 124,128

$ 392,738 $ 386,809 $ 422,421
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part Il (continued)

Capital Expenditures

Segments 2005 2004 2003

Catalina Marketing Services. . .. ..ottt it e $ 52 $ 2,297 $ 1,089
Catalina Health ResOUICe. . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,133 1,011 1,666
International. . . ... e e e e e 7,175 9,864 9,256
(OF0) g T} 1 13,914 12,558 29,467
Discontinued OPerations . . .. ..ottt ettt e e 253 697 1,077

$ 22,527 $ 26,427 $ 42,555

Depreciation and Amortization

Segments 2005 2004 2003

Catalina Marketing Services. .. .. ..ottt e e e $ 26,836 $ 28,137 $ 25,926
Catalina Health Resource. . ... ... i i it e e e et et e e e e e 3,676 5,380 5,502
International. . . .. e e 7,042 6,453 3,854
COTPOTALE. . . vt e it e s 4,892 5273 5,587

$ 42,446 $ 45,243 $ 40,869

Capital expenditures for the domestic segments are generally made by Corporate. Depreciation expense is allocated to the domestic
segments from corporate.

Information about Geographic Areas
Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003

Revenues

Unted StateS .« ottt e e e e s $345,946 $359,052 $353,858

FramCe . . e e e e e e 44,289 39,206 24,544

Other International . . ... ... . .. e e 19,827 10,374 5,447

o). e e $410,062 $408,632 $383,849
Long-Lived Assets

nited States .« . . ottt e e e e e $ 77,066 $ 99,824 $123,408

BramCE .ot e 13,709 11,426 9,425

Other International . .. ... .. . . . e e s 12,561 15,593 15,910

TOtal. o o e $103,336 $126,843 $148,743

Note 19. Discontinued Operations

In November 2003, the Company announced its intent to divest Japan Billboard, DMS and CMRS, which were deemed not to
be strategically aligned with the Company’s current core businesses. These businesses were sold during fiscal year 2005. As such,
their results of operations have been reflected as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

On August 31, 2004, the Company sold the stock of Japan Billboard for 100 Japanese Yen to an employee of the Company who
was acting as the local General Manager of Japan Billboard until the date of the sale. The transaction was effective as of July 31,
2004. The loss on the disposition of Japan Billboard of $0.5 million includes a gain of $0.5 million relating to the recognition of
foreign currency translation effects previously recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment in the balance sheet.
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Discontinued operations information relating to Japan Billboard is as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003

REVETIUES .« o ottt et et e e $16,653 $ 14,718 $21,077
Operating income (lOSS) . . . . ..o ot (181) (35,286) 528
Income (loss) before INCOME taX EXPENSE « . . .t vttt vttt ettt e (233) (35,546) 242
INCOME tAX EXPENSE . o . oottt it et i e et e e e et e e e e — 1,470 125

Income (loss) fTOM OPETAtIONS. . . . . ottt e e e e (233) (37,016) 117
Loss on disposition of Japan Billboard, before income tax benefit. . . ...... ... ... .. ... ... .. ..... (508) — —
Income tax benefit . .. . ... e — —_ —

Loss on disposition of Japan Billboard. . .. ... ... . . L (508) — —
Income (loss) from Japan Billboard discontinued operations. . .. .. ... ... .. . L o $ (741 $(37,016) $ 117

On September 17, 2004, the Company sold DMS and received cash proceeds of $5.5 million. Discontinued operations information
relating to DMS is as follows (dollars in thousands):
For the Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003

ReVENUES . . . e e $10,313 $ 37,120 $50,296
Operating income (JOSS) . ... ... ot e (1,372) (29,779) 3,349
Income (loss) before income tax eXpense .. ........ ...t e (1,372) (29,775) 3,362
INCome tax eXPENSE . . ... e e 89 5 1,353

Income (loss) from OPEIAtIONS. . . . o\ . v\ttt et e et et et e e e e (1,461) (29,780) 2,009
Gain on disposition of DMS, before income tax benefit. .. ... ... .. ... ... . . i 3,291 — —
Income tax benefit . . .. ... e e — — —

Gain on disposition of DMS . . ... ... L. 3,291 — —_
Income (loss) from DMS discontinued Operations. . . . ...ttt in i $ 1,830 $(29,780) $ 2,009

The Company sold CMRS on November 29, 2004. Certain assets and liabilities of this business were not transferred to the
buyer, including a lease obligation for CMRS’ main office facility in Kentucky. The Company vacated this office facility during
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005.

Discontinued operations information relating to CMRS is as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003

RV EIIIES « . o ittt ittt e et e e e e e e e e e e % 5,120 $ 12,480 $15,487
Operating income (10SS) « . .. oottt e (4,125) (20,342) 2,374
Income (loss) before INCOME taXes . . . .. .. .ttt et e e (4,125) (20,342) 2,374
Income tax expense (benefit) . .. ... .. . e (1,547) (8,238) 966

Income (loss) from OPErations. . . . . ... .ttt it e (2,578) (12,104) 1,408
Loss on disposition of CMRS, before income tax benefit. . ... ... ... . ... ... . L i L (2,646) _ —
Income tax (benefit). . ... e (991) — —

Loss on disposition of CMRS. . ... L (1,655) — —
Income (loss) from CMRS discontinued operations . .. ............ i $ (4,233) $(12,104) $ 1,408
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part Il (continued)

Combined discontinued operations information for Japan Billboard, DMS and CMRS is as follows (dollars in thousands):
For the Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
R EVEMUES .« . .t et ettt et e e e $ 22,086 $ 64,318 $86,860
Operating income (J0SS) . . . . ..ot i (5,678) (85,407) 6,251
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income tax benefit. .. ........ ... ... ... ... ... .. (5,730) (85,663) 5,978
Income tax expense (benefit) . ... ... . s (1,458) (6,763) 2,444
Income (loss) from operations of discontinued businesses . . . .......... .. ool (4,272) (78,900) 3,534
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations, net, before income tax benefit . .................... 137 — —
Income tax (benefit) . . . ... o e e 991 — —
Gain on disposition of discontinued OPerations. . . .. ... ... . i e 1,128 — —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . .. .......... . it i $ (3,144 $(78,900) $ 3,534

Note 20. Unaudited Quarterly Results

The following table presents certain unaudited quarterly results for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
REVENUES . . o\ttt ettt e e e i $111,969 $119,560  $100,319 §101,885  $102,372 $104,322  $95,402 $82,865
Direct operating eXpenses . ... .......oeoitinraiiii . 37,446 40,676 26,200 32,479 32,015 34,292 33,788 32,954
Selling, general and administrative ... ..................... 40,660 32,377 31,365 31,676 28,517 30,034 28,823 30,769
Depreciation and amortization .............. ...l 10,086 11,739 10,202 11,168 10,604 11,074 11,554 11,262
Income from operations. . .. ... 23,777 34,768 32,552 26,562 31,236 28,922 21,237 7,880
[ncome from continuing operations ....................... 15,977 23,738 20,403 15,146 18,853 16,363 13,363 5,150
Income (loss) from discontinued operations ................. (701)  (32,514) (1,432)  (18,795) 1,426 (27,474) (2,437) (1179
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ................... — — —_ — — — — (770)
Net income (1085). « . oot $ 15276 § (8,776) $ 18,971 § (3,649) $ 20,279 $(i1,111)  §$10,926 § 4263

Earnings per share—diluted: .
Income (loss) per common share from continuing operations..  $ 030 § 0.44 $ 039 & 029 $ 036 § 032 $ 026 ¢§ 0.10

Income (loss) per share from discontinued operations. . ... ... (0.01) (0.61) (0.03) (0.36) 0.03 (0.53) (0.05) —
Loss per share for the cumulative effect of accounting change . . — — — — — — — (0.02)
Net income (loss) pershare .......... ...l 0.29 017 0.36 0.07) 0.39 0.21 0.21 0.08
Diluted weighted average commion shares outstanding. ... ... 52,180 52,264 52,720 52,255 52,311 52,221 52,245 52,569

Previously reported amounts for each of the quarters in fiscal year 2004 and for the first two quarters of fiscal year 2005 have
been adjusted to reflect the reclassification of the results of certain discontinued operations that were sold during fiscal year 2005.
See Note 19.
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Note 21. Related Party Transactions

In fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company committed to make donations totaling $0.8 million, $0.4 million and $0.4
million, respectively, to the Catalina Marketing Charitable Foundation (*“the Foundation”), a not-for-profit charitable organization
for each of these years. The board of directors of the Foundation is comprised of certain management employees of the Company.

During each of the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company made lease payments of $0.4 million to a lessor
for the use of an office building. The lessor was an affiliate of the former president of CMRS, who resigned from the Company
during 2003. The lease for this office building was terminated in fiscal year 2005, prior to its contractual expiration date in 2009.
The Company paid $1.0 million in fiscal year 2005 for the early termination of the lease.

In February 2003, the Company paid an executive officer $0.1 million in exchange for the cancellation of options to purchase
104,603 shares of common stock held by the executive officer.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures. An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Interim Chief Financial Officer (who is the Principal
Financial Officer), of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, these officers have con-
cluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at March 31, 2005.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting. During our most recent fiscal quarter, there was no change in our internal
control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting and attestation of public accounting firm. The report of manage-
ment on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and the associated attestation report of our independent
registered certified public accounting firm are set forth in Item 8.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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part |l

Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant; Executive Compensation;
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management; Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions; Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information called for by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 will be contained in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions Compensation of Executive Officers and Non—Employee Directors,
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation, Report of the Compensation Committee, Share Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management, Nomination and Election of Directors, and Audit Compensation Information and
is incorporated herein by reference. The definitive Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission on or about the time of
the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended March 31, 2005.

part IV

item 15. Exhibit, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)1. Financial Statements. The following is a list of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Page
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting . .......... ... .. ... ... .. ... ... .. ...... 44
Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm . ... . . i i i 45
Consolidated Statements of Operations, Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 .. . ... ... .0 i, 46
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and 2004, . . . . ... 47
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss),

Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 . .. .. . e e 48
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. .. ... ... .. ... . . ..., 50
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements . . .. .. ... . e e 51
(a)2. Financial Statement Schedules (EDGAR only). All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not
required or because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

(a)3. Index to Exhibits.
Exhibit No. Description of Document
*3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
**3.1.1 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1997.

**31.2 Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights setting forth the terms of the Company’s Series X Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the yvear ended March 31, 1997.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended October 25, 2002, November 3, 2003, November 21, 2003 and December 31, 2004.

**10.1 Third Amended and Restated 1989 Stock Option Plan, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1999.

**10.2 1992 Director Stock Grant Plan, as amended on July 23, 1996, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1997.

**10.3 2002 Director Stock Grant Plan, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2002.
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**10.4

**10.5

10.6
10.7
10.8

**10.9

**10.10

**10.11

**10.12
**10.13
**10.14

**10.15
21

23

311
31.2
32.1
32.2

2004 Employee Payroll Deduction Stock Purchase Plan, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to Form S-8 filed on
December 2, 2004.

Stockholder Protection Agreement dated May 8, 1997, between the Company and ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, LLC, as
rights agent, a copy of which is attached as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 8, 1997.
Catalina Marketing Corporation Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Award Plan.

Catalina Marketing Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated (November 18, 2004).

Catalina Marketing Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, Exhibit B, 2005 Sub-Plan Applicable to Compensation Deferred
or Vested After December 31, 2004.

Form of Change of Control/Severance Agreement, a copy of which is attached to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended March 31, 2003.

Employment agreement, dated March 3, 2004, between Catalina Marketing Corporation and L. Dick Buell, Chief Executive
Officer and included as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2004,

Amendment, dated October 25, 2004, to the employment agreement between Catalina Marketing Corporation and L. Dick
Buell, Chief Executive Officer, dated March 3, 2004 and included as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2004.

Employment agreement with Mr. Edward C. Kuehnle and included as an exhibit to Form 8-K filed on January 27, 2005.
Letter of offer to Mr. Rick Frier dated February 11, 2005 and included as an exhibit to Form 8-K filed on February 15, 2005.
Credit Facility Agreement with Bank One dated August 27, 2004 and included as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2004 filed on November 9, 2004.

Agreement to purchase headquarters facility in St. Petersburg, FL, included as an exhibit to Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2004.
List of subsidiaries of Company.

Consent of independent registered certified public accounting firm.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 Registration No. 33-45732, originally filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 14, 1992, and declared effective (as amended) on March 26, 1992,
** Previously filed as indicated.
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signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of St. Petersburg, State of Florida,

on June 13, 2005.

CATALINA MARKETING
CORPORATION
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Robert D. Woltil

Robert D. Woltil
Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

/s/ FREDERICK W. BEINECKE Director and Chairman of the Board June 13, 2005
Frederick W. Beinecke

/s/ L. DICK BUELL Director and Chief Executive Officer June 13, 2005

L. Dick Buell

/s/ EUGENE P. BEARD Director June 13, 2005

Eugene P. Beard

/s/ EDWARD S. (NED) DUNN Director June 13, 2005
Edward S. (Ned) Dunn

/s/ EVELYN V. FOLLIT Director June 13, 2005

Evelyn V. Follit

/s/ PETER T. TATTLE Director June 13, 2005
Peter T. Tattle

/s/ ROBERT D. WOLTIL Interim Chief Financial Officer June 13, 2005
Robert D. Woltil
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executive officers & directors

officers

L. Dick Buell
Chief Executive Officer

Debbie A. Booth
Executive Vice President, Business Support Services

Tom Buehlmann
Executive Vice President,
Catalina Marketing International

Rick P. Frier
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Edward C. Kuehnle
Executive Vice President, Catalina Marketing Corporation,
and President, Catalina Marketing Services

Cynthia J. McCloud

Executive Vice President, Rerail Services

Jay D. Parsons
Executive Vice President, U.S. Manufacturer and
Retail Services

Craig H. Scott
Executive Vice President, Catalina Marketing Corporation,
and President, Catalina Health Resource

Eric N. Williams
Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer

investor information

Corporate Offices/Investor Relations
Catalina Marketing Corporation

200 Carillon Parkway

St. Petersburg, Florida 33716
727-579-5000

www.catalinamarketing.com

Transfer Agent

Mellon Investor Services, LLC

P.O. Box 3316

South Hackensack, New Jersey 07606
800-356-2017

www.mellon-investor.com

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP
Tampa, Florida

The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive
Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed
as exhibits to our Form 10-K. We have also filed with the
New York Stock Exchange the most recent Annual CEO
Certification as required by Section 303A.12(a) of the
New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

board of directors

Frederick W. Beinecke®**
Chairman of the Board, Catalina Marketing Corporation
President, Antaeus Enterprises, Inc.

L. Dick Buell
Chief Executive Officer,
Catalina Marketing Corporation

Eugene P. Beard"*
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Westport Asset Fund, Inc.

Edward S. (Ned) Dunn Jr.'??
President, Dunn Consulting

Evelyn V. Follit'*
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
(retired), RadioShack Corporation

Peter T. Tattle*?
Group Chairman (retired),
Johnson & Johnson

Board Committees

1. Audit

2. Compensation

3. Nominating and Corporate Governance
4. Finance

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held at
Catalina Marketing Corporation, St. Petersburg, Florida
on August 9, 2005.

As of March 31, 2005, there were approximately 760
registered holders of the company’s common stock.

Stock Price Information

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
the high and low closing prices for the company’s com-
mon stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange.

Year ended March 31, 2003 High Low

First Quarter $19.87 $16.43
Second Quarter $23.88 $17.36
Third Quarter $30.52  $23.48
Fourth Quarter $28.70  $23.13
Year ended March 31, 2004 High Low

First Quarter $19.49 $15.51
Second Quarter $17.53 $12.58
Third Quarter $20.99 $15.20
Fourth Quarter $21.11  $17.12




